

End User Guide

Compatible with all Versions of Foxpro 2.x, VFP, SQL Server, Sybase, and $$\Delta_{\rm CCOSS}$$

Version 6.0

ENTIRE CONTENTS COPYRIGHT© 1993-2001 MICROMEGA SYSTEMS, INC.



MICROMEGA SYSTEMS, INC. 2 Fifer Avenue, Suite 120 Corte Madera, California 94925 Phone (800) 453-6655 Intl (415) 945-3333

Foxfire! is a registered trademark of Micromega Systems,

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foxfire! Report Writer is the result of thousands of hours of invaluable contributions over a twelve year period by these individuals, and other too numerous to mention:

The late Carl E. Henderson, whose work spawned Account Manager the great-grandmother of Foxfire!

David Coyle, who named it.

Alan Schwartz, Andy Neil, Barry Chertov, Don Robins, Dale Kiefling, Steven Black, Jim Booth, Whil Hentzen, Paul Russell, Andrew Ross MacNeill, Jacob Bruner, Mike Feltman, David Tansey, Alan Griver, Mary Hintermeier, Chris Probst, Karen Higgins, Mac Rubel, Ceil Silver and many others who contributed effort or ideas to make it great.

Joanne Probst for making this guide intelligible in print;

Missy Philips whose graphic talents are a delight to the eye.

Karyn Woodsum for providing world-class customer service and administrative/financial support **Bill Wood**, whose architectural vision for the future kept *Foxfire!* alive and healthy when others said forget it.

Chick Bornheim, who saw its potential and opened the space for it to become a reality, but still doesn't know how to install it.

And to the following people and organizations for their noteworthy software contributions:

Steven Black's INTL Toolkit

© Steven Black Consulting; email: steveb@stevenblack.com

GENREPOX report generator (public domain) © Markus Egger; EPS Software email: max@eps-software.com

"Dixon Mono Thin" – font for "Ledger" style reports, with permission: © 1993 Page Technology Mktg, Inc.: 858-794-6884 Bob Pooley, email: info@pcltools.com

We appreciate all your efforts toward making *Foxfire!* the best it can be. **Copyright Notice and Restriction on Duplication**

© 2000, by Micromega Systems, Inc., All Rights Reserved.

The Foxfire! Software and related materials are protected by U.S. and International Copyright Laws, and are licensed to you under the terms of a Foxfire! License included with your software. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form without prior written permission of Micromega Systems, Inc. No part of the Foxfire! Technology may be reproduced, except as provided in the license accompanying the Foxfire! software.

Trademark Acknowledement

Foxfire! is a registered trademark of Micromega Systems, Inc. All other trademarks or registered trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

FOR MORE INFORMATION about Micromega's licensing policies, please call Micromega's Foxfire! Customer Service at (415) 945-3333, Fax (415) 945-3301, email <u>sales@micromegasystems.com</u> or write: Foxfire! Customer Service, c/o Micromega Systems, Inc., 2 Fifer Ave., Suite 120, Corte Madera, CA 94925.

Contents

Chapter 1	About This Manual 1-1	
What is <i>F</i>	oxfire!	
Which Ki	nd of <i>Foxfire</i> ! User Are You?	
How the N	Ianual is Organized	
Conventio	ns Used in the Manual	
Moving A	round <i>Foxfire!</i>	
≻ Navig	ating with a Mouse	1-4
Navig	ating with a Keyboard	1-5
Screen Co	ntrols: What They Are and How to Use Them	
> To scr	oll using the mouse	1-8
➤ To scr	oll using the keyboard	I-9
\sim To cho	Dose an item from any of these using the mouse:	1-10
Chanton 2	Databases and Econémal	110
Chapter 2	Dalabases and Foxjire!	2-1
What is a	Database?	
Foxfire! _		
The Samp	le Database	
The Datab	base — Tables, Records, and Fields	
Relations	Tie Database Tables Together	
Knowing	Your Database Makes Reporting Easier and Smarter	
E-R Diagr	am for the Sample Database	
≻ To dis	play the sample E-R diagram in <i>Foxfire!</i>	2-4
Multiple F	Relationships Between the Same Two Tables	
≻ To see	how these relationships appear in <i>Foxfire!</i>	2-5
Inner and	Outer Joins	
Keep In M	lind	
Chapter 3	Tutorial: Learning Foxfire!	3-1
Basic Tuto	orial	
Request C	omponents	
Foxfire!'s	Organization	
Starting F	'oxfire!	
> To sta	rt Foxfire!	3-8
Selecting t	he Sample Preference Set	
≻ To sel	ect the sample Preference Set	3-9
Request fo	or the Sample Report	
Sample In	ventory Report	
> To run	the Request for the sample report	3-11

> To view the parts of a Request	3-12
Relationship Between Requests and Results	
Creating a Detail Request	
➢ To create a new Request	3-17
Specifying Data Items	
➤ To choose the data items	3-18
Creating a Filter	
➤ To create the filter condition	3-19
Specifying Sort/Group Criteria	
To specify sorting and grouping	3-23
Specify Output Type	
➤ To specify an output type format	3-24
Other Request Editor Buttons	
➢ To preview the Inventory on Hand report	3-27
Creating a New Version of a Request	
➢ To rename your Request	3-28
To add a filter condition	3-30
To preview your modified Request	3-31
Creating Label Request	
To create a label Request	3-33
To add multiple data items to a single line in the label	3-36
ntermediate Tutorial	
Creating A Summary Request	
To create the summary Request	3-39
To specify summary data items	3-40
Creating a Cross-Tab Request	
To create a cross-tab Request	3-42
What to Report on: Rows and Columns	
To specify data items for a cross-tab Request	3-43
Sort Order Options	3-44
Summarizing the values Filtering data for Cross Tab Paquests	3-43
Output Type Previewing and Saving	
 Output Type, Howing, and Saving Other Cross Tab Options 	
Treating a Request with an Outer Join	
> To create a request with an outer join	3-48
imiting a Dequast to the Ten N Values	
> To limit a request to the Top N Values	3-57
Denout Output Tymes	5-52
keport Output Types	
Advanced Tutorial	
To create an Ask at Runtime filter	3-59
Changing a Layout Style	
To change a Request's layout style	3-60
Other Layout Options	
-	

Directing Output to a File	
> To direct a Request's output to a table	3-65
Directing Output to a Graph	
> To direct a Request's output to an Excel chart	3-66
Directing Output to a Pivot Table	
> To direct a Request's output to a pivot table	3-68
➤ To change the layout of the sample pivot table	3-70
Restoring Your Preference Set Setting	<u>.</u>
hapter 4 Using Foxfire!	4-2
Getting Help	
On-line Help Messages	4-2
Context Sensitive Help	4-2
Help Button	4-3
About Foxfire! Report Writer	4-3
Request Manager	
> To run a Request	4-6
To preview a Request	4-6
To create a Request	4-6
To edit a Request	4-7
To delete a Request	4-7
	4-(
Comments	A \$
► 10 view of edit Request Comments	4-∂
Request Types	
Layout Styles	
Request Editor	
Command Buttons in the Request Editor	
➤ Save As	4-12
Choosing Data Items	
> Changing the Selected Items and their Order	4-14
Data Item Hide Option	4-14
Filtering Requests	
Filter Builder Command Buttons	4-16
➤ To choose the filter condition's data item	4-17
➤ To choose the Is (Not) operator	4-18
To choose a relationship for the filter condition	4-19
➤ To specify the filter condition value	4-20
Ask at Runtime Options	
Specifying Ask at Runtime Options for a Request	4-25
Using Ask at Runtime Dialogs at Runtime	·
Special Filter Options	
Filtering Tips	
Building Filter Conditions	
➢ Using Connectors	4-34

> To insert OR connector	4-35
Using "In the List" Relationship	4-36
OR Connectors With More Than Two Filter Conditions	4-37
Using the Parenthesis to Change Order of Evaluation	4-38
Sorting and Grouning Requests	4
> To choose data items for sorting	4-43
 To remove data items for sorting 	4-43
To change the sort order (precedence)	4-44
 To specify ascending/descending order 	4-44
~	
Group Breaks	4
> To create a group break	4-45
> To cancel a group break	4-45
> Creating a Derivative Request by Varying the Sort Order	4-46
Working with Group Options	4
> Adding a calculation to a group break	4-49
> To remove a summary calculation	4-50
Group Formatting Options	4 <i>F</i> 1
I to add a formatting option to a group break	4-51
ro remove a formatting option	4-51
Specifying Output Options	4
Remove Output Tumog	
keport Output Types	
Other Output Types and Formats	
Working With MS Office	4-58
Lavout	,
► To shoose a different levent style	
I avout Ontions	4-01
Layout Options Layout Customization	4-63
Cutput Destinations	4-6/
 Special Processing Options 	4-66
Preview	4
Tips for Customized Report Lavouts	4
Editing Requests that Generate Customized Reports	4 71
To modify a Request which has minor custom layout changes	4-71
To modify a Request which has extensive custom layout changes	4-72
Creating A Summary Request	
Specifying Summary Data Items	4-73
➢ Group Filters (HAVING Clause)	4-74
Cross tab Daguasts Creating a Cross Tab Daguast	
Cross tab Requests Creating a Cross-1ab Request	4 76
	4-70
Label Request	
> To create a label Request	4-79
Filing Dequest in the Persuent Monagor	
Timing Acquests in the Request Manager	4 00
To create a new request Manager Folder	4-82
Kenaming a Request Manager folder	4-83
► Deteting a Request Manager Tolder	4-83
Exporting a Request and Data Items	

> To export a Request, Data Items, and Custom Report Layout	4-83
Importing a Request and Data Items	
Importing a Request, Data Items, and Custom Report Layout	4-84
The Foxfire! Menus	
Choosing a Preference Set	
System Administration Utilities	
The Batch Builder	
➤ To create a batch	4-92
To edit a batch	4-92
To run a batch To edit a Request while in the Batch Builder	4-93 4-93
Forfire/ Fit to Page	ŦŸĴ
The state of the s	5_1
Chapter 5 Customizing Report Layouis	
Copying a Request To copy a Portuat	5.0
ro copy a request	5-2
Steps For Customizing a Layout	
To start the Layout Editor from within <i>Foxfire</i> ! To Save The Customized Layout	5-2 5 /
Making Changes often Customization	J- +
Levent Editor Eastures and Terminology	
Layout Eutor Features and Terminology	
Customizing The Layout	5.0
To adjust the height of an object	5-9
To adjust the height of an object	5-9
Moving Objects	
> To move a single object	5-10
To move a group of objects	5-10
Changing the Appearance of an Object	
To format a data item or text object	5-10
To change an object's width	5-11
Adding Objects	
➤ To add text	5-12
> To add a line	5-12
> 10 add a rectangle	5-12
Creating Custom Totals and Calculations	
Chapter 6 Xbase Fundamentals	6-1
Creating Expressions	
Chapter 7 Indexing and Rushmore	7-1
Indexing Explained	
Rushmore Optimization Explained	
Rushmore Can Be Accidentally Cancelled	

This chapter provides an orientation to *Foxfire!* and an introduction to the terminology used throughout this manual.

What is *Foxfire*!

Foxfire! is a query and report writing tool that enables you to extract information from your databases and format it into a variety of outputs including reports, spreadsheets, graphs, labels, and others.

Foxfire! can be adapted to a particular database by storing information about the database in a data dictionary. That way, a *Foxfire!* user does not have to specify technical details repeatedly or learn programming skills to create complex queries and reports.

A modest investment of time and effort in learning *Foxfire*!'s capabilities and features will be well rewarded with the power and flexibility *Foxfire*! provides for obtaining information and answers from your database.

Which Kind of Foxfire! User Are You?

This manual is intended for several types of *Foxfire!* users. Once you have identified which type you are, follow the suggested work plan by reading the recommended chapters.

Practical User/End User

You may or may not have extensive knowledge of database principles and procedures, but you use one to store, track, and analyze information. *Foxfire!* is designed for you first and foremost.

Work Plan:

Chapter 1 "About This Manual"

Chapter 2	"Understanding the Sample Database"
Chapter 3	"Tutorial: Learning Foxfire!"
	(Basic and Intermediate exercises)
Chapter 4	"Using Foxfire!"
	(At first, just scan the content and read more closely when you see particular areas of interest. This chapter contains a complete description of all of <i>Foxfire!</i> 's features and functions. You can always go back later to find out how a specific feature works.)
Chapter 5	"Customizing Report Layouts"
	(Refer to Chapter 5 when you want to make cosmetic adjustments to <i>Foxfire!</i> reports.)

Power User

You may not be a programmer, but you know FoxPro well enough to type commands in the command window and use the built-in FoxPro menus. You use *Foxfire!* to simplify reporting and to speed up the process of querying the databases of the FoxPro applications you work with.

Work plan:

Chapter 2	"Understanding the Sample Database"
Chapter 3	"Tutorial: Learning <i>Foxfire!</i> " (including the Advanced exercises)
Chapter 4	"Using <i>Foxfire!</i> " (Survey the full functionality of the product – find out what it can do for your particular application requirements.)
Chapter 5	"Customizing Report Layouts"

(Refer to this chapter when you want to make cosmetic adjustments to *Foxfire!* reports).

Chapter 6	"Xbase Fundamentals"
	(Refer to Chapter 6 when you want to build expressions for data items or filter values)
Chapter 7	"Indexing and rushmore"
	(Refer to Chapter 7 to understand more about how you can improve the query speed of your Requests through Rushmore indexing.)

Refer to chapter 1 for information on basic concepts if necessary.

How the Manual is Organized

This user guide is organized into these main topics:

- ✓ Sample Data Base
- ✓ Tutorial
- ✓ User Reference
- ✓ Appendices

Conventions Used in the Manual

The following sections explain the user interface and typographic conventions used or referred to in this manual.

Instruction to Press a Key

Whenever you're asked to press a key, the instructions look like this:

Press Enter to continue

Section Names

In references to a section elsewhere in the manual, the section name appears within quotation marks along with a page reference. For example: "Screen Controls: What They Are and How to Use Them" on page 8.

Important Notes

Notes and **Warnings** appear throughout the text to alert you especially important information or instructions.

For example:

Warning: Deleting a Request means permanently discarding the Request. Once deleted, it cannot be recalled. Before deleting a Request, make sure no one will need the Request any longer.

Xbase Commands

Xbase commands that you type appear in Courier New font:

CARS.STOCKNO=EXPENSES.STOCKNO

Files and Tables

Throughout this book and occasionally in on-screen text, you will see references to the terms *files, tables, database files*, or *DBF files*. When referred to as part of an application database, these terms mean essentially the same thing and are interchangeable.

Moving Around Foxfire!

This section explains how to navigate in *Foxfire!* using a mouse or a keyboard.

≻Navigating with a Mouse

Moving Around the Screen

When the mouse is moved, the mouse pointer (which appears on screen) moves in the corresponding direction and distance. The mouse pointer can select which window area or screen control is currently "in focus" (in other words, it highlights that particular item. In this guide, the term *highlight* means positioning the mouse pointer on that item).

Making Choices

You indicate a choice by highlighting your selection with the mouse and taking any of these actions:

✓ Click

To "Click", highlight your selection. Then press and release the primary mouse button quickly one time (on most mice, the left button is the primary mouse button.)

✓ Double Click

Essentially the same steps as "click", except that you press and release the primary mouse button twice in rapid succession.

✓ Drag

To "drag the mouse", press down the primary mouse button and hold it down as you move the mouse in the appropriate direction. When you reach the destination, release the mouse button.

► Navigating with a Keyboard

Working without a mouse has become rare because mice are now standard equipment with new computers. In many cases however, keeping both hands on a keyboard can speed your progress. For this reason, we recommend you study this section to learn about some options for quicker data entry.

Moving Around the Screen

Pressing the TAB key moves the cursor to the next item or screen control. To move to a more specific location, press TAB as many times a needed (another way of highlighting).

Note: In a Windows application, a data item changes color when it is highlighted. A button is surrounded by a border.

Making Choices

You can indicate a choice in several ways, depending on the type of items being offered:

✓ Data Entry Fields

Highlight the desired field and press ENTER.

✓ Lists

Highlight the desired item by pressing the arrow, PGUP, PGDN, HOME, and END keys. Then press SPACE twice in rapid succession.

✓ Buttons

Highlight the desired button, then press ENTER.

Keyboard Shortcuts

Pressing a combination of keys can quickly specify most menu and button choices. These are called keyboard shortcuts because with a single action, they highlight and choose the option (menu choices can be made without displaying the menu). The specific key combinations are indicated on the menus or hinted in the buttons themselves with an underlined character.

To use keyboard shortcuts to choose an option from the:

- ✓ System menu press ALT and the key corresponding to the underlined (or different-colored) letter that appears in the text of the choice.
- ✓ Pull Down menu press the key combination listed to the right of the option:



The keyboard shortcut is the CTRL key plus the indicated letter.

✓ Button – press ALT and the key corresponding to the underlined letter in the text of the button:



After working with *Foxfire!* a while, the keyboard shortcuts can be easily memorized to save you considerable time even when you use a mouse.

Screen Controls: What They Are and How to Use Them

The following sections explain the various kinds of screen controls that you use to communicate with *Foxfire*!.

ars Stock Number 7 Ars Nake 13
ars Nake 13
ars Nutleil 15
ars Nileage &
ars Color 11
ars transmission 13
Characters Sciented 23

Figure 1-1 A Foxfire! Window

Windows and Dialogs

Foxfire! communicates using two types of visual displays, *windows* and *dialogs*. Both ask the user to enter information or make a choice, but there is one primary difference. The dialog interrupts the current process and allows no further action until its question or subject matter has been satisfactorily addressed, while a window allows the user to open other windows and dialogs and complete other processes.

A simple dialog may ask you to choose OK or Cancel or to answer Yes or No. Windows may include fill-in fields, buttons, check boxes, option buttons, drop-down lists, and other kinds of screen controls.

Descriptions of the various screen controls follow.

Buttons

Choosing a button begins a process (for example, choosing a button may open or close a window or dialog). The button's face contains text that suggests what will happen when the button is chosen. Whenever the text of a button is followed by ellipses (...), a second window opens when the button is chosen.



Figure 1-2 Buttons

To choose a button using a mouse, click on the face of the button.

To choose a button using a keyboard use the TAB key to highlight the desired button and press ENTER. A button is highlighted when a border surrounds it. Each press of the TAB key moves the border from one screen control to the next.

Scroll Bars

When there is more text or data items than can be displayed in an area, a scroll bar may appear at the bottom or right side of the area. Scroll bars permit you to see beyond the apparent boundaries of the area through an action called *scrolling* (thus the term "scroll bar").



Figure 1-3 Scroll Bar

Available and Selected lists are the most common location for scroll bars in *Foxfire!* For example, the Selected list shown in **Error! Reference source not found.** has a scroll bar at the right because the actual list contains more elements than can be displayed in the viewing area. By scrolling, the hidden elements can be viewed.

≻To scroll using the mouse

One line scrolling – click once on the arrow pointing in the direction you want to scroll. Repeat each time you want to scroll another line.

Continuous scrolling – move the cursor over the square in the scroll bar (sometimes called the *thumb*) and drag it in the direction you want to scroll.

≻To scroll using the keyboard

Use the up or down arrow to scroll one line, PGUP or PGDN to scroll by one full window of data, or HOME or END to scroll to the top or bottom of the list.

Lists

à 🗋 🔛 🗄				
tvieux Nexo Fili D-	lee [b t Di tmar	A Rec Tree	EE Views
ets Roof'				
Description.	Output	Турн	Hse	Dale
Average aroft of makes from 19921.	Rat	CROSS-TAB	SYSTEM	06/23/200
Cars Solo To Dealers	Rat	SUMMARY	SYSTEM	06:23(200)
Inventory on hard	Rot	DETAIL	SYSTEM	00/22/200
Ever ple of 'tiller only' data iten		DETAIL	SYSTEM	12:017:999
Largest expense for each car	Rot	DETAIL	SYSTEM	12,01 / 000
Maing Labels for Dealers	Lau	LABELS	SYSTEM	12:017:99
Jons tour cifteren: tades		DETAIL	SYSTEM	12/01/100
Latels for Dealers We Purchased Fr	Lao	LABELS	SYSTEM	06:23/200
Profit analysis ky dealer		DETAIL	SYSTEM	02/24/200
Coadii⊢ra k (profit)	R:d	DETAIL	SYSTEM	12:01/1996
Nowes: footures of Asland-Runting		DETAIL	SYSTEM	01,111(200)
I veducy Or Hand	R:d	DETAIL	SYSTEM	06/26/2010
AUDI's and BMA's	Rot	DETAIL	SYSTEM	06.26/200
AUDIS and BMA's	R:d	DETAIL	SYSTEM	08:27/200
Red Cars On Hand	Rot	DETAIL	SYSTEM	06.23/200
Deal-ria divity summary	R:d	SLIDIMARY	SYSTEM	02:24/201
Word wrap for onglect/memo	Rot	DETAIL	SYSTEM	12,014 90
Gries profity perso dono h	P-4	CROSS T/B	OVOTEU.	0.1112000
	sta Kool Description Avanage and to include from 19921 Cerrs Sold To Deserve Involtory on hand Everypte of filter only data i.en Larged payence for deach con- Waiting Labels for Deserve Jons tour of Honorit backes Latersh for Deserve We Pourceved Fr. Profit analyses by deach Charling has been by de	sta Koot Output Description Output Avorage profit of indice from 1992 f. Rot Cerrs Sold To Descere Rot Everyption of the makes from 1992 f. Rot Everyption of the constraint of the makes Rot Maining Labels for Desters Large Profit condets two Powerseved Fill Large Profit condets two doaler Rot Stratifier as it (putf) Rot Network foctures of Asthedi-Powerine Rot AUDIts and BMA's Rot AUDIts and BMA's Rot AUDIts and BMA's Rot Dester a dividy sourcery Rot Dester a dividy sourcery Rot Dester a dividy sourcery Rot Or exercery for many for many for the constraint Rot	State Reoff Output Type Average croft of males from 10021. Rot CPCOSE TAB Average croft of males from 10021. Rot CPCOSE TAB Cerns Sold To Dealers Rot CPCOSE TAB Everapte of "filter only than item Rot DETAIL Everapte of "filter only than item Rot DETAIL Everapte of "filter only than item Rot DETAIL Larged sepense for loadh cor Rot DETAIL Valing Labels for Dealers Larged Labels DETAIL Jons tour of forent backes Rot DETAIL Earliefs for Dealers We Parcheved Fill Larged Earliefs LABELS Profit analyses by doaler Rot DETAIL Creatifier ark (gruff) Rot DETAIL Netwest footunes of Abbiot-Purcine Rot DETAIL Netwest footunes of Abbiot-Purcine Rot DETAIL Veedury Or march Rot DETAIL Netwest footunes Rot DETAIL Veedury Or march Rot DETAIL Levedury Or march	State Reof Output Output Type Hase Average control of noise from 19921. Ref. CPOSE-TAB SYSTEM Cerrs Sold To Deserve Rot SUMMARY SYSTEM Cerrs Sold To Deserve Rot SUMMARY SYSTEM Everypte of "liter only data i.en Rot DETAIL SYSTEM Everypte of "liter only data i.en Rot DETAIL SYSTEM Larged begins for oach con Rot DETAIL SYSTEM Jons tour offerent backers Lav L4BBLS SYSTEM Jons tour offerent backers Rot DETAIL SYSTEM Jons tour offerent backers Rot DETAIL SYSTEM Jons tour offerent backers Rot DETAIL SYSTEM Lateb for Desters We Purchserd Fin Lav L4BBLS SYSTEM Autority on Hand Rot DETAIL SYSTEM Autority on Hand Rot DETAIL SYSTEM Netword foctures of Ashed-Runnine Rot DETAIL SYSTEM AUDIS and BMA's

Lists are used to display items that can be selected.

Figure 1-4 Simple List

Foxfire! uses three kinds of lists.

- ✓ Simple List
- ✓ Drop-down list (For more information, see "Drop-down Lists" on page 1-10)
- ✓ Dual lists (side-by-side lists). (For more information, see "Dual Lists" on page 1-11).

≻To choose an item from any of these using the mouse:

- 1. Scroll through the list until the item you want is highlighted.
- 2. Double click on the item selected.

≻To choose an item using the keyboard:

- 1. Use the PGUP, PGDN, and arrow keys to highlight the item you want.
- 2. Press SPACE twice in quick succession.

Available lists are displayed alphabetically. When searching for a specific item, pressing the first letter of that item highlights the first item that contains that letter. For example, to go to "Sales Activity", press the letter S to jump to the first "S" item in the list and then use the arrow keys to highlight the correct item.

Drop-down Lists: A drop-down list initially appears as a single line with an item already displayed and a down arrow at the far right.



Figure 1-5 Drop-down List

Drop-down lists are used when there is only space to show one of several options or where only one of several possible choices is permitted.

To display the complete list:

- 1. Click on the down arrow:
- 2. Highlight your choice and click.

Dual Lists: In *Foxfire!*, the Available and Selected lists appear side by side so you can see which data items are available and which are selected.

		Belea	ea		
rs Age at Sale		1	Gars	Stock Number	
rs Comment	31		Cars	Nake	13
vs Date Of Sale	2			NERT	
rs Date Pald	9		vars	Nodel	1.3
rs Date Purchased	9		Cars	Niloago	8
PS Days in Inventory	10		Cars	Color	
PS LICONSO MUMBOR			Cara	Trappoirging	11
es Buechased Even ID	5		vara		
es Badio			Cars	Purohase Pride	11
rs Sale Price	- 11 I				
rs Salesmans Id	4				
rs Sold To Dealer Id	5	8			
		He	log	Characters Selecte	d 73

Figure 1-6 Dual Lists

When you select an item from one list, *Foxfire!* automatically moves it to the other.

Note: You can change the order of data items in the **Selected** list by dragging them to new positions. This is explained in "Movable List Items" below.

Movable List Items

In some lists, you see a series of small buttons to the left of the list items. This indicates that you can change the order of the list by dragging the items to new position.



Figure 1-7 Movable List Items

To reorder items using the mouse:

- 1. Highlight the item you want to move. A highlighted item has a button marked with a double-headed arrow.
- 2. Drag the double-headed arrow.
- 3. Release the mouse button.

To move an item using the keyboard press CTRL along with the up or down arrow to move the highlighted item to the desired location.

Option Buttons

Option buttons are displayed when there are only a few choices and only one choice is permitted. A dot appears in the selected option button.



Figure 1-8 Option Buttons

To choose an option button using the keyboard:

- 1. Press TAB repeatedly until you have highlighted the option button you want to choose.
- 2. Press SPACE.

Check Boxes

Check boxes allow you to enable or disable a feature. To choose a feature, *click* its check box so an "X" appears. To cancel the feature, *click* the check box so that it becomes empty (the "X" disappears).

When a window displays several features in a group with check boxes, each feature is independent of the others and may be selected separately.



Figure 1-9 Checkboxes

To choose or cancel a check box using the mouse, click on the check box.

To choose or cancel a check box using the keyboard:

- 1. Press TAB repeatedly until you reach the check box you want to select.
- 2. Press SPACE.



Figure 1-10 Menus in *Foxfire!*

Menus

The System Menu

The System menu runs horizontally across the top of the screen (see Figure 1-10).

The *Foxfire*! Pulldown Menu

The Foxfire! pulldown menu (see Figure 1-10) provides:

- Options for frequently performed activities
- Reference to keyboard shortcuts for common tasks
- Options for advanced users and developers
- Features for viewing the current Request

Each menu option can be opened by clicking on the menu pad containing the pulldown that you want to access. Alternatively, you can press Alt + the <u>underlined</u> letter found on each menu pad.

If the menu does not appear on your desktop, simply press the ALT or F10 key.

Note that whenever the text of a menu option is followed by ellipsis (...), it indicates that a window opens when that item is chosen. You can then choose several options from that window to continue with your originally chosen option.

For example:

Selecting the Run... menu option from the File menu, runs the request (possibly opening a dialog box containing ask-at-runtime prompts).

This chapter provides a brief introduction to basic database concepts and explains the sample database used in the *Foxfire!* tutorial. For a more indepth discussion of database concepts, see "Indexing and Rushmore" in Chapter 7 and "Getting Started in FoxPro" in the FoxPro software documentation.

You may want to refer back to this chapter as you work through the tutorial.

What is a Database?

A database is a collection of descriptions or measurements of real world things or events. These descriptions or measurements are called data. A database management system (DBMS) is a computer program that allows you to collect, store and manipulate data in different ways to achieve a specific purpose.

Relational database management systems (RDBMS) allow you to track relationships between different kinds of data. By accommodating different data types and relationships, a RDBMS allows you to build a computer model of things or events. You can then manipulate this model to better understand or control the real world things or events it describes.

The steps involved in working with a database to collect data and extract information are typically repeated in a cycle. As new events occur, their descriptions or measurements are captured in the database and the cycle is repeated. The new events enable you to see the effects of the changes you have made.

Foxfire!

Foxfire! is an ad hoc query and report generator written using FoxPro's programming language. It streamlines the query and report process and eliminates many of the repetitive steps. It also "remembers" details about your specific database by storing them in its data dictionary. That way, it can provide the precise result you're after without you having to repeatedly specify details or learn complicated "nearly-programming" procedures. The basic customizing procedures are straightforward and can be mastered quickly.

The Sample Database

The sample database is for an application for a car brokerage. The car broker buys cars from several sources: private individuals, dealers, auctions, and so on. The broker repairs and refurbishes the cars as necessary and then resells them for profit. From time to time, the supplier and customer may be the same person or agency.

In preparing cars for resale, the broker may spend money on repairs, tires, upholstery, painting, detailing, and so on. Any expenses incurred by the broker must be added to the original purchase price to determine actual profit upon resale of the car. Additionally, whenever a car is sold, the broker needs to know who the salesperson was in order to track sales and profits for each salesperson.

The Database — Tables, Records, and Fields

A database is a collection of data, descriptions and measurements about the things (entities) involved in an activity that is being studied or managed. In the car brokerage, the entities involved are cars, expenses, salespeople, and dealers. The sample database, contains four corresponding tables (also known as files):

- ✓ Cars
- ✓ Expenses
- ✓ Salesman
- ✓ Dealers

Each table contains records, with one record describing each specific entity. For example, each car would have its own record in the Cars table.

A record contains one or more data items. This is detailed information specific to that entity. In a car record, for example, Make and Year are two data items that describe each car.

Relations Tie Database Tables Together

Good database design requires that data which directly describes a specific entity should be assigned its own table and each table should have indexes created for the data items most commonly used for retrieval.

For example, all car data is stored in the Cars table.

To make the most effective use of a database, reports may incorporate data from multiple tables. For example, a report that shows the make and model of all cars sold by a specific salesperson must use data from the Cars table as well as the Salesman table. Likewise, a report that shows all expenses incurred for cars sold in a specific month must use data from the Cars table and the Expenses table.

To produce reports using data from multiple tables, the tables can be related (joined) to one another. Once specific relationships are defined in *Foxfire!*'s data dictionary, *Foxfire!* automatically joins the appropriate tables when data items from two or more tables are included in the same Request. If *Foxfire!* has already been customized for you, then the relationships are probably defined already as part of that process.

Knowing Your Database Makes Reporting Easier and Smarter

The way to gain the most benefit from *Foxfire!* is to have a good understanding of your database: what information is in it and how that information is related.

To understand how tables are related in a database, review Entity-Relationship diagram (E-R diagram) for the sample database shown in Figure 2-1. An E-R diagram shows all the tables in the database and the relationships between them. It can be a helpful exercise to consider the E-R diagram for your own database tables, or draw one if needed.

E-R Diagram for the Sample Database

The E-R diagram for the sample database appears in Figure 2-1. It shows the four tables and the relationship between them. A line indicates each relationship with one or two arrowheads at each end. A single arrowhead indicates one record in the table; a double arrowhead indicates many (one or more) records in the table.

In the E-R diagram for the sample database, the relationship lines indicate that many Cars are sold by one Salesman, and one Car can incur many expenses.



Figure 2-1

>To display the sample E-R diagram in *Foxfire*!

You can view the E-R diagram shown in Figure 2-1 while running *Foxfire!*. First open the Request Manager. From the *Foxfire!* pulldown menu, choose About *Foxfire!* and then choose Demo File Relationship Diagram or press F7 at any time while in *Foxfire!*.

Multiple Relationships Between the Same Two Tables

In more complex situations, you may have two tables with multiple relationships between them. In the sample database, **Cars** and **Dealers** actually require two relations: cars purchased from dealers and cars sold to dealers.

To understand how this might occur, consider the way the broker thinks about a dealer. For any car, a dealer can either be the seller (if the broker purchases the car form that dealer), the buyer (if the broker sells the refurbished cars to the dealer), or both.

Now suppose the broker wants a report showing from whom each car was purchased and to whom it was sold. The query for such a report would have to access data from two different dealer records, for each car record (let's call them the "Purchased From" dealer and the "Sold To" dealer). Each car record has to be related to two dealer records at the same time (and each relationship would require a separate relationship expression with a different identifying item in the **Dealers** table). *Foxfire!* employs a clever trick to simplify reporting when there are multiple relationships between two tables – each table can be given multiple alias names (one per relationship), and each alias is treated like a physically separate table. The result? A single physical table with two aliases can be related to a another table by two different relationships. So when the broker runs his query, *Foxfire!* can join each car record to two different dealer records.

>To see how these relationships appear in *Foxfire*!

Open the Data Items Selector to see how data items from both the Purchased From Dealer relationship and the Sold To Dealer relationship appear in the Available list as though they came from two physically separate tables/files. Creating a report that shows the names of both dealers associated with each car is a simple matter of choosing the Purchase From Dealer Name and Sold to Dealer Name data items. *Foxfire!* knows how to set up the relationships using the two tables and the three aliases.

Inner and Outer Joins

When two tables are joined (related) during a query, there is usually at least one record in the second table that matches each record in the first. This situation is called an *inner join*. When using an *inner join* you will only retrieve records that can be found in both tables.

But occasionally there is no matching record in the second file or vice versa, and that situation is called an *outer join*. Depending on the nature of the application and the data structures, an outer join may be a legitimate situation or an error condition that requires attention and possibly correction of the data.

Here are two examples from the sample database to explain the difference between report which include both inner- and outer-join conditions:

1. A car (a record in the **Cars** table) may have associated repair costs (i.e. individual records in the **Expenses** table) or it may have no repair costs (i.e. no records in the **Expenses** table).

In an outer join report, a car with no associated expenses would appear as a row in the resulting report and would have empty spaces in the expense column(s).

In an inner join report, that same car would not appear at all (because it would not be selected during the query because only records with both **Cars** and **Expenses** records are included on the report). 2. In the reverse situation, an expense record with no associated car record would appear as a row with no corresponding vehicle information in an outer join report, but would be absent altogether in an inner join report.

Using an outer join in this case would produce a list of "orphan" records (an orphan record is a record with no matching in the related table).

By default, *Foxfire!* automatically includes inner joined records in it's query results. The joins (or relationships) between all of the tables in your database is setup in the *Foxfire!* Join Editor. *Foxfire!* does provide a way for you to override the type of join which is done on a request by request basis.

Keep In Mind

Foxfire! has been designed for use by the most novice user. However, you will get the most from *Foxfire!* if you:

- ✓ understand basic database concepts,
- \checkmark are familiar with the information in your database,
- \checkmark understand how that information in interrelated,
- \checkmark and know what information you want out of your database

With that in mind, work through the tutorial to further familiarize yourself with *Foxfire!*, and refer back to this chapter when necessary.

This chapter contains exercises designed to familiarize you with the operation of *Foxfire!*. Before you start to work with your own data, step through these exercises to learn about *Foxfire!*'s key features. The exercises and examples in the tutorial use the sample data set described in Chapter 2 "Understanding the Sample Database."

The tutorial is divided into three levels:

✓ Basic

This section introduces the basic concepts and organization of *Foxfire!*. You learn the parts that make up a Request and step-by-step how to create a detail Request and a label Request.

✓ Intermediate

After learning the fundamentals, you are ready to create a summary Request and a cross-tab Request. Additional lessons demonstrate how to use special filter options, such as the outer join and top *N* values, and how to affect the appearance of groups in a report.

✓ Advanced

In this section of the tutorial you learn how to use filters that can be edited at runtime. Other lessons include how to create a report that can be browsed on a Web page, how to create a database table from the results of a Request, and how to send a Request's results to a graph and an Excel pivot table.

For some of the advanced exercises, it is helpful to have some understanding of programming and FoxPro.

Basic Tutorial

Requests

A Request is a complete "job" or "task" in *Foxfire!*. A Request contains three types of information:

✓ Identification

The Request name, description and type. You can create four types of Requests in *Foxfire!*: detail, summary, cross-tab and label.

✓ Query

What data to include in the results (i.e. the Request's contents)

✓ Output

The format of the data in the results (i.e. the Request's form or shape)

Request Types

Request types control which type of processing or analysis the Request performs. The following samples illustrate each Request type in a form of a report:

 \checkmark Detail — a Request that displays a row for every qualifying record.



One row per individual car

Page 1

✓ Summary — a Request that groups records, then summarizes and calculates information about that group. You specify how to group the records.

Page 1

Suld to Vealer	ltern Count	Sum of Phos Kevd	Avy of Price Revid	Sum of Prote	Aug of Prolit	Aug of Car Age	Avg of Days in Inventory
ACDISON FINANCIAL CORP.	1	\$ 16,700	\$ 19,700	\$ 500.CO	\$ 500.00	2	150.55
A MADEN WATDA	t:	\$ 4,575	\$ 4,575	£ 475.CO	\$ 476.00	3	- 15.1
ANDERSON BEHEL IMPOSES	ő	3 1,4-2	\$ 485	\$ -315.00	3 -315 10	1	150.00
ALCO ALST HONDA	5	\$ 41,0.25	\$ 8,205	\$1,9.0.00	\$ 380.00	2	150.JU
DAMO TES AUTO ADETION	666	01,001,075	\$ 2,449	204,000,00	\$ 302.20	4	145.77
BOARDWALKAUTO DE CER	1	\$ 13,250	\$ 13,250	\$1,000.00	\$1,000.00	200	150.00
I BOWWARANS CONCORDINAN	3	\$ 12,676	\$ 4,225	\$2,601.0	\$ 565.53	4	15000

One row per grouping of cars (the group is "all cars purchased from the same dealer") ✓ Cross-tab — a Request that analyzes the relationship between two variables and displays the results in a matrix containing a value for every pair of variables.

	Salesman Name	Average	Dec '99	Jan '00	Feb 100	
Variable	Jeseph Collins	\$ 288.36	\$ 380.26	\$ 256.38	\$ 130,00	
valiable	Mark Dodge	\$ 390.98	\$ 399.94	\$ 360.91	\$ 523. X 5	
1:each	Mark Harrison	\$ 291.11	\$ 228.33	\$ 257.92	\$ 486.67	Variable 2:
salesman	John D. Hinson	\$ 263.40	\$ 397.93	\$ 222.05	<u>\$ -308</u> .75	by month
	Marvin Kasper	\$ 423.37	\$ 362.57	\$ 534.58	\$ -60.00	
	Joseph Koenig	\$ 415.03	\$ 491.37	\$ 350.47	\$ 472.40	
	Ronald J. Rader	\$ 387.79	\$ 450.05	\$ 343.91	\$ 385.71	
	Average	\$ 367.78	\$ 433.86	\$ 323.50	\$ 362.79	
		Analysis avera	ge of gross pro	ofit		

✓ Label — A Request that produces labels, one label for each record (name + address).



Request Components

Each Request contains information that defines the *query* (what data to include in the results) and the *output* (the form and format of the results).

The query information includes:

✓ The data items that will appear in your report

For example, if you were in the auto wholesale business you might want a report listing the cars in inventory. Among the data items would be Car Make, Car Model and Year of Manufacture.

✓ Filter conditions

Filters enable you to select and report subsets of information. In other words, filters narrow the potential results. For example you may want to see all red cars sold to a specific car dealer.

✓ Sort order

Sorting determines the order of records in your report. For example, you commonly find primary and secondary sorting in telephone directories. Your phone book is primarily sorted on Last Name and secondarily on First Name within Last Name.

That means that when there are several listings for the last name, Smith, the phone directory sorts all first names alphabetically. (Alice Smith appears before Zachary Smith.)

The output information includes:

 \checkmark The output type

You can select a report, labels, browse list, and so on.

 \checkmark The output destination

You can choose to send the output to the printer, the screen, or to a file on disk.

Figure 3-1 illustrates the various components that make up a Request.



Figure 3-1 Request Components

Foxfire!'s Organization

Foxfire! is organized to reflect the various parts of a Request and to follow the sequence of steps normally used in working with them. Refer to the following diagram as you study this brief overview.



Figure 3-2 Foxfire! Navigation Map

(If at anytime, you want to reference this diagram on-screen, select the Tools menu from the Request Manager. Then select the About *Foxfire!* menu option, then select the Map of Foxfire! button.)



Figure 3-3 Request Manager

The first (top level) window you see is the **Request Manager** (see Figure 3-3), which presents a list of all existing Requests. You can access any Request through the **Request Manager**.

The Request Editor window, which appears whenever you edit or create a new request, provides you with a roadmap or workbench of tools necessary to create or edit a request.

lame	Description		
VV_ORG	Inventory on hand (Original Request)		
<u>D</u> ata Items			
06/29/2000	Page ##		
Stock# Make	e Model Mileage Color Trane	Price Paid Nrnum	
1500 PONT	TIAC FIREBIRD 147123 WHITE 4 Speed	1100 535679	
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
<u>F</u> ilter	Joins	Sort + <u>G</u> roup	
Cars Date Of S	ale Is Empty	t Cars Make	Grp
Cars Color Is Li	ike (ask [optional])	† Cars Model	
<u>O</u> utput	Request Type Detail		
laster/Detail Re	eport w/Page Headings To Screen		
	resentation		
ayout Style: Pr.			

**Figure 3-4 Request Editor** 

Five separate windows lie below the **Request Editor**. Each window allows you to define or modify a particular aspect of the Request:

- ✓ Data Items Selector where you specify the data items to be included.
- ✓ Filter Builder where you create filters.
- ✓ Joins where you can see and override the way tables used in your Request are related
- ✓ Sort + Group Selector where you specify sorting and grouping criteria.
- ✓ Output Selector where you specify the form and format of the results.

# Starting Foxfire!



# ≻To start *Foxfire*!

Double click on the *Foxfire!* V 6.0 Report Writer icon from your desktop. After the splash screen appears, the first screen you will see is the **Request Manager**. Note that the **Request Manager** looks similar to the Microsoft Windows Explorer. It is comprised of three sections: the **Request Manager** toolbar, the **Request Manager** tree, and the list of requests in the currently selected **Request Manager** folder.

# **Selecting the Sample Preference Set**

When you start *Foxfire!*, the *Foxfire!* banner screen first appears, then the Request Manager opens.

Fostirel Report Willer							
no but Wedda Hua							
B Request Manager - Dequests Re	nol					- 8	
Fine Mines Trade							
L Ei, D Sur Feeles Hest	문 X	Dolkne v Porth	a otro				
Roq. est Trop	Contents of 'Requeste Real'						
🗳 R. a. o. o. Fin	Tecuest	Description	Culp.1	Tgree		Inie	
- 🔐 Long es tri Conta Lesimez	Dere can:	In which you all one (chicked has a set	- Mi	10 Lat	- 515 FM	BC 12 II 1	
- Seles Reports	IPCENTEN.	In god som confirmation	R)	DET.4	EVOTEN.	12/17/1201	
I is studiety Phone to	LEC H T CHA	dens totand then all dense	R)	DET.4	EVOTE:	12/16/202	
	I PROF ALL	Frotil analysis by evolu-	Rµ.	DETAL	E-OTEN	32C4/2303	
	ER LAS DR D	Scies Report Conginal,	Rp::	DETAL	EMSTER!	06 CB(2000	
	💽 SLOEKAM	Sciesman Pull Varte Ekonple	Rp::	DETAL	EMSTER	06/05/2000	
	E WORDWRAF	woold twice of for long teld, here o	Rep:	DETAL	313 EX	201/1999	
Kapanta) / Jan sin ha	Palan	n Song alles a val				005	

**Note:** If the Request list is empty or it contains different Requests than the example above, don't be concerned. You'll correct this in the next step.

In order to begin the tutorial exercises, you must be sure the Sample Data Set is the active Preference Set. This is because the Preference Set
controls which database *Foxfire!* uses for reporting. For more information on the sample database, see Chapter 2.

# ≻To select the sample Preference Set

1. Choose Preference Set from the Tools Menu

The Preference Set Picker opens.

- **Note:** Important! Before taking any other actions, examine the list of Preference Sets and note the following (you may want to write down the following):
- ✓ Which one is currently highlighted?
- ✓ Which one contains the phrase "Startup" to the right side?

If your version of *Foxfire!* has already been customized, *you must* restore these settings after completing the tutorial before you can use *Foxfire!* to work with your own data.



If Sample Data Set is highlighted in the list, the sample data set is already selected. Choose Cancel and go to the next section of the tutorial.

2. Choose Sample Data Set and choose OK.

**Warning:** Do not choose "Use at Startup" while Sample Data Set is highlighted, as this will cause *Foxfire!* to start with the sample data rather than your regular data the next time you start *Foxfire!*.

change the default to that If S Preference Set alr 2. **Note:** If you had to choose the Sample Data Set, then you are working with a copy of *Foxfire!* that has already been customized. Don't forget to restore your Preference Set settings when you finish the tutorial, so that every time you start *Foxfire!*, your customized Requests will appear.

# **Request for the Sample Report**

This section describes the relationship between a Request and the final report, which is produced when the Request is run. You will choose a sample Request from the list of those provided and then run it.

It is as important to know your database as it is to understand the business problem that needs to be solved with each Request that you create. In the following sections, we will review some sample Requests and examine how the different pieces of *Foxfire!* effect the way the final report looks. Before each example is reviewed, a simple business specification will be provided to help you better understand the business requirement for the request you will be reviewing.

# **Sample Inventory Report**

The following describes the business specification which was written by the Business User prior to the Sample Inventory Report being created in *Foxfire!*. It is important to have a clear understanding of the Request requirements prior to actually implementing the Request. This will help minimize the amount of rework required due to miscommunication.

#### **Business Specification:**

As a car broker, we must be able to know how many cars are currently in inventory (i.e. unsold) at a particular time. We frequently receive requests for a specific color of car, so we also need to be able to only see cars of a certain color. We don't know what color the consumer will be asking for, if any, so we want to be asked when the Request is run. We need to be able to see the following information about each car in inventory: stock number, make, model, mileage, color, transmission type, how much we paid for the car, and the dealer number we bought it from. We need to be able to see all of the cars for the same make and model sorted together on the report.

The request and report are displayed in Figure 3-5 Sample Request and Figure 3-6 The Resulting Report so you can see the relationship.

## >To run the Request for the sample report

- 1. Be sure the Request Manager is displayed.
- 2. Highlight the INV_ORG report from the Request Manager.
- 3. Choose Run from the toolbar or right click on the Request and pick Run from the pop-up menu.
- 4. *Foxfire!* generates status messages at the bottom of the screen to inform you of *Foxfire!*'s progress as it assembles the report you have requested.
- 5. When prompted with Cars Color is Like, just press OK.
- 6. When the report appears on the screen you can scroll around it. Move the cursor anywhere inside the report and click. (Scroll arrows will appear on the right side of the screen and you can click on these to move up and down through the report.)

Respect: IN	VORG						
inventory a	in hand (O	riginal Request)		Print P	raview	Π	1
Page 1				14 4	<u> <u> </u> <u></u></u>	* • 🗗 🖻	
Stock#	Model		Mileage	Colar	Trans	Price Paid	Dimum
Make: A	WDI						
2440	5000		117291	SILVER	7 Speed	3 1.570	204120
2.580	SUUS		15/6/		Automatic	\$ 5,0.0	828643
2387	50005		· 25127	GREY	E Speed	\$ 2,000	261123
2018	50005		92836	EL_E	5 Spæd	\$ ,500	974575
lotalistor	Make	AUUI	× ×			0	
			Aug.				
			101505			\$ 10,000	
Make: B	in Meri						
2.5	320		91E23		1 sipeed	\$ 2,0.0	649-60
Totalsfor	Maker	DMA/					
			Avo.				
			\$1623			\$ 2,000	
Make: B	UICK						
2209	CTNT	D17	09977		- Speed	3 0,070	209140
2412	CEN IU	RY	4.4:5	EL_E	e Speed	\$ 3,975	110282
2328	LESAE	RE	10368		3 Speed	\$ 500	300272
2355	REGAL		· 0E307	EL_E	3 Speed	\$ ,359	708419
2222	REGAL		02070		I Speed	\$ 400	C00272
2440	RECAL		101192	HED.	Automatic	\$ 1,2.0	485-29
2299	SAYHA	2004	63137	GOLD	Alcomatic	\$ 300	345588
1872	SKYLA	R-	5746	FROMI	= Sp+ed	3, 1,870	f:0=54
2364	SKYLA	87	47762	EBOANT	d Cornel	9 / 770	C22176

- 7. Choose the Open Door on the Print Preview toolbar button.
- 8. The Output Choices window opens.

Request		204 Records Selected
INV_ORG	Inventory on hand (Original Request)	
Output		
Request Typ	e Detail	
Master/Detail	Report w/Page Headings To Screen	
Layout Style:	Presentation	
Next Action?		

- 9. This window provides a summary of the number of records printed on the report and gives you an opportunity to Print the report or review what you just looked at. Other items on this window will be reviewed later in the class.
- 10. Choose Close.
- 11. The Request Manager reappears.
- 12. Next, view the Request that produced the sample report, examining its different parts.

# >To view the parts of a Request

- 1. Highlight the INV_ORG Request in the list.
- 2. Choose the Edit toolbar button or right click and choose Edit

Note that the Request Name and Description display in the Request Editor matches the name and description from the Request Manager. Additionally, note that Request Type and Output Options match the ones that appear in the Request Manager list.

1 Du Du	122 X It U Tall Define call Definitions be	⊡ 8£ ⇔ 100 Verws	
request into	Contents of /bequests bool!		
🖄 Requests Root	Request Description	Cutcut Tyco	Ubar Date
Examples of Special Features Special Spects Investigators Investory Reports	Inventory on nano (Cribinal Request Ecition           Request Ecition           Neme         Description           Inventory of hand (Original Red Data heres         Inventory of hand (Original Red Data heres           IEC0001111         Inventory           Strack# Make         Model         Mileage         Control T 15/0         Ventory	uest) Ro: DETAL quest) an hand (Original Re jucst) trans Price Paid Disput Speed 1100 53-67.	SYSTEY 06292002
		- Cars Uske + Cars Uske + Cars Mode	Gip

3. The Request Editor opens.

INV_ORG Inventory on hand (Original Request) Data Items  06/29/2000 Inventory on hand (Original Request)	
Data items 06/29/2000 Inventory on hand (Original Request)	
06/29/2000 Inventory on hand (Original Request)	
	Page ##
Stock# Make Model Mileson Color Trans. Dries Daid Dirpum	
1500 PONTIAC FIREBIRD 147123 WHITE 4 Speed 1100 535679	
Filter Joins Sort + Group	
Cars Date Of Sale Is Empty t Cars Make	Grp
Output Request Type Detail	
/laster/Detail Report w/Page Headings To Screen	
ayout Style: Presentation	

Each Request contains the following elements:

- $\checkmark$  The name of the report
- $\checkmark$  The description of the report
- ✓ The data items to be included in the results (data items are also called *fields by programmers*)

The Data Items section in the upper portion of the **Request Editor** displays the eight specified data items (or *fields*) *that appear in the detail area of the INV_ORG report.* 

✓ Selection criteria called a filter

The Filter section of the **Request Editor** shows that the report includes only records where the data item called Cars Date of Sale is empty (i.e. the car is not sold) and the data item called Cars Color is like a value which will be specified at runtime

 ✓ Sorting and grouping information called sort/group criteria and group break options.

The Sort + Group section of the **Request Editor** shows that the output will be sorted first by Cars Make and then by Cars Model within Cars Make. The Group indicator in Windows or that appears to the right of Cars Make means this report will force a *group break* each time the Make changes. (A group break is a set of actions that occur whenever the value of a grouped item changes.)

 $\checkmark$  Information about the appearance of the final report called the output.

Before exiting the Request Editor, Figure 3-5 Sample Request and Figure 3-6 The Resulting Report to see how the query defined in the Request Editor looks when it is output as a report.

After you have studied the Request and the report, choose Close to return to the Request Manager.

# **Relationship Between Requests and Results**

This section describes the relationship between a Request and the final report, which is produced when the Request is run. You will choose a sample Request from the list of those provided and then run it.

The following two figures illustrate the relationship between a Request and the report it produces.

A. NAME and **DESCRIPTION -**Specifies the report name



#### Figure 3-5 Sample Request

**Note:** The callouts, A - E, correspond between the "Sample Request" and the Resulting Report



# **Creating a Detail Request**

In this section you will create a Request for a detail report. This report will be very similar to the INV_ORG report we just looked at, but will include some minor changes.

#### **Business Specification for Request:**

We must be able to know how many TOYOTA cars are currently in inventory (i.e. unsold) at a particular time.

We need to be able to see the following information about each car in inventory: stock number, make, model, mileage, color, transmission type, how much we paid for the car, and the dealer number we bought it from.

We need to be able to see all of the cars for the same make and model sorted together on the report.

Before starting, be sure the Request Manager is displayed.

# ≻To create a new Request

1. Choose the New toolbar button

OR

Right Click on the tree side of the Request Manager and pick New Request.

2. The New Request - Type and Style dialog opens.

atic ed ed ed
atic ed ed ed
atic ed ed ed
atic ed ed ed
ed ed ed
ed L
ed -
Use Wiza
atic
atic
14

- 3. Choose Detail as the Request Type and choose OK.
- 4. A blank Request Editor opens.
- 5. To name your Request, type SAMPLE1 in the Name field and press Tab.
- 6. To describe your Request, type Inventory On Hand in the Description field and press Tab.
- 7. Choose Data Items.
- 8. The Data Items Selector opens.

ars nge at sale	8	-		
ars Color	11			
ars Comment	31	<b>—</b>		
ars Date Of Sale	9			
ars vate Paid	9			
ars Date Purchased	10			
ars Days in Inventory	10			
ars full bate of sale	19			
ars License Number	8			
ars make	13			
ars mileage	10			
ars Month Sold	8	e.		
			Hide	Characters Selected 0
			1.1.4.2	
ars Month Sold	8	-	Hide	Characters Selected 0

# **Specifying Data Items**

In the Data Items Selector you specify which data items will appear in the report and what their column headings will be. This window contains two lists:

The list on the left shows Available data items. You may choose any or all of these data items.

The list on the right shows Selected data items. These data items will be included in each detail line of the report.

Every time you choose a data item from the Available list, it moves to the Selected list.

## ≻To choose the data items

1. Choose the following eight data items as specified in the business specification above:

Cars Stock Number

Cars Make

Cars Model

Cars Mileage

Cars Color

Cars Trans mission

Cars Purchase Price

Cars Purchased From ID

- **Note:** The sequence in which you choose the data items is the same order in which they will appear in the detail line of the final report.
- 2. If you want to remove a data item from the Selected list, choose the item in the Selected list.
- 3. The item moves back to the Available list.
- 4. If you select the items in the wrong order, you can use the mover buttons in the selected list to reposition the data items.
- 5. To accept the data items you just chose, choose OK.
- 6. The **Request Editor** displays a sample detail line containing the data items you selected.

# **Creating a Filter**

Once you have chosen data items to display, you may also want to specify a filter to narrow the results.

In the sample Request you previously examined, the report was filtered to show records where the data item Cars Date of Sale is Empty. and Cars Color is like a value specified when the request is run. Now you will create similar filter conditions but instead of filtering on Cars Color you will filter on Cars Make and only select TOYOTA cars.

# ➤To create the filter condition

- 1. Choose Filter.
- 2. The empty Filter Builder opens.

Data Item	ls (Not)	Relationship	Value(s)	
dr Add C	<u>r</u> (	) Delete	Union To	op N
dr Add C Cmit Duplicates	<u>۲ (</u> Ask at <u>R</u> u	) Delete	Union To	op IN

- 3. To build a new filter, you must add conditions to the filter one-by-one.
- 4. To add the first filter condition, choose Add.
- 5. A drop-down list of data items appears.

**Note:** Some data items have an (R) next to them, which means they will be retrieved using FoxPro's Rushmore optimizer to achieve significantly faster results.

- 6. Choose the data item name you want as the first filter condition, Cars Date of Sale.
- 7. To specify a positive comparison, choose Is in the Is(NOT) operator.
- 8. The IS option is automatically highlighted when chosen. This option switches from IS to IS NOT and back again.
- 9. Choose Relationships to indicate the type of relationship.
- 10. A drop-down list appears with a list of possible relationships that are relevant to the data item.
- 11. Choose Empty.
- 12. The completed filter condition should now look like this:

This filter narrows the results to unsold cars only.

	R Filter for Request SANPL	El - Inventory On Hand		2
	Data Item	le (Not)	Relationship	Value(s)
ilter ondition	 - <b>El</b> Cars Date Of Sai	e ts	Empty	
	Edit Add	Vr(	) Delete	Union Top H
	Help Dictionary.	<b></b>		CK Cance

- 13. To save this filter condition, choose OK.
- 14. The Filter Builder displays your completed filter condition.
- 15. To add the second filter condition, choose Add.
- 16. Choose the data item name you want as the second filter condition, Cars Make.
- 17. To specify a positive comparison, choose Is in the Is(NOT) operator.
- 18. Choose Relationships to indicate the type of relationship.
- 19. A drop-down list appears with a list of possible relationships that are relevant to the data item.
- 20. Choose Like.
- 21. Under Value(s), type: TOYATA (intentionally misspelled!) and press ENTER.

Foxfire! automatically validates entry	ineventory on hand as "To	a misspelled OYATA"
Data Item	ls (Not) Relationship	Value(s)
Cars Date Of Sale	Is Empty	E
Cars Make	▼ Is Like	ТОУАТА
	Select CARMAKE     CR3 Selects     STERLING     SUBARU     SUZUKI     TOYOTA     UOLVELLACEN	<ul> <li>Ask at Runtime</li> <li>Blarks</li> <li>Another Data Item</li> <li>Build Expression</li> </ul>

- 22. When you try to exit the field, a list of valid options appears. This list was set up in the data dictionary and can be used to validate the values being entered at Request design time or run time.
- 23. Select TOYOTA from the list and press Enter
- 24. To save this filter condition, choose OK.
- 25. The Filter Builder displays your completed filter condition.

	n				ls (Not)	Relationship		Value(s)	
Cars	Date	Of	Sale	<u>(</u>	Is	Empty			
cars	Make				IS	Like	TOP	2TH	
di.	Adu	1		ΟĽ	(	)	Delete	Jnicr	Τυμ Ν
					Askat Rur	otime Ontions	1		

26. Choose OK again to return to the Request Editor.

# **Specifying Sort/Group Criteria**

When designing a report, you might want to sort the records in a particular sequence (for example, by last name). Specify sort order in the Sort + Group section of the Request Editor.

Sometimes you might also want the report divided groups (or sections) based on one or more of the selected data items or available data items.

Example: In this report, you are going to:

Sort the records by car make and car model within each car make.

Group the detail lines by car make.

Whenever the car make changes, the report will skip a line, print a total for that group, skip another line, and print a group heading for the new group. This is called a group break.

You specify sorting and grouping in the same area of the Request Editor.

# ≻To specify sorting and grouping

- 1. Choose Sort + Group.
- 2. The Sort + Group Selector opens.

Cars	Stock Number	F		(ərri ifi
Cars	Make Model			
Cars	Mileage			
Cars	Color			
Cars	Purchase Price			
Cars	Transmission			
	Display Data Items:	<ul> <li>In Request</li> </ul>	Descending	Group
		C All		

- 3. Select **Cars Make** from the Available list (just like you did when selecting the data items for the Request).
- 4. Select Cars Model from the Available list.
- 5. To indicate a group break when Cars Make changes, highlight Cars Make in the Sort by list.
- 6. Choose Group.

A Grp indicator appears at the right of the Cars Make criterion (choosing the Group button toggles to Ungroup in case you change your mind).

Paus Staals Number	Soft by	Group
Cars Mileage Cars Color Cars Purchase Price Cars Transmission Cars Purchased From ID	T Cars Model	
Displey Data Items:	Descending	Ungroup Options

- 7. Choose OK to return to the Request Editor.
- 8. The sorting and grouping criteria are displayed in the Sort + Group section of the Request Editor.

# **Specify Output Type**

Now you must specify whether you want the report sent to the screen, a file on a diskette or hard disk, or the printer.

You can also specify the output type for the report: browse, list, report, labels, graph, and so on.

**Note:** *Foxfire!* assumes you want a report displayed on screen, unless you specify differently.

## ≻To specify an output type format

- 1. Choose Output.
- 2. The Output Selector opens.

utput Type	Report	Columns		-
	Layout			
	Auto Format from Templat	e>		
	Style		Customization	
	Default (Presentation)	-	<u>E</u> dit	<u>C</u> hoose
	Options		Save <u>a</u> s	Auto Eormat
Send To				
C Printer			*	Setup
Screen				Options
C File	1			
Special Proce	essing Options	1		
		-		

3. In the Output Type section, choose the drop-down list to display output type choices:



- 4. Choose Report.
- 5. Choose the drop-down list to the right of Report to display the Report Output Formats available.
- 6. Choose Master/Detail Page Headings.

See Report Output Formats on page 3-54 for a detailed explanation of each of the other Report Output Types and Formats.

7. The Output Selector should now look like this:

utput Type	Report	Master/Del	ail-Page Headings	
	Layout			
	< Auto Format from Te	emplate ≻		
	Style	1	Customization	
	Default (Presentation)	-	<u>E</u> dit	<u>C</u> hoose
	Options		Save <u>a</u> s	Auto Eormat
Send To				
C Printer	2		*	Setup
<ul> <li>Screen</li> <li>File</li> </ul>				Options
Special Proce	ssing Options	<u>e</u>		

8. Choose OK to return to the Request Editor.

You have just created your first Request. Examine the Output section of the Request Editor. It indicates the Request Type is Detail and the output will be Master/Detail Report w/Page Headings To Screen.

# **Other Request Editor Buttons**

The Request Editor offers several other options:

Preview — Displays the report on the screen even when output is set to print or file.

Run — Processes the Request and creates the output. If output is set to screen, Run does the same thing as Preview.

Save- Press this button to save Request changes to disk.

Save as...- Use this when you want to make a copy of an Request under a new name or to make another version of the Request.

Whenever you *run* or *preview* a Request, *Foxfire!* compares each record to the filter conditions, selects those records that meet the conditions, and then arranges the data items in the manner you specified in your Request.

# >To preview the Inventory on Hand report

- 1. Choose Preview.
- 2. The report appears on screen.
- 3. Note: These preview screens are displaying the Inventory on Hand report with a different filter.



# Figure 3-7 Print Preview Toolbar

- 4. Click the "open door" button on the tool bar.
- 5. The Output Choices window opens, showing you a summary of your Output Choices.

Request		205 Records Selected
SAMPLE1	Inventory On Hand	
Output		
Request Typ	e Detail	
Master/Detai	Report w/Page Headings To Screen	
Layout Style	: Presentation	
Next Action?		

- 6. When you exit from a preview, your Request is automatically saved.
- 7. Choose Close.
- 8. The Request Editor opens.
- 9. Choose Close.
- 10. The Request Manager opens.

# **Creating a New Version of a Request**

*Foxfire!* provides an easy way to create a new Request based on another similar Request.

#### **Business Specification:**

After using the Request you just created for a month, one of the Sales Managers decides that they would like to have a similar report for red cars (instead of Toyotas). Additionally, it is important to see the name and address of the dealer who we bought the car from.

The following section shows you how to accomplish this request.

## ≻To rename your Request

- 1. Choose SAMPLE1; Inventory on Hand, from the Request Manager.
- 2. Choose Edit (or right click and select Edit from the pop-up menu) to display the Request Editor.
- 3. The Request Editor opens with the Inventory on Hand Request.
- 4. Choose Save as

Note: make sure to select Save As and not Save

5. The Save Request As dialog opens.

Name	Description	
SAMPLE1	Inventory On Hand	
MAIL_LBL	Mailing Labels for Dealers	1
MULTJOIN	Joins four different tables	
PROANA3	Profit analysis by dealer (Top 3 cars)	
PROF_ANL	Profit analysis by dealer	
QUARTILE	Quartile rank (profit)	
RUNTIME	Newest features of Ask-at-Runtime	
SALES	Sales Report	
SAL_ORIG	Sales Report (Original)	
SAMPLE1	Inventory On Hand	
d ock		
Data Items		
Son		
Filter/Joins		
L Output		

#### Figure 3-8 Save As dialog

- 6. In the Name field, change SAMPLE1 to SAMPLEX.
  - **Note:** you have to change the name of the request or you will not be able to save this new request. You cannot have two requests with the same name.
- 7. In the Description field, change the description to Red Cars On Hand.
- 8. Choose OK.
- 9. The Request Editor opens.
- 10. Add the additional data items for Purchased From Name and Purchased From Address1.

Note how these new data items are added to the end of the Selected Data Items list.

11. Use the Slider Control to move Purchased From Name to the top of the list.

The next task is to edit the filter, and add a condition that returns only red cars.

# ≻To add a filter condition

- 1. Choose Filter in the Request Editor.
- 2. The Filter Builder opens.
- 3. To delete the filter condition which limits the Request to only Toyota cars, highlight the Cars Make Is Like filter condition
- 4. Choose Delete.
- 5. The Filter Builder now looks like this

Filter for Request SAMPLEX - In	ventory On Hand			×
Dala Item	ls (Not)	Relationship	Value(s)	
Cars Date OF Sale	ls	Empty		<u>-</u>
				*
Edit <u>A</u> cd O <u>r</u>		) Delete	Unon	Тэр К
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	Askat <u>N</u> u	ntime Options		
				• · · 1
Elep Dictionary			OK	Cancel

- 6. To add another filter condition, choose Add.
- 7. The Data Items list appears.
- 8. Choose Cars Color from the Data Items list.
- 9. Choose **Is** under Is (Not).
- 10. Choose Like from the Relationship list.
- 11. To specify the value to which the data must be compared, type RED in the Values field and press Enter.
- 12. Choose OK to complete the filter condition.

You now have two filter conditions: cars with an empty date of sale and cars with a red body color.

You are done modifying the filter. The Filter Builder should now look like this:

Cars	848 N. 1976		ls (Not)	Relationship		Value(s)	
	Dale Of	3ale	I5	Emply	D ED		
Cars	GOLOP		13	LIKe	КШ		
tit	<u>Þ</u> dd	Ot	(	)	Delete	Hnon	Thp V

- 13. Choose OK to exit the Filter Builder.
- 14. The Request Editor opens.

# >To preview your modified Request

- 1. Choose Preview in the Request Editor.
- 2. You receive a message indicating that "Report Layout is not wide enough for all the selected data items" and that you have three options



## Figure 3-9 Fit to Page dialog

- 3. Choose Run As Is.
- 4. The resulting report appears.

Note that all the cars on the report have a color of RED and the Purchaser Address is chopped off the edge of the report.

Request: SAMPIEX Inventory On Hand							
Page 1 Filtens Care Date Of Care Color Iv	'Sale leEmply . «Like RED	AND					
l'urchoacd from Disaler	510ck/7	Model	Mileage	Colar	Price Paid	Trans	P
Maker BUICK							
EEN A. BECER EU UK	2440	HECH_	10(192)	HED I	\$ 1,200	Automatic	E
EEN A, BEGER EU CK	24/1	SKYLARK	94566	RED	\$ 1,500	<ul> <li>Speed</li> </ul>	E
Totalsfor Make: DUICK			AVG. 97879		\$ 2,700		
Make: CHRYSLER							
STEVENS ORE END ON DAT Total sfor Makes CHRYSLER	2416	CORDONA	09119	6600		4 9pm;	9
			Avrg. 691 19		§ 400		

- 5. Click the Open Door button on the tool bar.
- 6. The Output Choices window opens, showing you a summary of your Output Choices.
- 7. When you exit from a preview, your Request is automatically saved.
- 8. Choose Close.
- 9. The Request Manager opens.
- 10. Choose Close.
- 11. The Request Editor opens.

# **Creating Label Request**

The procedure for creating a label Request is similar to that of creating a report Request. You specify the data items to be included, filter conditions, sorting and grouping criteria, and the output type.

But labels have different output options than reports. Labels can be printed in columns and are formatted to fit a specific type of label. Data items for city, state, and zip usually need to appear in the same line.

To deal with special label formats, *Foxfire!* provides a special Data Items Selector window for labels. It allows you to select from many commonly used label formats, including Avery forms. As you select data items, you

specify their location on each line of the label, adding punctuation if necessary.

#### **Business Specification:**

We want to create mailing labels for letters we are going to send to dealers who we've purchased cars from in the last two months that have still not sold. We will be sending these dealers a letter indicating that until these cars sell, we will be unable to purchase additional cars from them.

# ≻To create a label Request

- 1. From the Request Manager, choose New.
- 2. The New Request Type and Style dialog opens.
- 3. Choose Label as the Request Type and choose OK.
- 4. The Request Editor opens.
- 5. In Name, type DEALLAB.
- 6. In Description, type Labels for Dealers We Purchased Crummy Cars From and press Enter.
- 7. Choose Data Items.
- 8. The Data Items Selector for labels opens.

1/2	' x 1	5/1	6" x	1		_	_	_	_	_	_	_			Cho	0.50		ŧ.			Î	vui Al C	Dale	- illei	iis										
ient Jar	-											220									000000000000000000000000000000000000000	Car Car Car Car Car Car Car Car Car		Ag Co Da Da Da Fu Li Ma	e te te te te te te le	at ir i ( i f i f i f i f i f i f i f i f i f i f	DF Pai Din Dat Se	Sal Sa id Ir Ir Ir Nu	le ale ave of unt	e ent F S	H toi Sal	ry			
																							9	Sele	ct				,				s	рас	e
led	ted																						R	ema	ve				:	2	·		Т	e≍t	
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	÷	÷	÷		÷	÷	÷	•	÷	÷	•	÷	÷	•	•	•			•	÷	a.	
1	1	1		1	•	1			1		1	1						1		1					•	•	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
3	•		•	3	•	8	•		8			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•													
1				2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2		3	÷.	Ξ.	2	5	2	÷.	5					2	2

#### Figure 3-10 Label Request Data Item Selector

- 9. To specify the Label Type, select Choose.
- 10. Label Type dialog opens:
  - **Note:** The list of available label types changes with how many labels across you select (1, 2, 3 or 4 columns) and whether your label paper is measured in inches or millimeters.

3 1/2" × 15/16" × 1 3" × 5 Rolodex 4" × 1 7/16" × 1	5 14	Lines Lines	35	Characters	
3" x 5 Rolodex 4" x 1 7/16" x 1	14	Lines	50	01	
4" × 1 7/16" × 1			00	Characters	
	8	Lines	40	Characters	
4" x 2 1/4 Rolodex	10	Lines	40	Characters	-
5 1/2" x 3 5/8 Envelope	14	Lines	65	Characters	
9 7/8" x 7 1/8 Envelope	17	Lines	78	Characters	
Avery #4145	15/	/16"	3-1	L/2"	
Avery #4146	1-7	7/16"	4"		
Avery #4160	2-7	7/16"	3-3	L/2"	
Avery #4161	2-1	15/16"	4"		
Sort list by 💽 Name	c I	Height an across	d Widt © ind O mi	h ches llimeters	

#### Figure 3-11 Label Type dialog

- 11. Choose **3** in the line Label types displayed.
- 12. Select Avery #5660 from the list of label types.
- 13. Choose OK to return to the Data Items Selector.
- 14. In Indent, choose 3 to indent the text three spaces.
- 15. Choose Purchased From Dealer Name from the drop-down list of Available fields.
- 16. Move to the list of Selected Data Items and highlight the line below Purchased From Name.
  - **Note:** After placing a data item on a line, if you choose another data item without highlighting the next line in the Selected Data Items list, *Foxfire!* will ask you, "Start a new line with data item?" Choose Yes or No to confirm your intent.
- 17. From the list of Available Data Items choose Purchased From Address
- 18. In the list of Selected Data Items highlight the third line.

# >To add multiple data items to a single line in the label

- 1. From the Available Data Items choose Purchased From City.
- 2. Choose Comma (,), located below the Available list.
- 3. Choose Space to insert a space after the comma.
- 4. Select the data item Purchased From State.
- 5. Choose **Space** to insert a space after the state.
- 6. Select Purchased From Zip.

In the sample label, the city, state, and zip code should appear correctly

icer rype	<u> 18 - 1</u>	Availabe		
wery #5660 3 Apross 1" x 2-5/6"	Choose	All Data Items		
dent 3 ➡ → Arata Honda 108 Califorria Avonuc Buringeme, CA 94010		Largest Sing Purchased Fr Purchased Fr Purchased Fr Purchased Fr Purchased Fr Quartile Rep Rep Expenses Sales Startu	le Expen om Addre um Bank om Conta om Deale om Deale om Phane ort Vari Type Of	se ss 2 Numer hot r Id r Nunber able Expense
		Select		Space
eerted		Remove	:	Text
Purchased From Name Purchased From Address 1 Purchased From City, Purchas	ed From Sta	te Purchased From		· · · · · ·
***********	*****	*******	$\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{X}$	

- 7. Choose OK.
- 8. The Request Editor opens.
- 9. Choose Preview.

Notice that the labels now look much better because they display the city, state, and ZIP on a single line with the comma.

ARATA HONDA 196 Celiforía Axerce Burtingana, CA 94010 ADTO WEST ACLRA 27156 Frend I Fisi Frendrit, CA9458 AUTO WEST HONDA 37763 Frencisc Bis: Frencist, CA 54685

AUTO WE ST TOYOTA 38555 Fromont Elvel Fremoul, CA 94536 4Liv ADEN MAZDA 120 W Copitol Expressivay San Jose, CA 951 36 ALMADEN HOMDA 745 W Capital Expressively San Jose, CA 95: 98

10. Now add filter conditions to only select unsold cars (Cars Date of Sale is Empty) which were purchased before a date which is to be specified at runtime (Cars Date of Purchase is like ask at runtime).

Note that all of the Filter, Sort + Group, and Output features available in a detail request are also available for a Label.

# **Intermediate Tutorial**

The intermediate tutorial introduces features needed for more complex reports. In this section you will learn how to create summary reports and cross-tab reports.

Additional exercises introduce the use of special filter options, such as the outer join and top N values. And you will learn how to use the master detail layout option to affect the appearance of groups in a report.

# **Creating A Summary Request**

Sometimes, you may want a *summary* Request that provides a single line summarizing selected information for each group, as opposed to providing all of the details.

For example, you might want a report that shows how much total business you have done with each dealer as opposed to seeing all of the details of each dealer sale. This type of request is a perfect application of the Summary Request type.

There are two types of columns in a summary report: *group identity and summary data*.

The Group Identify Items (maybe be one or more columns) identify groups or values which are being summarized in each line of the report

Purchased from Dealer	ltem Count	Samof Prafit	Avy of Profit	Pric	Avy of e Paid	Avyof Car Age	Aug of Daysin Inventory
CARLICHEVROLETIGED	4	\$ 1 465.00	\$ 366.25	\$	367	٤	150.00
COURTES Y CHE VROLET	10	\$ 5 560.00	\$ 556.CO	Ŧ	1,505	7	190.00
DEAN ACURA	1	\$ 1 000.00	\$1,000.00	\$	4,000	4	150.00
FREMONT FORD	2	\$ 1 120 00	\$ 560 CO	<del>.</del> ¶	3,625	4	1.90.00
INVENTORY LIQUIDATION SY	2	\$ 1 350.30	\$ 675.CO	\$	7,500	1	150.00
JONES CHEVROLET	3	\$ 1 460.00	£ 486.67	£	4,516	3	150.00
MCHUOH ENCOLN MERCURY	5	\$ 5 415.00	\$1,000.00	1	0,415	C	100.00
P JTNAM MAZDA	3	\$ 1 535.00	£ 511.67	£	1,300	7	150.00
STEVEN 3 CREEK HYUNDAL	0	\$ 1 561.50	\$ 520.00	1	2,114	C	100.00
GRAND TOTALS:		\$20,466.00	\$ 639.00	\$	3,210	5	150.00000000
9 Groups Selected							
	All remaining contain sum about the ide	g columns mary data entified					

#### Request STAT_DLR Dealer activity summary

**Business Specification:** 

The Business Manager at our location wants to see the breakdown of sales for each of the dealers who purchase cars from us in the last three months having a total gross profit of more than \$1,000. She wants to see how many cars have been purchased by each dealer, total sales in dollars per dealer, average price of the car sold, average age of the cars sold, and an average of how long the cars were in inventory before they were sold. This report will be used to target our high volume dealers with a promotional campaign.

# ≻To create the summary Request

- 1. From the Request Manager, choose New.
- 2. The New Request Type and Style dialog opens.
- 3. Choose Summary and then OK to continue.
- 4. The Request Editor for Summary Requests opens.
- 5. Type DLRSALES in the Name field.
- 6. Type Cars Sold to Dealers in the Description field.
- 7. Choose Data Items.
- 8. The Data Items Selector opens.



Figure 3-12 Summary Request Data Items Selector

#### **Specifying Summary Data Items**

Data item selection is different for a summary Request than for a detail Request. For those items being summarized, you must specify the type of summarization (for example, a count) in addition to the data item itself.

**Note:** If you select an item and do not indicate a summary function for it, the item becomes part of the group identity information. *Foxfire!* knows, based on the data type of the data item being selected, what type of summary functions are applicable.

For example: if you select a character based data item, only the Min and Max functions are available since you cannot calculate an Average or Sum of a character field.

# ➤To specify summary data items

- 1. In the Data Items Selector, choose Sold To Dealer Name from the Available list.
- 2. Next, you will specify the items to be summarized.
- 3. To display the count of cars sold by a particular dealer, choose Count of Records in Group.
- 4. Count of Records in Group appears in the Selected list.
- 5. Highlight Cars Sale Price and choose Sum to specify the total (sum of) sales to each dealer.

This procedure creates a column for the total dollar value of all sales to each dealer. Sum of Cars Sale Price appears in the Selected list.

**Note:** Cars Sale Price remains highlighted in the Available list indicating it is still selected.

- 6. Choose Avg to specify the average amount of sales to each dealer.
- 7. Avg of Cars Sale Price appears in the Selected list.
- 8. Highlight Gross Profit and choose Sum to specify the total gross profit of sales to each dealer.
- 9. Choose Avg to specify the average gross profit of sales to each dealer.
- 10. Highlight Cars Age at Sale and choose Avg to specify the average age of the cars sold to a particular dealer.

- 11. Highlight Cars Days in Inventory and choose Avg to indicate that you want to the average days in inventory of the cars purchased by a specific dealer.
- 12. Choose OK to return to the Request Editor.
- 13. The completed Request should look like this:

nequest ru	tor	and the second								
arre	Desc	ription							_	
LRSALES	Car	e Sold to Dea	alers						_	
<u>D</u> eta Items										
07/01/2000	_			Cars Suli	l to Dea	leis			Paį	je ##
Sold to	tem	Sum of	Avg of	Sum of	Avg of	Avg of	Avg	of		
Deales Acces Handa	Count	Price Royd	Price Revul	Profit	Prufit cen co	Cal Age	: Invea			
A'a.a nunua	120	1500	1300	200.00	200.00	14		5		
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~			m							
Eiter		Joins				Sort + G	ouk			
						Selc To I) e e le c h			
						0010 10 1	/cubiii	aun c		
<u>o</u> u:put	R	equest Type	Summary							
Jolumnar Repo Javout Style: P	n i lo So resenta	reen tion								
102										

14. Choose **Preview** to display the report.

Note the number of Groups selected at the bottom of the report.

- 15. Choose the Open Door.
- 16. The Output Choices window opens.
- 17. Choose Close.
- 18. The Request Editor opens.
- 19. Choose Close to return to the Request Manager.

Creating a Cross-Tab Request

A cross-tab report is a matrix that shows a relationship between two variables for all records meeting the filter criteria. The results appear at the intersection of each row and column.

Business Specification:

We are trying to decide what kinds of cars to purchase for resale. The decision on what kind cars to purchase will be based on the average profit we made for each year and make of car we sold. We are only interested in cars made between 1992 and 1999. Car makes should be displayed vertically (down the rows) while year of manufacture should be displayed horizontally (across the columns).

≻To create a cross-tab Request

- 1. Choose New.
- 2. The New Request Type and Style dialog opens.
- 3. Choose Cross-Tab and then OK.
- 4. The Request Editor for cross-tabs opens.

Ex	ample of Cro	ss-Tab Repo	ort		
Cro for Pala	ss-Tab Sun	n of Gross	Profit Apenth Cold		
Page 1 of Strp 1	SINGUINGIN		101111 3014		
Salesman Name	Sum	May '83	Jun '89	Jul '89	
JOSEPH COLLINE	37755	16351	20254	1170	6-2
MARK DODGE	49411	1 18797 3 685	24329 3895	6285	
MARK HARR SON	5248			1460	
JOHN D. HINSON	18965	11548	8660	-1235	
MARVIN KASPER	11481	481 5076	6415	-63	Use Wiza
JOSEPH KOENIG	111288	59611	50467	11810	
JONALD J RADER	99167	17582	18965	2703	
Sum	174077	128562	132105	22133	
JUSEPH KOENIG JONALD J RADER Sum quest Type Detail	111288 99167 174077	59611 17582 128562 out Style	50467 18965 132105	1181J 2703 22133	ОК
C Summary	De	Default (Presentation)			Cancel
Cross-Tab					
C Labels					Help

Figure 3-13 Cross tab request editor

- 5. In the Name field, type AVPROFT.
- 6. In the Description field, type Average profit of makes from 1992 to 1999.
- 7. Choose the Calculation Method list to select the calculation function (Count, Sum, Average, Minimum, Maximum).
- 8. Choose Average.

- 9. A prompt appears in the drop-down list to the right: Choose a Value.
- 10. To indicate which numeric data item you want averaged, choose Choose a Value.

Note that only the numeric or currency data items appear in the list.

11. Choose Gross Profit.

lane	Description					
AVPROF	Average Profit o	f Makes from	1992 to 1999			
	Calculation Method				1	
	Average 💌	of Gros	s Profi	-	Sort -	
		Cho	ose a Value		• AZ ZA	
	Choose a Malue	• One	Т	wo T	nree	
Sort	9					Sunmaria
2	2					
<u> </u>	<i>े</i> अ		20	2	92	
					1	
			I_ Col	Summaries		
E	tter			Cutput	1	
				Report to Scre Layout Style: D	en Sefaut (Presentatio	n)

What to Report on: Rows and Columns

You must now specify the item whose values will be displayed vertically (down the rows) and the item whose values will be displayed horizontally (across the columns).

>To specify data items for a cross-tab Request

- 1. Select Choose a Value directly above the rows (on the left side) to display a drop-down list. (The rows are numbered 1, 2, 3 and so on.)
- 2. Choose Cars Make from the list.

The rows are now headed with the legend, Cars Make, and several sample values of Cars Make are displayed down the rows from the database you are using. The final report will appear with one Car Make per row, as shown on the screen.

- 3. Select Choose a Value directly above the columns to display a dropdown list. (The columns are numbered One, Two, Three and so on.)
- 4. Choose Cars Year from the list.

The columns are now headed with the legend, Cars Year, and several actual data values of Cars Year are displayed in the column headings as a sample.

Vame	Description						
AVPROF	FT Average Prcfr	t of Makes	from 1992 to	1999			
	Calculation Method	J of [Gruss Prufil		•	Sort →	
	Coro Meleo]	Cars Year	1995	1996	AZ ZA	
Sort	CHEVROLET		1500		1550		— E Row Summarie
ź	FORD			1			_
<u> </u>	PONTIAC			0	ő		_
	Filter	Ţ	Г	l Col Surrmari	es utaut 1		
				Report Layout	to Screen Style: Defau	t (Fresentation)	1
1				-1 -1			

Sort Order Options

You can specify sort orders for both the rows and columns. The sort indicators are the two buttons located to the left of the rows and above the columns.



The downward pointing arrow next to the row sort indicator means that the records are listed down the rows, in the order indicated by the
depressed button. AZ indicates the value increases (i.e. alphabetically or numerically ordinal), while ZA indicates the value decreases, as you move down the row.

The rightward pointing arrow above the column sort indicator means that the records are listed from left to right, in the order indicated by the depressed button.

In this Request the columns are ordered chronologically from earliest to latest year, while the rows are listed alphabetically in ascending order (A to Z). Both of these settings are correct for this Request.

≻Summarizing the Values

It is possible to summarize the columns and the rows, using the same calculation method chosen for the cross-tab values. To summarize columns, mark the check box Col Summaries. To summarize the rows, mark the check box Row Summaries.

This sample report does not require row or column summaries.

Filtering data for Cross Tab Requests

You create filters in the same way you create detail and summary Requests. For this Request you only want to see cars for the years 1992 to 1999.

- 1. Choose Filter to open the Filter Builder.
- 2. Choose Add.

A list of available data items appears.

- 3. Choose Cars Year.
- 4. Skip over the Is(Not) column.
- 5. Choose Between from the Relationship drop-down list.
- 6. In the Value(s) field, type the beginning and ending model years: 1984,1988 and choose OK.
- 7. The Filter Builder displays the filter conditions you've specified.
- 8. Choose OK again to return to the Request Editor.

- 9. The Request Editor opens.
- 10. Your Request should look like this:

lame		Description						
AVPROF	T	Average Profit of	Make:	s from 1992 t	o 1999			
	Calco	ulation Method erage	of	Gross Profit		-	Sort 🛶	
				Cars Year			AZ ZA	_
	Cars M	ake		1988	1995	1996		- Row
Sort Z	CHEVE	OLET	- 22					Summarie:
	FORD							_
A	PONTIA	AC						_
[] Eilter			1	Col Summarie	s .tput		
Cars Y	ear Is Be	tween 1992,1999			Report to Layout S	o Screen Style: Default (l	Presentation)	

>Output Type, Previewing, and Saving

The cross-tab Request output defaults to the output type Report with Columns, so you do not need to change the output for this report. At this point you are ready to save your report and preview it.

- 1. Choose Save.
- 2. Choose Preview.
- 3. Your report is displayed.

Note how some of the columns of data for certain makes are blank. This is a typical look of Cross Tab reports. The blanks are because there were no sales of cars for that make and year (so there is no profit to be calculated). Request: AVPROFT Average Profit of Makestion (1992 to 1999

			Crass-Tah Average Maka	e of GrossProfit fo • by Year	•		
Ship1 Pape 1				Wear			
Make	1982	1993	189/1	1895	1996	1997	1988
ACURA			a sasa.	eler-	107	\$ 225.00	\$ 040.00
AMC			\$ 835.00				
ALCI DUAY		S-1,500 W	\$-1,5.0.0	\$ -331.57	\$-5 WUW	\$-2,000.00	
BLICK	£ 282.00	\$ 100.25	3 78	3 1/2.00	\$ 107.50		3 957 50
CALLAC	£ -552 75	\$ 646.57		\$ 370.00	8-2118.33	3-5 300.00	\$ 505.00
CLEMBOLET	T 125-17	0074.00	\$ 96270	04,270.00	1-1 090.07	0 .2417	3 117:00
CHRYSLER	£ 485 00			34,300.00	1-1 995.00	\$-6,200.00	\$ 470.00
DATSUN	£ -857 85	\$ 343.33	\$ 687.50				
DODOT	1 27 01	1.95 M	\$ 101.25	0 -290 22	T 24101	T -305.00	3-2 102 50
FCRD	‡ 221 21	\$ 371.11	\$ 298.44	£ -0.45	1-1 951.48	‡ -∂67 22	3- 357.22
ONIC			\$ 730.00	\$-4,50 67		-11,400.00	
100004	1 190 Gz	9.417:0	5 302 15	9 1211 11	1 12/5		\$ 101111
HYUNDAL						‡ -282 50	\$ -871 67
ISLED			\$ 800.00		£ 580 00	\$ 3,005.00	\$ 600.00
a -				S- (140.0k)	14 94:010	\$4, 02111	
LINCOLN				3-5,500 00	\$ -968.67		
MAZDA	ž 15E 33	\$ 258.75	\$ 198.00	\$ 1,825.00	\$168250	£ 145.00	3 : 301.50
MEDCED 3	\$ 2,24 0		\$1,990.0				\$ 50110
MERCURY	£ 75C 00	\$ 900.00	\$ \$75.00	3 810.53	1-1 355.00	\$-4,7:0.00	31,500.00

>Other Cross Tab Options

There are other options available on the Cross-Tab Request Editor.

You can create column and/or row summaries by clicking the appropriate checkbox. The example given below shows you what the report would look like with both Row and Column summaries turned on.

Note that for this example, an additional filter has been applied so that only Makes starting with the letter M are shown.



Creating a Request with an Outer Join

Outer joins are a special kind of filter condition where there are unmatched records between two joined tables.

An outer join is needed when the result joins two tables and you wish to include the records in one table, which have no match in the second.

This exercise demonstrates how to include outer join results in a report. To simplify the steps, you will modify the Request SAMPLE2.

Business Specification:

The Business Manager wants to be able to track expense information for all cars in inventory. She likes the format of the report called SAMPLE2, but wants to see Expense Date and Expense Repair Order Amount instead of information related to the transmission, purchase price, and mileage.

➤To create a request with an outer join

- 1. In the Request Manager highlight the Request SAMPLE2, and choose Edit.
- 2. Review the Request components in the Request Editor.

lame	Description		26
SAMPLE2	Audi's or BMW's In Inventory		
⊇ata Items			
07/03/2000	Audi's or	r BMW's in inventory	Page ##
Stock# Make	- Model Mileage Color Driv	e Daid Trane Dure	
1500 PONT	IAC FIREBRD 147123 WHITE	1100 4 Speed CC/P	
-			~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
<u>F</u> iter	Joins	Sort + <u>G</u> roup	
ars Make Is Li		t Cars Make	Gnp
	OR	— t Cars Model	
Cars Make Is Li	(C AUDI		
	1		
Output	Request Type Detai		
<u>O</u> utput laster/Detai Re avout Style Pr	Request Type Detail		
Ourput laster/Detai Re ayout Style Pr	Request Type Detail port w/Group Headings To Screen esentation		

3. Choose Run and look over the Request in the Page Preview.

Note the two Audis whose Stock #s are 2387 and 2389. They appear in the report at the bottom of the Audi group.

- 4. Choose Close to return to the Request Editor.
- 5. Choose Data Items.
- 6. Remove the data items Cars Transmission, Cars Purchase Price, and Cars Mileage from the Selected list (selecting them moves them to the Available list).
- 7. Add the data items Expenses Date of Expense and Expenses Repair Order Amount.
 - **Note:** Expenses are kept in a separate table from Cars. *Foxfire!* knows that the information in the Stockno field links the tables. It will join them automatically in all Requests where Cars and Expenses data is selected. Refer to the E-R diagram in Chapter 2 for a graphical representation of the table relationships in the sample database.
- 8. Choose Close or OK to return to the Request Editor.

aus	Description		
SAMPOJ	BMW or Audi cars in inventory with exp	enses	
<u>D</u> ata Items			
07/03/2000 Stock# Make 1500 PONTI/	BMW or Audi cars in in Expense Re Model <u>Color Pure Date An</u> AC FIREBIRD WHITE CC/P 01/01/80	ventory with expenses pair nount 70.00	Page ##
<u>F</u> itter	Loins	Sort + <u>G</u> roup	
Cars Make Is Like Cars Maka Is Like	: BM// OR AUDI	† Cars Make ∵t Cars Model	Grp
Qutput	Request Type Detail		
Apotor Dotail Par	on woroup nearings to screen		

9. The request should now look like the following:

10. Choose Save As. Name the modified Request SAMPLEOJ. Add "with expenses" to the description.

11. Choose OK. Run the Request.

Note that Audi 2387 and 2389 are no longer listed.

This is because there are no expenses for these vehicles. When a Request contains data from two linked tables, by default *Foxfire!* automatically excludes records that have no link to information in the other file.

Perhaps this is not what you wanted, though. Suppose you wish to see all vehicles, regardless of whether they had repair expenses or not.

In database terminology, this is an "outer join". *Foxfire!* makes it easy to adjust this Request to create this result. You can override this default behavior when setting up your *Foxfire!* data dictionary or on a Request by Request basis.

The instructions below, show how to override this setting for one Request.

- 1. Choose OK to close the Page Preview window, then Close to return to the Request Editor.
- 2. Choose Joins next to the Filter button.

Left	Parent	Right	Child	CARS	EXPENSES
CARS		EXPENSI	ES		
				_	••
				-	
				¥.	
\backslash		Ji	oin Type: INNER		
Join Descriptor	n				
Include ONLY	CARS that have ma EXPENSES that hav	atching EXPENSES ve matching CARS			
SQ_ Options			Reset	to Defaults	View Join Tree
🔽 Use J	ION clause to relate	e tables	<u></u>		
I⊽ Use J ເ⊂	ION clause to relate Nested:Sequential #	e tables style	1		

Note that the form shows all of the tables needed for the Request and their relationships (i.e. Cars and Expenses).

Also note that the text in the middle of the form indicates what kind of records from both tables will be selected.

For this example, we want to include all Cars whether or not there are associated expenses for the car.

Indicates that only records with **both** CARS and EXPENSES will be selected 3. To do this, click the box to the left of Cars (meaning that you want to include ALL cars). The form now looks like this:

	Joins for D	equest SANPOJ	- DMW or Audi	cars in inventory w	with expenses	>	
	Left	Parent	Right	Child	CARS	EXPENSES	
				is		*****	
Note how — he picture	Join Description	n	J	и́н Туре. LEFT OUTER	[
now ndicates hat ALL	holude ALL C holude ONLY	ARS whether or r EXPENSES that h	not there are matchin ave matching CARS	9 EXPENSES		N	
CARS will be selected even if	SQL Options Vise JOIN cause to relate tables Nosted/Sequential style Sequential style on y			Rese	set to Defaults Vew Join Tree		
nere are	<u>Li</u> elp.,]			[OK Carcel	

Note that the text in the middle of the form now indicates that the Request will select ALL CARS whether or not there are matching EXPENSES.

Also note how the picture on the right of form indicates that there could be Cars data without any corresponding Expense data.

4. Choose OK. Choose Run.

Audi 2387 and 2389 are again included in the report. Note that the Expense Date and Repair Amount column entries for these two cars (as well as others) are blank. Reports with "gaps" like this are typical of outer joined Requests.

5. Choose Close when you are done to return to the Request Editor, and Close to return to the Request Manager.

Foxfire!'s Join dialog gives you the ability to specify how data from every table referenced in the Request is selected regardless of whether or not there is matching data in the related table. Simply check the box next to the table containing the data you want to always select. If you check both boxes, then all data from both tables will be selected

Limiting a Request to the Top N Values

Foxfire! offers special filter feature when you want to report only the highest (or lowest), first (or last), or top (or bottom) values from each group.

Business Specification:

The District Manager would like to know, for all cars sold last year for a specific make, what where the top 3 highest grossing profit sales.

We already have a Request (PROF_ANL) which shows sale price and gross profit (sorted with the biggest gross profit first) for each car sold in the last year.

>To limit a request to the Top *N Values*

- 1. From the Request Manager, highlight the Request PROF_ANL, Profit analysis by dealer, and choose Edit.
- 2. In the Request Editor, choose Save As.
- 3. Enter the new name PROFTOP3 and add top 3 cars for each model to the description. Choose OK.
- 4. Run the Request. In the Enter Values dialog, type FORD and a heading of your choice. Choose OK.
- 5. In the Page Preview, note there are 7 Broncos and 7 Escorts. Each model group is ordered from the most profitable to the least.
- 6. Choose the Open Door icon to open the Output Choices window. Choose Close to return to the Request Editor.
- 7. Choose Filter.
- 8. Choose Top N.

The Top N Values dialog appears:

Include only the frst	0 =		
		 	 v
Use SQL TOP N			
TOP N values			
C TOP N percent			

Figure 3-14 Top N Values dialog

9. In the Number of Data Item Values section of the Top N Values dialog, choose the check box labeled Include only the first.

This turns on the spinner selector to the right, which defaults to the value 5. Reduce this to 3 by clicking on the down arrow or entering a 3.

The drop-down list shows Cars Make. This would give you sales data for the first three makes which appear on the report — not what we want since we are being prompted for a specific Car Make we will only get one make on the request. This results in all the data on the report being displayed as if we never picked the Top N option.

If you picked Cars Model for each Car Make, you would get the sales information for all of the cars sold last year for the specific make and the alphabetically first three models. Again, not what we want.

10. Instead, choose **Gross Profit** for each Cars Model. This yields the top 3 gross profits for each model of car sold last year for a specific make.

Note the reason this works is because the Request is sorted and grouped by Cars Make, Cars Model, and Gross Profit (sorted in descending order – biggest profit first).

eme	L'escription		-
PROFOP3	Profit analysis by cealer top 3 cars		
⊇ata teme .			
DG:20/2000 Pure Stock# from 1500 Aret	Profit enalysis by d hased Dealer Make Model Price Revd Pr I enda PONTIAC TIREDIRO 1000 20	iceler top 3 cars rofit Mileage 30.00 '47122	Poge ##
Filer	Jui is .	Suit + Group	
Care Year Is A Care Date Purc Care Date Price Care Make Is L	ller 1984 resektis Estween 01/01/1999,12/31/1999 Is Moro Than 0.00 Ke (jask at runtime)	I Cars Vlaks T Cars Model Orces Profi	Стр Стр
<u>O</u> uto d	Request Type Detail		
Quito J Mester Dietai K Layout Stylix ि	Request Type Detail soort wit-sige Headings To Screen scortation		

- 11. Choose OK to return to the Request Editor, then choose Run.
- 12. In the Enter Values dialog, enter FORD and a heading of your choice. Choose OK
- 13. Review the report again in the Page Preview. This time, only the 3 most profitable Broncos and Escorts are listed.
- 14. Choose OK, then Close the Output Choices window to return to the Request Editor.

Note that the other option on the Top N dialog Use SQL Top N gives you the option to show <u>only</u> the top N records selected or top N percent of <u>all</u> the records selected for the request. If you select this option, you will only get N records shown on your Request. Whereas, if you do not pick this option, you will get the top N records in the group that you specified in the dropdown.

Report Output Types

Foxfire! offers four (4) standard output format for Report Output Types. These different Report Output Types can also be used to modify the layout of the report so that more data can be displayed without having to use the 'Fit to Page' option discussed above.

This section describes each of these different output formats and provides examples using the Sample report you created earlier.

Column Output Format

In this output type, each page of the report shows the current page number, the column headings associated with each selected data item.

For each group identified on the request, the group heading and value is displayed followed by each record in that group. The selected data items are displayed in **columns** under each data item header. At the end of the group, the group footer is displayed including any calculated group items. This pattern is repeated for each group on the report. Note that even though the group information is shown at the top and bottom of the group, it also appears with the other selected data items.



Form Output Format

In this output type, only the page numbers are displayed at the top of each report. No group information is displayed. The selected data item "column headings" are displayed to the left of each data item, and the data for each record that appears on the report is displayed vertically on the page with a single blank line between each record. Note that all selected data items appear vertically down the page, even those selected as group fields.



Master/Detail – Group Headings Format

In this output type, each page contains the page number at the top of the page.

For each group that appears on the report, the group header is followed by the column headings for the selected data item. The records for that group are then displayed. Each record contains data for all of the selected data items except for the group by items (since this data was just displayed in the group header).

At the end of the group, the group footer information is displayed.

This request output type is good to use when you have more data items selected then you can display on a printed report, since the group by items are pulled out of the widest part of the request. Column Headings appear at the top of each group

Request: S Inventory (AMPLE1)n Hand		 Note the not approximately 	hat the grou	ip data d with the	oes		
Page 1			columr	n data				
Make: A	NDI							
Stock#	Mode		Mileage	Color	Pric	e Paid	Trans	Purc
2448	5000		110291	SILVER	\$	1,500	3 Speed	MLM
2018	5000S		92836	BLUE	\$	1,500	5 Speed	SLCP
2387	5000S		129127	GREY	\$	2,000	5 Speed	MLM
2389	5000S		73767		\$	5,000	Automatic	AEI
Total s for	Make:	AUDI			82			
		I	Avg. 101505		\$	10,000		
Make: E	BMW							
Stock#	Mode	li -	Mileage	Color	Pric	e Paid	Trans	Purc
2251	3201		91623	0	\$	2,000	4 Speed	RMS
Total s for	Make:	BMW						
			Avg. 91623		\$	2,000		

Master/Detail – Page Headings Format

In this output type, each page contains the page number and selected data item column headings at the top of the page.

For each group that appears on the report, the records for that group immediately follow the group header. Each record contains data for all of the selected data items except for the group by items (since this data was just displayed in the group header).

At the end of the group, the group footer information is displayed.

This request output type is good to use when you have more data items selected then you can display on a printed report, since the group by items are pulled out of the widest part of the request. It is less cluttered than the Master/Detail – Group Headings output type, because the column headings only appear at the top of the page, rather than at the top of each group.

Column Headings appear at the top of the page only

Request: SAMPLE1 Inventory On Hand

Page 1

Stock#	Model		Mileage	Color	Price Paid	Trans	Purc
Make:	AUDI						
2448	5000		110291	SILVER	\$ 1,500	3 Speed	MLM
2018	5000S		92836	BLUE	\$ 1,500	5 Speed	SUCP
2387	5000S		129127	GREY	\$ 2,000	5 Speed	MLM
2389	5000S		73767		\$ 5,000	Automatic	ABI
Total sfor	Make:	AUDI			8		
			Avg. 101505		\$ 10,000		
Make:	BMW						
2251	3201		91623		\$ 2,000	4 Speed	RMS
Total sfor	Make:	BMW			8. 		
			Avg. 91623		\$ 2,000		

Advanced Tutorial

Creating an Ask at Runtime Filter

A common situation in reporting is the need to run a report many times, each time with a small variation in how the report is filtered. Perhaps you want to run the same report, but for a different customer, or a different range of dates. *Foxfire!* provides this kind of reporting flexibility with an Ask at Runtime filter.

In this exercise, you will edit an existing Request, JALOPIES, to add an Ask at Runtime filter condition.

≻To create an Ask at Runtime filter

- 1. From the Request Manager, choose the Request JALOPIES under the Examples of Special Features Folder
- 2. Choose Edit from the toolbar.
- 3. Choose Data Items.
- 4. Add the data item Cars Date of Sale to the Selected list.
- 5. Choose Filter from the navigation bar.
- 6. Choose Add to add a new filter condition.
- 7. Choose Cars Date of Sale from the Data Item drop-down list.
- 8. Choose Between from the Relationship drop-down list.
- 9. Leave the Value(s) entry blank. Instead, choose the Ask at Runtime checkbox.
- 10. Choose OK, then Run from the Request Editor.
- 11. You will see the ask-at-runtime Enter Values dialog. Enter the heading Jalopies sold in May and June 1989. Enter the date range 05/01/89, 06/30/89.

Examine the Request in the **Preview** window. You'll see that only "jalopies" (low cost, high mileage cars) sold during your selected date range are listed.

Note: *Foxfire!* has a more sophisticated Ask at Runtime option which presents the full Filter Builder when the Request is run, instead of the simple Enter Values dialog seen in the above example. See 4-29 for more information.

Changing a Layout Style

This exercise is an example of how to change a Request's layout style. It is also an example of how to change a Request so that its output can be browsed on a Web Page. You do this by changing the layout style to one that adds the necessary Hypertext Markup Language (HTML) to the Request's results.

Note: These instructions show you how to add HTML notations to a Request's results so it can be browsed on a Web page. They do not attempt to cover the more technical issues of obtaining a Web server, creating a home page, and other aspects of making items accessible on the World Wide Web, which are beyond the scope of this manual.

≻To change a Request's layout style

- 1. From the Request Manager Examples of Special Features folder, highlight the Request QUARTILE and choose Output from the navigation bar.
- 2. In the Output Selector, choose Character-Web Page from the Style drop-down list.
- 3. Choose OK, then Run.

Notice in the Report Preview that HTML instructions now appear in brackets in the output. This allows the output to be viewed in a Web browser.

Output Type	Report	Master/D	etail-Group Headings	<u> </u>				
	Layout							
	Auto Format from 1	< Auto Format from Template >						
	Style	Style Customization						
	Character-Web Page		<u>E</u> dit	<u>C</u> hoose				
	Options		Save <u>a</u> s	Auto Eormat				
end To								
C Printer			-	Setup				
Screen	, 			Options				
pecial Proce	essing Options.							

- 4. Choose Close to return to the Request Manager.
- 5. Choose **Preview** to preview the request.

	1	<html><heai Quartile r: <th>D><title> ank (profit) HEAD><body> <pf< th=""><th>RE></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></pf<></body></title></th></heai </html>	D> <title> ank (profit) HEAD><body> <pf< th=""><th>RE></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></pf<></body></title>	RE>					
Note the HTML tags	/	Request: Q Quartile ra	JARTILE ank (profit)						
that are built into the		Page 1							
report output. This allows the report to		Make	- Mode I	Mileage	Color		Profit	Vehicle ID No.	Last Update
		HONDA HONDA	WAGEN ACCORD	67852 125187		\$ \$	1,130.00	003873 126409	GM RMK
viewed in a Web		HONDA HONDA	PRELUDE CIVIC	94878 68704 121892	RED	\$	1,005.00 950.00	013011 044256 032410	LMC GM
Browser		HONDA	ACCORD	91502 142873	BLUE RED	\$	800.00 775.00	070993 006629	RMK GM
		HONDA Totals for	ACCORD Quartile:	85754 1 Avg.	GREEN	\$ -	660.00	068101	LMC
		Quartile:	2	99630		7	7,303.00		
		Make	Model	Mileage	Color		Profit	Vehicle ID No.	Last Update
		HONDA HONDA HONDA	ACCORD ACCORD ACCORD ACCORD	90912 38002 87627	BROWN		635.00 600.00 530.00	105980 018106 055010	GM GM GM

Figure 3-15 Example of HTMLOutput

Foxfire! provides a variety of other layout styles for you to use. Below is an example of each of the different layout styles which are available.

Try changing the layout styles for this report to some of the other types available on the Output dialog.



Presentation Style





Executive Style



Ledger Style

2	 ı			-
		۰	۰	E

1

10121010-0000000-0004

				I E DI CI E	LASE
Little bolding. —	date	fin de l	felenge Lufur	Frafel fib ta.	Intele
	111ba	VA.61	67857	I .131.11 11383	64
Uses a small	UT DA	ALLEND	1751.67	§ 1.175.11 176419	L.H.S
monospaced	111M	PRELIDE	94878 KFD	• 1.115.11 113111	LHE
font to fit more	III MA	11+11	68714	k 951.11 144756	64
	111MA	11=11	171887	4 111.11 137411	LHC
information on	UT DA	ALLEND	11517 Luf	6 011.11 171991	L HC
standard size	11104	[][[147873 KFD	§ 775.11 116675	64
	ULUDA.	ALLEND	85754 6KFF+	4 661.11 161111	LHE
paper	Talats Fa	e hartile	10	1. 	
			A-4.		
	harli'r	2			
				Set of a	Last
	Hate	Hante I	Cleage Color	Profet fit to .	Iptele
	11 MA	ALLERO	1117 10/0	- 635.11 (159M	64
	111M	ALLEND	11117	611.11 [13116	64
	11104	ALLEND	67677	§ \$11.11 155111	64
	UT DA	11+11	B4716 VOLTE	4 461.11 115454	64
	UT DA	11=13	THIAN STUTU	• 185.11 114868	LHC .
	111MA	[][[17745 STLOFE	A 115.88 817191	I.HC
	11104	ALLERO	187777 STLEFT	A 115.88 (88585)	64
	111 DA	ALLEND	64415	k 171.11 174711	64
	111MA	11+11	64711	4 115.00 007010	64
	Tatals Ta	e koertile -	2 7 - 2	10 T	
			A-4. 75651	× 1.115.01	

Character Style

	Request: QU Quartile ra	ARTILE nk (profit)						
Na	Page 1							
NO formatting	Quartile:	1						
Mana							Vehicle	Last
IVIONO-	Make	Model	Mileage	Color		Profit	ID No.	Update
spaced font	HONDA	WAGEN	67852		\$	1,130.00	003873	GM
	HONDA	ACCORD	125187		\$	1,075.00	126409	RMK
	HÓNDA	PRELUDE	94878	RED	\$	1,005.00	013011	LMC
	HONDA	CIUIC	68704		\$	950.00	044256	GM
	HONDA	CIUIC	121892		\$	910.00	A3241A	I MC
	HONDA	ACCORD	91502	BLUE	\$	800.00	070993	RMK
	HONDA	CRH	142070	RED	\$	775.00	006629	GM
	HONDA	ACCORD	85754	GREEN	\$	660.00	068101	LMC
	Totals for	Quartile:	1 Avg.		-	7 205 80		

Other Layout Options

This section describes some of the other layout options available when working with Requests. These options allow you to control on a request by request basis the spacing between rows or columns, what kind of filter conditions are displayed on the request, and how much of the detail data is shown on the request.

- 1. From the Request Manager, highlight the INV_ORG request.
- 2. Right click and choose Output
- 3. Choose Options (under the Style drop down)

how filter conditions on report	Formatting
C None	Always Prompt for Header
CAII	🗖 Suppress detail lines
Ask-at-Runtime conditions only	Fit to page
etail ₋ine Spacing Use	Suppress repeat values in first 0 👮 Columns
olumn spacing	

Figure 3-18 Layout Options dialog

- 4. Select All under Show filter conditions on report
- 5. Choose OK
- 6. Choose OK to return to the Request Editor
- 7. Preview the report

Notice how the ask at runtime and "hard coded" filter conditions are displayed at the top of the request.

- 8. Return to the Output Options dialog
- 9. Choose Always Prompt for Header
- 10. Preview the Request

Note that now you are prompted to specify a heading when you run the request and that the heading you type in appears at the top of the first page of the output.

Directing Output to a File

It is often useful to send the results of a Request to a file, which you can then manipulate further, for additional analysis. You may want to work with the results in a spreadsheet, or add additional formatting with a word processor. It is also useful to send a Request's output to a table, then use FoxPro to perform additional processing on the records.

In this exercise you will send the Request's output to a file, specifically a table (DBF file).

>To direct a Request's output to a table

- 1. From the Request Manager, highlight Request QUARTILE and choose Output from the navigation bar.
- 2. In the Output Selector, choose Data from the left Output Type drop-down list. (You may have to scroll down to find it.)

An advisory message reminds you that group options will not appear in the output.

3. Choose OK, then Run in the Request Editor.

Foxfire! creates the file QUARTILE.DBF in your \OUT subdirectory. You may use Windows Explorer to confirm that the file QUARTILE.DBF is now there.

Similarly, *Foxfire!* can create several formats of ASCII and data files. Just select the type you want in the Output Type drop-down lists. Choose OK, then Run.

Directing Output to a Graph

Foxfire! can send a Request's output directly to Microsoft Excel as a spreadsheet, chart or pivot table. In this exercise you are going to create a Request, *Foxfire!* automatically starts Excel, then places you in Excel with the generated chart active.

>To direct a Request's output to an Excel chart

- 1. Create a new Request, choosing Summary as the Request type. Enter XLCHART as the Request name and Summary Comparison of Price Paid and Profit as the description.
- 2. Choose Data Items and select the following data items:

Cars Make

Sum of Cars Purchase Price

Sum of Gross Profit

- **Reminder:** To create an aggregate data item in a Summary Request, highlight the data item in the Available list, then choose the appropriate calculation button (located below the Available list), in this case, Sum.
- 3. Move to the Filter Builder and add the filter condition:

Cars Make - Is - In the List - Honda, Ford

4. Move to the Output Selector and change the Output Type to

Graph – Excel Chart – 3D Column.

5. Return to the Request Editor and run the Request.

If Excel is not already running, *Foxfire!* launches it with the chart displayed. You can then use the regular Excel Chart tools to edit the chart as desired.



Figure 3-19 Example of Output to Excel Graph

Some Points to Keep in Mind

Generally, Excel graphs provide the most useful information (and are most readable) when the number of rows in the result set is small. The following suggestions will help reduce the number of rows without omitting essential information.

- ✓ Use summary type Requests. Summary Requests Creating A Summary Request will, by default, group all character or data type data items. Grouping items condenses the data. Although you can certainly use detail Requests for charts, they frequently produce too much detail for the chart to be readable.
- ✓ Use aggregating calculations on numeric data items, such as Sum, to limiting the number of rows in the output.
- \checkmark Use a filter to further reduce the size of the result set.

Limiting the rows in the result set creates readable charts. If you had created this Request as a detail type, even with the same filter, there would have been over 150 rows in the result set, which would result in 150 columns in the chart – a chart that's not very readable. For more

information on creating Excel charts, see "Working With MS Office" on page 4-58.

Directing Output to a Pivot Table

The following exercise demonstrates a number of interesting ways in which you can analyze related character, date, and numeric data as a pivot table in Excel.

>To direct a Request's output to a pivot table

- 1. Create a new Request, choosing Detail as the Request type.
- 2. Enter XLPIVOT as the Request name and Comparison of Price Paid and Profit as the description.
- 3. Choose Data Items and select the following data items:

Cars Make

Cars Purchase Price

Cars Date Purchased

Gross Profit

4. Move to the Filter Builder and add the filter conditions:

Cars Make – Is – In the List – BUICK, FORD, HONDA

Cars Date of Sale - Is Not - Empty

- 5. Move to the Output Selector and change the Output Type to Spreadsheet Excel (XLS) Launch Pivot Table.
- 6. Return to the Request Editor and Run the Request.

Foxfire! launches Excel and places you in it, with the generated pivot table displayed.

X	Microsoft Exce	l xlpivot.xls									
1)∃le Idit ⊠ie	w insert Forma	at Iocs	Data	凶 no	30K	∐elp				
ÎC	i 🧉 🖬 🛎 🖻	17 法 距 副 📢	N7 + 74		Σ	,fa	21 ZI	10 1	10	100% *	
A	6	· D - T Z U		= 151	a %		*2 -2	4E 6	E 55	. 3.	Α.
11.1	a: •	 Make 		-			100 610		- 1.00		-
	A	E	6	С	Ξ		100	1	S	н	1
1			Data		1						
2	Make	Plinch Cr	Tite Pail	Pr-f-	Pin	tTak	le			E	
Э	DUICK	7/12/99	D. CO	765	P	viot	Table 🔻	17 1			
4		7/13/99	5291	698			10000-01	1000		10000	-
5		7/25/99	7400	1105	+	+	5.62			100 E	
К		7.577,94	1411	/n I	-	_		-			-
7		8.200	1300	360				_			
8		8/5/95	4LU	300							
9		8/3/90	4300	IC45							-
1		CU993		2094							_
41		6/23/90	D.C0	285		-		-			-
12		C/D3/99	7700	1620							-
1.2		9/4/94	51/0 MOTO	11111		-		-			-
14	10.02.4	3/2/99	11.00	111		-		-	-		-
15	BUIGS I II	17/000	h1' 1/	1.65		-		-			-
10	FORD	7/5/90	3400	449.4		_		-			-
17		7/12/94	17000	1503							-
10		7/15/03	17.00	1200		-					
10		7/02/02	10008	6010				-			-
20		0732	2000	C460		-		-	-		-
21		9/2/02	2200	2105				1			-
7-		0.5/93	2/2/9	-795		-		-			-
1		51224		24		-					-
76			3750	1050		-		-			-
1th		E/14/94	-1411	2011		-					-
27		8/15/00	3375	100							1
21		L(1):099	الترزا	£12.1							
20		8/13/00	13400	300							
30	1	C/21/99	9° CO	-200							
31		8/22/93	3900	EUJ							
CZ.		0,20/99	25426	4069							
		E-04/44	64.0	48.1					-		

Figure 3-20 Output to Pivot Table Example

By default *Foxfire!* will put all character or date data items as rows in the generated pivot table. In this example the row consists of the data items Cars Make and Cars Date Purchased.

Numeric data items are, by default, summed and form the core of the pivot table around which the character and date data items pivot. If there is more than one numeric data item, then a column button labeled Data is created to represent all numeric data in the pivot table. In this example, Cars Purchase Price and Gross Profit are summed separately, but can be arranged vertically or horizontally in the pivot table by dragging the Data button.

Once the pivot ttable is created, you can rearrange the table column and row fields to change the analysis of you r data. When you move a selected row, column, or data field to a new position, Excel automatically recalculates the data, giving you a new perspective on the data.

The steps below take you through a simple rearrangement of the sample pivot table. For more detailed information on using pivot tables, consult Excel's User's Guide and on-line help.

>To change the layout of the sample pivot table

1. Select the row button labeled Purch Dt and drag it straight up to the top row of the pivot table to the immediate left of the Data button.

As you drag the Purch Dt button, notice how the table icon associated with the mouse cursor changes form to indicate whether or not the data that you are dragging will be positioned as a row or column. When the cursor icon changes to a horizontal form you will know that the data item will now be displayed as columns instead of rows.

🗙 Microsoft Excel - xipivot.xis 🞦 Eile Et t 🛛 ew Insert Format Icols Data 🖄 ndow Help 1 時日 森区(()) F 10 11 ダ 10 - 12 - 18 参 1 エル封計 単 参え 111 - 13 Ar a 211 ProdeD, Data 2064 77 8899 7494 7.6634-MAL Price Pall Probl M ik : Pi a Pi, I, Prild a Pa I Publ Pria Pa 1 Prili a Part Publ Price Paul Prof 46.4 165 BUICK 31 L J 529 45_ 64LU 2111 040 1300 FORD 83 1183 0.414 309 diel 1 Z.5 Z.5 9500 440 J HCNDA 15 300 1.000 34/5 ór. 1-dl 11 .40 14-- 15 1#4 2-703 .25/5 -245

- 2. Choose the Purch Dt button (the selected button appears recessed).
- 3. While the focus is on a date cell, choose the Group button on the Pivot Table toolbar to open the Grouping dialog. (If the Pivot Table toolbar is not displayed, use the Toolbars option on the View menu to activate it.)
- 4. For date data types, the Grouping dialog defaults to Months.



- 5. Choose OK.
- 6. While the focus is again on a date cell, choose the Group button again. While leaving Months highlighted, choose Quarters (so both

"Purch Dt" now apears as a row, instead of as a column. are highlighted). The pivot table will now summarize the data by month and quarter, as displayed below.

	🗙 Microsoft I	Excel - xlpivot.xls								
	🔁 Eile 💷	🖺 Eile Epit Miew Insert Format Tools Data Window Lelp								
	n 🍃 🕒 / Z	ል 🖉 🕹 🖻 🛍 🕯	🖞 अव स वस से 🍓 🏘	¥ 🌬 🤹 🕌 🎒 🔮	🤣 111 % · 🕑					
	A1-1	- III - II Z	이 문문문질 봐	* , 13 - 28	9 . 💩 . <u>A</u> .					
Data is now	11 ²									
recalculated	A	во	Ŭ E	F G	н	J	×			
	1	Oncrees Frish DL	Data							
and displayed	2	012	ាក			Trial Frice Paid	Thtal Profit			
by months and	3	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep					
by months and	4 Make	Price Paid Eroft	Price Paid Froft	Price Paic Erof:	Price Paic Froft					
quarters	5 CUICK		17241 0008	02001 6701	16376 1870	££117	11253			
40.00.0010	5 FORD		6855J 15UU	268520 29451	600/9 /Le6	387265	61437			
	Z HONDA	225 118	18175 1816	44550 10120	180° 669	F4551	12473			
	B Grand Total	225 -115	103773 20404	94517° 45755	78555 99955	577927	75223			

Restoring Your Preference Set Setting

After you have completed this final exercise, return to the **Request** Manager and check the Preference Set setting to be sure it's the same as it was when you started. Repeat the steps on "Selecting the Sample Preference Set" on page 3-8 to verify that the settings are the same as those you wrote down at the beginning of this chapter. If they have changed reset them to their original condition.

You should now be able to use *Foxfire!* with your own application.

Chapter 4

This chapter provides detailed descriptions of the features and functions of *Foxfire!* and gives step-by-step instructions for more complicated procedures. The chapter is organized to follow a logical progression (or User's approach) through *Foxfire!*. To quickly locate a specific topic or feature, consult the index.

Getting Help

In *Foxfire!*, help is available several ways:

≻On-line Help Messages

On-line help messages display a single line of help text at the bottom of the screen to provide information about the active screen control.

The dotted line around the text on the button	Qutput Columnar Repu Layout Style: F	Output Columnar Report To Screen Layout Style: Presentation						
indicates this is the	<u>R</u> un	Preview	Count	Show SQL	displays the correspondi			
control.	Request(s): 20 Choose to specify th	User: SYSTEM	options for this	Preference: Sample Request	line help message.			

Figure 4-1

➤Context Sensitive Help

Context sensitive help is available throughout the program. Any time you want an explanation of a feature, highlight it and press F1.

	🔀 Request Edito	or -						
	Name Desci	ription						
	<u>D</u> ata Items	Tory Cirrana						
ontext -	09.25/2000	Inventory On Hand	Page ##					
ensitive help	Stock# Mat	lelp for Output - Esc to Exit	- 🗆 🗙					
r 'Output'	150C PON Choo	ose Output to specify the form, γp∋, and destination of the Request	tresults.					
utton	Eiter Outpu	 Output types include: browse, report, labels, graphs, spreadsheet, mail merge, ASCII, data. Depending on the type of output, results can be directed to screen printer, or file. 						
	Cars Date ()* 3 Cars Make to 1 You c	, orne. :an a ∈o do printer setuc from here.						
	Quipui Re	equest Type Detail						
	Columnar Report To Sci Layout Style: Presentati	resn ion						
	<u>R</u> un Prev <u>i</u>	jew Co.int Show SD_ Seve Save as	Cose					

Figure 4-2 Context Sensitive Help

≻Help Button

A Help button is available in the bottom left hand corner of some windows. Choose this button for an explanation of features in that window.



Figure 4-3 System Help

≻About Foxfire! Report Writer

About Foxfire! is a set of windows which explain the purpose of *Foxfire*! and contain contact information. It also contains an explanation of the sample data set. To access About Foxfire! from the Request Manager, pull down the *Foxfire*! menu and choose About Foxfire!

About Foxfire! Quer	y Tool and Repo	ort Writer		
∾c come to Faxtire! (P.) Report	Writer, the award winni	ng query and report writer for	FoxΠto	-
Fuxfile provides a managed qu quaries and reports. Foxfirel of results without worrying about	ery envirorment so end fers a user choices in fa technical details. The or	user's can quickly and easily miliar language so they can fo htton line goof-proof end us	create ad hoc ocus on their ær reportin <u>c</u> .	
-or developers, -oxtire! is an ic source code, data dictionary, a n ather commercial grade repo	keal vva⊻ toince;)rate tull no "ogic hool:s' provide rt writers.	ad hop guery/reporting with g a level of control and custom	ustem apps. Full zation unovailable	
Review the list of topics at the on «Map of Foxfrets. To revie Degram≻. For more information	lower left for more inform wilte sample database f -, choose ≺Howi To Orde	nation. To review Foxtirel's o or the tutorial click on «Demo ar».	rganizəton, olick Filə Relativi ship	
				¥
kout Foxfire	Map of <u>F</u> oxfire!	<u>Denio Fle Relatio istrps</u>	<u>Q</u> use	
astomizabilty				_
consing				
oout Micromega				

Figure 4-4 About Foxfire!

Request Manager

The Request Manager is the control center for *Foxfire*!. It lists existing Requests and provides access to the functions for creating new Requests and provides access to the functions for creating new Requests or editing existing ones.

	-	Foxfirel F Filo Ecil V	Report Writer Vindow Holp	<u>91</u>									
		Bllequest	Monager - II	lequests II	nat								X 51 -
	10	Lie Vie	w Loos										
Command	_	: Ruu	Principaci	D New	Fri T	× Del-le	I ∎• Ext	Dcinary	T Reg Tise	Siew View	× *		
Buttons	F	Peou-el Tree			Cruleo s of R-spo-sis R o '								
	1	Kequests Rott			R-ques	3	D-strpin			Oulput	Турн	lx-r	Del-
	- 1	- 🙆 Exan	icias or Scecia	Features	BEINV	ORG	live Lity on	rianz (Origina	Request)	Ril	GETAIL	SYSTEM	06/25/2010
	- 11	- 🔄 Sale:	Records		💽 I RGI	FKPEN	Largest exp	e sefrenci	я.	R:I	DETAIL	SYSTEM	12/01/1959
		••• 🛄 Inventory Records			🖪 MI 🗅	-JON	⊭ons fou different tables Proft anaγsis by desler			R.H	DETAIL	30STEM	12/01/1959
	- 11				PROFLANE SALLORIO					Rđ	DETAIL	3'rSTEM	02/24/2000
	- 11						Splee Repor	Splee Report (Original)			DETAIL	SYSTEM	06/06/2010
					E SE SEXAM		Solcoman Huil Name Exomple			Rct	DELAL	SYSTEM	0665672010
List of				M MORDARAD		Ano.c wiab.	Mouth what for joing texture up			DELAL	SYSTEM	12/01/1959	
Requests													
		Percuest(x): 2	liser '	SVISTEM		Freference	· Fample Data	S H					
													NUM

Figure 4-5 Foxfire! Request Manager

Request List

The Request Manager displays a list of your saved Requests for the active Preference Set. Each line in the Request Manager identifies a stored Request. For each Request the following information is displayed.

- ✓ Short name
- ✓ Description
- ✓ Type of Output
- \checkmark User who created it
- \checkmark Creation date

Command Buttons in the Request Manager

To take action on a Request, use the command buttons at the bottom of the Request Manager. The Request Manager also includes an Exit command button that ends your *Foxfire!* session.

≻To run a Request

- 1. Highlight the Request you want to run.
- 2. Choose Run.

Running a Request means producing the output that is defined by the Request. It may be output to the screen, to a printer, or to a file.

Note: When *Foxfire!* is installed on a network, *Foxfire!* allows two or more users to run a Request at the same time. But because *Foxfire!* may create output files for the Request (which all have the same name as the Request short name), each additional concurrent user is asked for a temporary name.

≻To preview a Request

- 1. Highlight the Request you want to preview
- 2. Choose Preview.

Previewing a Request means displaying the Request output on the screen for review, regardless of the output choice specified in the Request. (For more information, see "Preview" on page 4-66.)

≻To create a Request

1. Choose New.

The New Request – Type and Style dialog opens. (For more information, see "Creating a New Request" on page 4-6).

	Examp	le of	Detail Rep	or:			
Page6							
Stock#	Model	<u>P</u>	rice Paid	Mileage	Color	Trans	
Make: PL	YMOUTH						
2118	CARAVELLE	\$	3,100	61233		Autonatic	
2418	RELIAN ⁻	\$	725	118555	WH TE	3 Speed	1 A A
2220	SEDAN	\$	400	79038		3 Speed	
1958	VOYAGER	<u>\$</u>	11,700	34738	CREAM	5 Speed	
Totals for	Make: PLYMOUT	TH		83			11
		1.20		Avg			Use vvzar
		\$	15,925	/3391			
Make: PC	ON TIAC		105		DU D	Or demandle of	
2423		Ф Ф	1 000	134441	DLUC	Automatic	
Request Type - © Detail C Summary C Cross-Tab	E.		Layour Sty Default (rle Pr∋sentat	ion)	J	OK Cancel
C Labels							Help

≻To edit a Request

- 1. Highlight the Request you want to edit.
- 2. Choose Edit.
- 3. The Request Editor opens. (Fore more information, see "Request Editor" on page 4-7.)

Editing a Request allows you to alter the elements that make up the Request.

Note: If *Foxfire!* is installed on a network, be aware that *Foxfire!* will prevent more than one user from editing a particular Request at the same time.

≻To delete a Request

- 1. Highlight the Request you want to delete.
- 2. Choose Delete.
- 3. A dialog box asks Are you sure you want to delete Request

<name>?

- 4. Choose Yes to delete the Request; choose No to retain the Request.
 - Warning: Deleting a Request means permanently discarding the Request. Once deleted, it cannot be recalled. Before deleting a Request, make sure no one will need the Request any longer.

≻To quit *Foxfire*!

Choose Exit or pull down the *Foxfire!* menu and choose Exit.

Comments

You can attach comments or notes to a Request so a user can view them when working with the Request.

>To view or edit Request Comments

- 1. In the Request Manager, highlight the Request SAMPLE1 Inventory on Hand.
- 2. Press F8.
- 3. The Comment Editor opens:

Comments for Request SAMPLE1	_ 🗆 ×
	_

Figure 4-6 Comment Editor

4. Type This Request includes only unsold cars.

5. Press Ctrl-W or click on any *Foxfire*! window outside the Comment Editor to save your changes and exit. (To exit without saving your changes, or to exit after viewing, press Esc.)

Request Types

See a description of the different kinds of requests on page 3-63

Layout Styles

You can also choose one of several predefined layout styles for Request results. Your choice will affect:

- \checkmark Fonts used
- ✓ Placement of information on the page

Foxfire! provides these layout styles:

- ✓ Presentation uses proportional fonts (Sans Serif).
- ✓ Executive uses proportional fonts (Serif).
- ✓ Ledger uses a very tall, narrow non-proportional font to place maximum text on the page.
- \checkmark Character uses a fixed-space font.
- ✓ Character-Web Page produces a report in an HTML format for use on a Web page.

Once a Request has been created, you can change the layout style in the **Output Selector**. See "Layout" on page 4-60 for information on how to change the layout style.

Request Editor

The **Request Editor** is where you specify all the characteristics of a Request:
O LADL E4	in unchange Con Lineal			
Deta Itenis				
09/27/2000 Stock# Make 1500 PONTIAC	Model <u>Mileage</u> FREBIRD 147123 (Inventory On Color Trans Purc WHTE 4 Speed CC.P	Hand	 Page ##
Elter	Joins		Scrt + <u>G</u> roup	
ars Date Of Sale ars Make's Like "	Is Empty FO ^V OTA			
<u>O</u> utput	Request Type Detail		ļ	
olumnar Report To	o Soreen entation			

Figure 4-7 Foxfire! Request Editor

The Request Editor contains buttons or places to hold the following parts of a Request:

- ✓ Name Enter a name to be used to identity all output created by the Request, up to 8 characters. Spaces between characters are replaced with underscores. Name is required to save the Request. If left blank here, you will be prompted to enter one when you try to save.
- ✓ Description Enter a description of the Request, up to a 75 characters. Spaces are permitted. Description is optional but strongly encouraged.
- ✓ View Narrows the available data items and table relationships to a particular application or reporting task. Views are setup in the Join Editor.
- ✓ Data Items Opens the Data Items Selector, where you specify the data to appear in the Request. For more information see "Choosing Data Items" on page 4-13.
- ✓ Filter Opens the Filter Builder, where you define the criteria for selecting which records to include in the result. For more information see "Filtering Requests" on page 4-15.
- ✓ Join Opens the Join Builder, where you can override the default joins for this particular request. Joins are setup in the Join Editor (see System Administration Utilities on page 4-88) and tell *Foxfire!* how to get data (i.e. relate) from more than table at a time.
- ✓ Sort + Group Opens the Sort + Group Selector, where you specify how or in what order the Request will arrange records for

subtotals. For more information see "Sorting and Grouping Requests on page 4-41.

✓ Output – Opens the Output Selector, in which you specify where to send the results of a Request: to a report, browse table, labels, graph, spreadsheet, mail merge, ASCII, or stored data formats. You also indicate whether the output should be directed to the screen, a printer, or a file. For more information, see "Report Output Types" on page 4-52.

Command Buttons in the Request Editor

In the Request Editor, you can choose the following command buttons:

<u>R</u> un	Prevjew	Count	Show SQL	Save	Save <u>a</u> s	<u>C</u> lose
<u>11</u> 341	r ioijen			2470	0010 20	2,000

Figure 4-8 Request Editor Command Buttons

- ✓ Run Processes the Request (and automatically saves any changes you have made).
- ✓ Preview Processes the Request and displays the output on screen. Fore more information, see "Preview" on page 4-66. Saves any Request changes.
- ✓ Count Displays the number of records that will be selected in the query.
- \checkmark Save Saves changes to the Request.
- ✓ Save as... -- Saves a copy of the Request with another name. This new Request will also appear in the Request Manager. (See "Save As ... " section below.)
- ✓ Close/Cancel Exits from the Request Editor and returns to the Request Manager.

The button says **Close** if no changes were made to the Request during the session, or says **Cancel** if changes were made during the session. Canceling a Request here results in all unsaved changes being abandoned.

≻Save As ...

The Save As dialog box makes a copy of a Request, which you can edit to create a new version (the original Request is not changed).

Save As is also useful for saving interim versions of a complex Request, or one in which you want to explore successive "what if..." scenarios.

Name	Description	
SAMPLEX	Red Cars On Hand	
QUARTILE	Quartile rank (pro	fit)
RUNTIME	Newest features of	Ask-at-Runtime
SAMPLE1	Inventory On Hand	
SAMPLE2	AUDI's and BMW's	
SAMPLE3	AUDI's and BMW's	
SAMPLEX	Red Cars On Hand	
STAT_DLR	Dealer activity sur	mmary
ock	4	Output File Name
Data Items		C:VFF60\OUTVNVENTORY.RPT
Sort		C New
Filter/Joins		🕼 Same
Output		

Figure 4-9 Save Request As dialog

In the Save As dialog box, enter a <u>new</u> name and description for the Request. The new Request name must be unique. The list of existing Requests is presented for reference.

Note: you must specify a new unique name for the Request. If you specify the name of an already existing Request, *Foxfire!* will require you to change it.

Up to three sections may appear in the lower half of the window, depending upon the specific details and "ownership" of the Request.

✓ Lock – Allows the "owner" of a Request (the creator or a programmer) to lock specific elements of the Request so they cannot be changed by other users.

Choices correspond to the main sections in the Request Editor (Data Items, Sort, Filter, Output).

To change locks for an existing Request, choose "Save As", keeping the same name but changing lock settings.

✓ Output File Name – Allows you to control what happens if the current Request sends the output to a file. Your options are:

New – Sends output to a file named for the new Request.

Same – Sends output to the file name specified in the original Request (may overwrite the output of the original Request).

Choosing Data Items

Use the Data Items Selector to choose the data item (fields) you want include in the Request output:

n thia daubla	Cars Age at Sale		Care Durchase Drice	4.4
ded arrow up or n to move a cted item to a position on the and the erated output.	Cars Comment Cars Date Of Sale Cars Date Paid Cars Date Purchased Cars Days in Inventory Cars License Number Cars Month Sold Cars Purchased From ID Cars Radio Cars Sale Price Cars Sale Sale Sale Cars Sale Sale Sale Sale Sale Sale Sale Sale	31 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	Cars Purchase Price Cars Make Cars Model Cars Mileage Cars Color Cars Transmission Cars Purchase Price	13 13 8 11 11 11
			HideØ Characters Selec	ted 77

Figure 4-10 Data Item Selector

The Available list (on the left side of the window) displays the data items that could be chosen for the Request. The Selected list (on the right side of the window) displays data item already chosen.

The chosen data items appear in the output in the same sequence as in the **Selected** list. For example, if your **Selected** list includes Name, Salary, and Phone Number (in that order), the leftmost column in the output will be Name and the rightmost will be Phone Number.

A chosen data item can be removed from the **Selected** list by choosing it there and double clicking or pressing **Enter**. The data item returns to the Available list.

Changing the Selected Items and their Order

You can change the order of the **Selected** data items in the output by highlighting the item and dragging it to the desired position (for detailed instructions on changing an item's position, see "Movable List Items" on page 1-11

In most cases, you can return to the Data Items Selector whenever you wish to change the chosen data items and their order.

However, if your Request has a customized layout, when you attempt to change the chosen data items or their order, *Foxfire!* displays a warning that the layout customization may be inadvertently overwritten and you will be asked to specify how you wish to proceed. See "Tips for Customized Report Layouts" on page 4-70 for more information about making changes to a Request once its layout has been customized.

≻Data Item Hide Option

The Hide option enables you to include a data item in the results of a query but exclude it from the output.

This advanced feature can be very useful, for example, when you want to create calculated data items (expressions) that depend on these hidden data items, but don't want the items themselves to appear in the final output. A hidden item is indicated by a symbol (\emptyset) appearing immediately to the left side of the name in the **Selected** list.

To remove the Hide option from a hidden data item, highlight it and choose Show. The (\emptyset) symbol disappears, indicating the Hide option has been turned off for that item.

Filtering Requests

One of the primary and most powerful uses of a database is to search for subsets of information that meet specific conditions. For example, you may want to see all red cars sold to a specific dealer. To obtain that subset, you would create a *filter*.

Foxfire! filters the data and returns only the records you want to see in your output.

Data Ite	m			ls (Not)	Relationship	Ve	lue(s)
Car	s Year			Is	After	1984	
Car	s Date	Purchased		Is	Between	01/01/1	999,12/31/1999
Car	s Sale	Price		Is	More Than		0.00
Car	s Make			Is	Like	(ask at	runtime)
dit	<u>A</u> dd	OĽ	1	(; 0	elete	Union Top N
	unlin ato o		1	Ack or Pur	time Ontione	1	

You define filters in the Filter Builder.

Figure 4-11 Foxfire! Filter Builder

Each row in the Filter Builder represents an individual *condition* or test that comprises part of the filter. Each filter condition is composed of the following parts:

- \checkmark The data item on which the filter acts
- ✓ The is (not) operator
- \checkmark The filter relationship
- ✓ The filter value

Filter Builder Command Buttons



Figure 4-12 Filter Builder Command Buttons

- ✓ Edit permits you to edit existing filter conditions. Double clicking the filter condition is the same as choosing Edit.
- ✓ Add– permits you to add new filter conditions. You may add a filter condition to a Request because you want to either create a filter condition for the first time or further narrow the filter on a Request.
- **Example**: The filter on a certain Request currently specifies **Cars Color** Is Like Red. Now you want to narrow the condition so that the report displays only red cars with a sale price more than \$7,000. You already have the condition for red cars specified. Now you must *add* a second filter condition, **Cars Sale Price** Is More Than 7000.
- ✓ Or permits you to broaden filter conditions by splitting two conditions into an *either/or* pair. (Either *red cars* or *cars sold during 1988*.) See "The "OR" "Connector" on page 4-37.
- ✓ "(" and ")" let you control the order in which conditions are evaluated when Or is used to combine conditions. See "Using Parenthesis to Change Order of Evaluation" on page 4-38.
- \checkmark Delete removes the selected filter condition.
- **Warning**: Once you exit the Filter Builder, deleted conditions cannot be retrieved. (If you previously saved this Request, you may be able to abandon the changes (including the deleted filter condition), by choosing Cancel.)
- ✓ Ask at Runtime Options displays the Ask at Runtime Options window for setting additional filter values at runtime. See "Ask at Runtime Options" on page 4-24 for more information.

Omitting Duplicate Records: A duplicate record is one where every data item in the record exactly matches those of the preceding record.

- To omit duplicate records, choose the Omit Duplicates check box.
- **Note:** selecting this option can significantly reduce the performance of your Request when it runs.

Data Item in a Filter Condition

The first part of the filter condition is the data item that forms the basis of the filter condition.

- **Note:** Data items that are indexed have an (R) appearing to their right. The (R) indicates that filters you build with this data item automatically employ FoxPro's *Rushmore* technology to speed up the filtering process. See Chapter 7 "Indexing and Rushmore".
- **Note:** If you change the data item in an existing filter condition, you should check the other parts of the filter condition if the new data item is not of the same data type (character, numeric, date, and so on). The original value entry for the filter condition will be blanked out.

>To choose the filter condition's data item

- 1. Choose Add or Edit
- 2. From the Data Item list, select the data item you want to use in the filter condition.

Is (Not) Operator

The Is (Not) operator indicates whether the condition is *positive* (Is Equal to, Is After) or negative (Is *not* Equal to, Is *not* After).

Note: You cannot alter the Is/Is Not operator when your filter condition includes a *logical* type data item (yes/no/true/false). You can only set the value in the condition to Yes (or True) or No (or False).

≻To choose the Is (Not) operator

1. Move to the Is (Not) portion of the filter condition

Choosing the operator switches it from Is to Is Not (or from Is Not to Is).

Filter Condition Relationships

When constructing a filter condition, you must specify a relationship between the contents of a data item and the values you are seeking. Are the prices *more than* \$5,000? Is the dealer name *exactly like* "Fremont Toyota"? Each of these questions is a comparison that *Foxfire!* makes on the data in each record it filters for a query.

Foxfire! displays an appropriate list of comparison relationships based upon the data item type (character, numeric, logical or date).

Character	Numeric	Logical	Date (and Datetime)
Like	Equal to		Equal to
Exactly Like	Less than		Before
Before	Less or = to		On or Before
Before or =	More or = to		On or After
= or After	More than	Equal to	After
After	Between		Between
Between	In the list		In the list
In the list	Zero		Empty
Contains			
Blank			
Null*	Null*	Null*	Null*

Table 4-1 Filter Condition Relationships by data type

* To FoxPro (and *Foxfire!*) a value of NULL means that data has never been entered into an item, so the value cannot be determined. As a result, during a filter comparison for a specific value, records with an item containing a null value are often not selected, even if they appear to meet the comparison.

For example, say you are filtering records for CARS COLOR IS NOT EQUAL TO RED. If a record has a null in CARS COLOR, it will not be selected (even though the value is not Red). The reason – FoxPro assumes that a value of null really means the value can't be determined, so it can't tell whether the condition is met or not. Therefore, it simply does not include that record.

>To choose a relationship for the filter condition

- 1. Move to the Relationship drop-down list for the filter condition.
- 2. Press the SPACE BAR or click the mouse button.

A list of comparison operators appears.

3. Choose the comparison you want to make.

Filter Condition Values

The Value(s) portion of the filter condition is where you indicate the value against which all records in the database will be compared.

Example: Is the price *less than* 7000?

You have five options at this point. You can choose one of the more common options:

- ✓ Enter a constant value a number, date, character string, or yes/no choice. (Examples of constant values are 7000, Fremont Honda, Yes, 08/20/51.)
- ✓ Ask at Runtime when you *run* the Request, *Foxfire!* presents a dialog box where you can enter the value, then proceeds with filtering using that value. Thus you can create reports with different results

from the same Request, depending on the values you specify at runtime. For example, this is particularly useful for accounting reports where you want to choose the period start and end dates each time the report is run.

- Or choose one of the following less-frequently-used options:
- ✓ Compare the first data item to Another Data Item in the same record.
- **Example:** All records where the *Sale Price* data item is lower than the *Cost* data item.
- ✓ View only those records *lacking values* for the data item you specified. (For data items of *character* type, these are Blank, *numeric* are Zero and *date* and *datetime* types are Empty.)
- ✓ Build Expression The FoxPro Expression Builder helps you construct more complex Xbase Expressions. For more information on how Xbase expressions work, consult the FoxPro user manuals or a reference book on FoxPro and Xbase concepts.

>To specify the filter condition value

Do one of the following:

- \checkmark Type a constant value into the input field, or
- ✓ Choose one of the option buttons (Empty, Blank, Zero, Ask at Runtime, Another Data Item, Build Expression).

Specific instructions for each of these options follow.



Show List of Values

A command button, Show list of Values, is available in the Filter Builder when you select a data item *for which this feature is enabled* (in Data Item Editor).

Choose Show list of Values to display a list of valid values for the data item. The value you choose from the list is entered in the Value(s) field.

Empty

Sometimes you will want a report consisting of records lacking an entry in a particular field. For example, records with an empty Car Sold To field would yield a list of unsold cars. Table 4-2 shows the "Empty" value for each data type.

Table 4-2

Data Item Type	Corresponding Empty Value to Specify
Numeric	Zero
Date/Datetime	Empty
Character	Blank

Note: Visual FoxPro users, Empty is not the same as Null. For more information, see Null values on page 4-19.

Ask at Runtime

Ask at Runtime enables you to defer entering the value until you actually run the Request. This is useful if you run a report repeatedly, but want different comparison values each time. (For example, you may want to specify a different range of dates each time you run the Request.)

If you leave the Value(s) field blank, and choose Ask at Runtime, the user will be asked and is required to enter a value for the filter condition at runtime.

You can also enter a default value *and* choose Ask at Runtime (which changes to Ask at Runtime w/Default), in which case the user can change the default value at runtime.

If you want to make the Ask at Runtime comparison value optional (i.e., the user can optionally leave the value blank to select all values) or you want to display special instructions about the filter conditions when the user runs the report, choose Ask at Runtime Options to specify additional options for Ask at Runtime values. For information on this feature, see "Ask at Runtime Options" on page 4-24.

Another Data Item

Sometimes you may want to compare one data item with another in the same record.

Example: If you want a report showing cars that sold for less than cost, you would build the following filter:



Figure 4-13

When you choose Another Data Item as the Value, a list of data items appears from which you choose the data item to use in the comparison. For the example above, you would select Cars Purchase Price. This completes the filter condition so that it reads "Cars Sale Price Is Less Than Cars Purchase Price" (i.e. cars which sold for less than cost).

Note: Remember, the data type of the data items being compared must match.

Build Expression

To specify a more complex value than is displayed in the list of Available data items, you can use the FoxPro Expression Builder to build a compound expression.

Note: Expressions generally require an advanced level of knowledge of FoxPro or the Xbase language. (For more information, see Chapter 3 "Tutorial: Learning Foxfire!.")

When you choose Build Expression, the FoxPro Expression Builder opens:



Figure 4-14 Foxpro Expression Builder

Select the functions, operators, and constants necessary to construct the expression to which you want to compare. Choose Verify to confirm that you have constructed a valid expression. For more information on the FoxPro Expression Builder, refer to the User's Guide in the FoxPro documentation or Chapter 6.

Ask at Runtime Options

Overview

Ask at Runtime options add considerable flexibility to a Request by allowing the user to supply filter conditions when the Request is actually *run* instead of when it is *created*. You can enter data values to be used in the comparison (the *simpler* form of Ask at Runtime), or you can edit the entire filter, including adding and deleting entire conditions (the *more comprehensive form* of Ask at Runtime). In either case, you can also enter a report heading. The user-specified filter conditions are not saved after the Request is run.

Entry of data values only is specified by choosing the Ask at Runtime check box in the Value (s) section of the Filter Builder (see "Ask at Runtime on page 4-22).

Editing of the entire filter is specified in the Ask at Runtime Options dialog, where editing controls, as well as a prompt and help text to assist the user in completing the filter, are specified.

>Specifying Ask at Runtime Options for a Request

To specify controls on filter editing, choose Ask at Runtime Options from the Filter Builder.



"Ask at Runtime Options" button in the Filter Builder

Figure 4-15 shows the Ask at Runtime Options dialog, where control of the Ask at Runtime interface is specified.

	📲 Ask at Runtime Options		×
Allow the user to enter - values only at runtime (simple dialog). Allow the user to edit the entire filter at runtime (a comprehensive dialog).	Enter Filter Values Only Edit Entire Filter Filter Conditions may be added and deleted Conditions Cars bate Of Sale Is Empty Cars Make Is Like TOYOTA Cars Date Of Sale Is On or After (ask a	User May Nothing Nothing at run Data Value -	Edit
Allow the user to add and —— delete entire filter conditions at runtime	Grøss Profit Is More or = to 1000.00 Cars Year Is Between 1992,1999	Nothing Nothing	
Enter a prompt and help text which can be viewed at runtime	Runtime Prompt Changes made here are for this run only. Runtime Help		
Figure 4-15	Ask at Runtime Options	List of all filter conditions for the Request	Place additional controls on what the user may edit in each condition

The pair options at the top of the Ask at Runtime Options dialog (Enter Filter Values Only and Edit Entire Filter) determine the extent of filter editing that will be permitted at runtime. Depending upon which type of runtime editing is chosen, a runtime a simple dialog will be provided for entering data values only, or a more complex one will be provided to edit the entire filter.



Figure 4-16 Effects of Ask at Runtime Options

Enter Filter Values Only

Enter Filter Values Only is the default if Ask at Runtime is specified as a value in any filter condition. With this choice, an Enter Values dialog will be displayed at runtime. The user may then enter comparison values.

Edit Entire Filter

If Edit Entire Filter is specified, the Edit Runtime Filter window opens at runtime. The user can edit several aspects of the filter for that run, which are determined by the controls described below.

Filter Conditions May Be Added and Deleted

If you chose Edit Entire Filter, checking this box also allows adding and deleting of whole filter conditions at runtime. All Filter Builder command buttons will be active for the user.

💽 Edit	Entire Filter
	☑ Filter Conditions may be added and deleted

User May Edit ...

- (,	At Runtime, User May Edit)
D	ata Value - Entry Required
D	ata Value - Ignore if Blank
D	ata Value - Ignore (Prompt if Empty O.K.)
A	ny part of this condition
N	othing

Choose User May Edit ... to display a list of what may be edited at runtime. For each condition, this list controls what may be edited at runtime:

Data Value – Entry Required – requires that the user enter a value at runtime.

Data Value – Ignore if Blank – allows the user to optionally leave the value blank at runtime. If the value is left blank, the condition will essentially be eliminated from the filter at runtime and all values will be included in the retrieved record set. Data Value – Ignore (Prompt if Empty O.K.) – allows the user to optionally leave the value blank at runtime. If the value is left blank, the user will be prompted as to whether they want to include all records (i.e. act as if the Ignore If Blank option was chosen) or only records with a blank value in the specified field.

For example:



Any Part of this condition – allows the user to edit all parts of the filter condition (only available when Edit Entire Filter is chosen).

Nothing – prevents the user from changing any part of the filter condition. (This is the equivalent of a filter condition not marked as Ask at Runtime.)

- **Runtime Prompt** Enter a prompting message, a special instruction which is displayed at runtime at the top of the Edit Runtime Filter window (only available when Edit Entire Filter is chosen).
- Runtime HelpEnter a help message which can be viewed by
choosing the Help command button located at the
top of the Edit Runtime Filter window. Press
CTRL+W to save edited help text. If you do not
enter any Runtime Help, the Help button does not
appear in the Edit Runtime Filter window (only
available when Edit Entire Filter is chosen).

Using Ask at Runtime Dialogs at Runtime

Enter Values

A value must be entered for each filter condition displaying Reqd. When a value is not required, and the user leaves it without an entry, the filter condition will be ignored during the query.



Ask at Runtime filter conditions can automatically be added to the report header through a setting in the Layout Options dialog of the Output Selector. See "Show filter conditions on report" in the section on "Layout Options" on page 4-61).

Edit Runtime Filter

If Ask at Runtime was specified for the value in a Request's filter condition, and the Ask at Runtime option Edit Entire Filter is enabled, when you run the Request, the Edit Runtime Filter window opens.

Data	ltem					3	ls (Not)	Relationsh	ip		Value(s)		
Ca	rs Date	Of	Sale				Is	Empty					_
Ca	rs Make						Is	Like		TOYOTA			
Ca	rs Date	01	Sale				ls	On or	Atter	(Enter	Filter	Value)	
Ca	vss pru Pc Vojp	TIC.					Is	Rotwoo	ru	1992 1	999		
0.00.00							0.000	100000000000000000000000000000000000000			545454		
	1				1		1	1		1			
Edit	Ad	d		OĽ		- Ç)	De	lete		Top N	

All filter conditions are displayed, and depending on what options are specified in the Ask at Runtime Options dialog (see "Ask at Runtime Options" on page 4-24), the runtime user can edit them. Any editing in this window is *effective for the run only*. It is not saved as part of the Request.

Editing a Value The runtime user enters a value by choosing to Edit the filter condition. Depending upon the filter relationship, the user running the Request can enter a value, or choose a value of Blank/Zero/Empty, Another Data Item, or choose Build Expression.

The runtime user can add and delete filter conditions for the run only if the option Filter Conditions may be added or deleted was chosen in the Ask at Runtime Options dialog.

Help at Runtime The Edit Runtime Filter window displays any special instructions and enables the Help button, if entries were made in the Runtime Prompt and Runtime Help options of the Ask at Runtime Options dialog.

Adding a Heading The runtime user can choose Heading to enter a heading, which will appear beneath the Request name and description in the report header. This is useful for distinguishing a particular run of the Request, since the values can be different for each run.

Ask at Runtime filter conditions can automatically be added to the report header through a setting in the Layout Options dialog of the Output Selector. See "Show filter conditions on report" in the section on "Layout Options" on page 4-61).

Special Filter Options

In addition to the items we've already covered, *Foxfire!* handles two additional complex filtering processes –Top *N* Values, and Unions. These options appear on the Filter Builder window as buttons. (Not available for cross-tabs.)

	The fire of the fi			
Data tem	ls (Not)	Relationship	Value(s)	
100000000000000000000000000000000000000				_
Editi	0 <u>r</u> ()	Delete Jnion Tcp N	-
Editi <u>Add</u>	<u>Or</u> (Ask at <u>R</u> ui)	Delete Jnion Top N	

Тор N...

Use Top N... to specify a limit to the number of records reported for a specified data item the Request is sorted by. This feature is typically used when records are sorted to rank the results, for example to produce the "Top 5", "Top 10", etc....

Include only the first	0 🚍		
			-
Use SQL TOP N			
TOP N values			
C TOP N percent			
C TOP N percent			

Figure 4-17 Top N Values dialog

To use the Top N, choose the Include ... check box, then specify how many of the top values you want. Then choose a sort item from the list (which contains the same data items selected in the Sort+Group Selector).

Note: This feature is meaningful only in context of a sort sequence. If the Request has no sorts specified, output is limited to the first x rows in the unsorted result set, which is essentially a random selection.

The impact this type of filter has on your report can be described by the following example:

Example: Your Request is sorted by Cars Make, then Cars Year, then Cars Purchase Price. Table 4-1 on page 4-18 describes how this type of filter limits the results of the Request, depending upon which sort item you choose.

Choose to include:	Result will include:
The first 5 values of Cars Make	Records for only the first 5 Car Makes
The first 5 values of Cars Year	Records for the first 5 Cars Years of each Car Make
The first 5 values of Cars Purchase	Records for the Top 5 Purchase Prices

Price	for each Car Model for each Car Make

Table 4-3 Top N options

Note that the other option on the Top N dialog Use SQL Top N gives you the option to show <u>only</u> the top N records selected or top N percent of <u>all</u> the records selected for the request. If you select this option, you will only get N records shown on your Request. Whereas, if you do not pick this option, you will get the top N records in the group that you specified in the dropdown.

Merge with Other Query Results (Union)

Use Merge with Other Query Results to merge the results of another Request with the current Request. Essentially, the results of both Requests are combined.

I Run Request	<u> </u>	and merg	e its results with the Re	quest
🗌 Omit all du	uplicates in fina	l result		

Figure 4-18 Union dialog

Enter the name of the Request (subordinate request) whose result you want to merge with the current Request (master request). The subordinate Request must have the same number of data items selected as in the master Request and the corresponding data items in both Requests must match in type and width. When the master Request is run, the records selected in the query (i.e. the filtering process) of the subordinate Request are combined with the results of the master Request in the result table.

Since the Requests in a merge could return some identical records, you must specify whether to allow duplicate records when you set up the merge. Choose Omit all duplicates in final results to prevent duplicate records from being included in the result of a merge.

Filtering Tips

This section offers a few tips to help you create filters.

Wildcard Searches

When building a filter condition using the "Like" operator with a character or memo data item, you may use "wildcard" characters to specify a partial filter value entry. The wildcards (by default) are "%" and "_" (underscore character). The "%" wildcard may take the place of one or more characters, while the "_" takes the place of only a single character.

Example: A filter condition of "Customer Name Is Like BL%" would retrieve the names like "Blackstone", "Bligh", and "Bly", while "Customer Name is Like BL_" would retrieve only "Bly", since the underscore character indicates that there is exactly one wildcard character.

If you need to search for a character string that really does include one of these wildcard characters, you may tell *Foxfire!* to treat it as a "non-wildcard" character by preceding it with a "~" (the tilde character). Thus, a search value "A_" would find all two-letter strings beginning with "A" while "A~_" would look for the exact string "A_".

Building Filter Conditions

≻Using Connectors

AND CONNECTOR

Each time you add a new filter condition, *Foxfire*! assumes that you are doing so to narrow the potential result set.

At the end of Chapter 2 you created the Request SAMPLEX, Red Cars on Hand, by adding the filter condition Cars Color Is Like Red to the existing filter condition Cars Date of Sale is Empty. With the initial filter condition, the report lists all unsold cars in inventory. But as soon as you add the second filter condition to the first, you narrow the results to show only red unsold cars.

Foxfire! automatically assumes AND connectors between conditions in the filter.

OR CONNECTOR

If you want to *broaden* the potential result set, insert an OR connector between two conditions.

≻To insert OR connector

- 1. Highlight the Request SAMPLE1, and choose Edit on the navigation bar.
- 2. Choose Save As and name the report SAMPLE2 and change the description to Audi's or BMWs in Inventory.
- 3. Choose Filter.
- 4. The existing condition in the filter specifies Cars Date of Sale Is Empty. Delete this condition by highlighting the filter condition and choosing Delete.
- 5. Add two conditions: Cars Make Is Like Audi and Cars Make Is Like BMW.
- 6. If you simply add the two conditions the resulting filter would describe an impossible situation (Make is like Audi and like BMW at the same time) so no records would be selected. To include records where the make is BMW *or* Audi, you insert an OR connector into the filter.
- 7. Choose the Or button. An OR connector is inserted.
- 8. Drag the OR connector between the two conditions. Now your Request will include those records where the Make is Audi or BMW.

	Make		(hok) cl	Relationship	11/16/	Valud(s)	
Cars	. Make		ŤN	OR Tike	AIIDT		
Falt	Ate	02	•		Delete	Linico	TTL

9. Save your changes and Preview the Request. Seven Audis and three BMWs should be listed.

≻Using "In the List" Relationship

For the Request SAMPLE2 you just created, you could achieve the same results by using an In The List relationship in place of the two filter conditions connected by OR. In The List is really a shortcut, eliminating the need for creating multiple filter conditions.

- 1. Highlight the Request SAMPLE2, and choose Edit.
- 2. Choose Save As and name the report SAMPLE3 and change the description to Audi's or BMW's In the List.
- 3. Choose Filter.
- 4. Delete the two conditions and the OR connector.
- 5. Choose Add and from the list of data items, choose Cars Make.
- 6. Since we want to select *both* Audis *and* BMW's choose In the List from the Relationship drop down list.
- 7. Under Value(s), type AUDI,BMW.

When using an In The List relationship, the values must be for the same item and must be separated by commas.

- 8. Choose OK to save the filter condition.
- 9. Save your changes and preview the Request. The results are seven Audis and three BMWs — the same as for Request SAMPLE2 where you used 2 filter conditions connected by OR.

>OR Connectors With More Than Two Filter Conditions

The effects of AND and OR connectors are very different. Therefore, when you have several filter conditions and you want to include some OR connectors, you must specify which portions are connected by the OR and which parts are connected by the AND.

Business Specification:

You have a customer interested in Audis and BMWs, or any 5-speed vehicles in inventory (regardless of make).

- 1. Highlight Request SAMPLE3
- 2. Choose Edit
- 3. Add the Cars Date of Sale as the first data item
- 4. Choose OK to return to the Request Editor
- 5. Choose Filter
- 6. Construct the filter as follows:

Cars Make Is In the List Audi, BMW

Cars Date of Sale Is Empty

-OR -

Cars Transmission Is Like 5 Speed

Cars Date of Sale Is Empty

7. The filter should now look like this

These will retrieve unsold Audi's and BMW's	-	Hile for Request SANPLES	- Audris or BMW's In U Is (bob) Ts Ts Is	he List To the tist: For the tist: OR Like Line	Vausis) AliiDT, RHU 5. Speed	×
These will retrieve unsold cars with a 5 Speed transmission		IdH Add	رة () بع الم) [Callerov	iste Union	To: N
		Helt Diclignary]		04	Carcel

8. Preview the request and note that you only get unsold cars which are either Audi's or BMW's or have a 5 speed transmission.

> Using the Parenthesis to Change Order of Evaluation

When you mix AND and OR operators in complex filters, the order of evaluation of the filter conditions can change the results. *Foxfire*! automatically evaluates AND conditions first, then OR conditions.

Two buttons allow you to insert parentheses wherever you wish in the Filter Builder to change *Foxfire*!'s normal evaluation sequence. However, parentheses only affect the evaluation sequence when there is a mixture of AND and OR connectors in the filter.

Refer back to the OR Connector example above, and delete the *last* Cars Date of Sale is Empty condition. If you run the Request like this, you'll see unsold Audis and BMWs, and all cars with 5 speed transmissions (sold and unsold).

This because the expression that Foxfire! evaluated was

Cars Make Is In the List Audi, BMW AND Cars Date of Sale Is Empty

-OR-

Cars Transmission Is Like 5 Speed

- 1. Now in the Filter Builder, drag the Cars Date of Sale condition to the top of the list.
- 2. Move the highlight down one row to Cars Make Is In the List Audi, BMW and choose the Left Parens [(].
- 3. Move the highlight down to the last filter condition Cars Transmission Is 5 Speed — and choose the Right Parens [)].

	-1 Filter fo	r Request SAM	PLE3 - Aud P e	ur BNW'e In Ur	e Liet			X
Position of —	Data ta	n		s (Nm)	Hadhatshi	i.	Vdin(o)	
added		Date Of S:	210	Is	Empty To Iba		BHM	
parentheses					0R	in stre minut		
changes the	Gars	iransuiss	ionn	15	Like	5 501	eed	
rogulto								
results								
	Edit	≛dd	ભ	t I	1	Delate	Union	TCE Is .
	E e to	upica.es		≜si: ⊐i Eur	rithic Octions			
	11 10 10 10 10 10 10							
	Help	D dia a	IV.				0K	Cancel

4. Try the query again.

Note that cars with 5 speed transmissions are now retrieved only if they are unsold.

The parentheses caused the conditions inside to be evaluated first, and the Cars Date of Sale is Empty condition to be applied after all the conditions inside the parentheses.

For more complex filter conditions, you may use multiple levels of parentheses. *Foxfire*! will require the number of left and right parentheses to match before allowing you to exit from the Filter Builder.

Using the "In the List" Operator

When you want to compare one data item to multiple possible values, use the In The List operator instead of a series of individual conditions with OR connectors. **Example:** You want a report of red, blue, and green cars. You can build the filter condition as Cars Color Is In The List Red, Blue, Green.

Connecting Is (Not) Conditions

Avoid connecting two Is Not conditions with an OR if possible. Connecting two negative filter conditions is logically permissible, but confusing.

If you must connect two negative filter conditions, think carefully about the meanings of AND and OR connectors. It is better to rephrase them as positive conditions, if possible.

Example:	To select only Cars that are neither RED nor WHITE, use
	AND, not OR, refer to Figure 4.4.

Table 4-4

	(Cars Color Is Not RED
Incorrect	OR
	Cars Color Is Not WHITE)
	Cars Color Is Not RED
Correct	Cars Color Is Not WHITE
Even Better	Cars Color Is Not In The List
	RED, WHITE

Each record is tested against all the conditions. The OR condition is incorrect because white cars will be selected by the expression COLOR Is Not RED and red cars will be selected by the expression COLOR Is Not WHITE. This expression actually defeats itself by selecting cars <u>of any</u> <u>color!</u>

Note: If there is an OR in the filter, the order of the filter conditions can completely change the effect of the filter. If there is no OR, the order of the criteria has *no effect* on the query's results or execution.

Note: Due to FoxPro's optimizer, the order of the filter criteria will not generally effect *Foxfire*!'s retrieval speed. See "Rushmore Optimization Explained" in Chapter 7.

Using "Like" Instead of "Exactly Like"

For most filter conditions, "Like" is sufficient to get the results you wish, and is preferable from a performance standpoint. Rushmore optimization makes most "Like" criteria lightning-fast, while "Exactly Like" requires much more (and slower) disk activity for record-by-record comparison.

Exactly Like is needed only in the rare circumstance where you must consider trailing spaces or data beyond the end of a filter value entry. Table 4-5 demonstrates the difference in results that occurs when you use Like in comparison with Exactly Like:

Table 4-5

Filter condition	Result (records retrieved)
Cars. Make Is Like "GMC"	1981 GMC
	1984 GMC Truck
Cars. Make Is Exactly Like "GMC"	1981 GMC
Cars. Make Is Exactly Like "GMC Truck"	1984 GMC Truck

Sorting and Grouping Requests

Presenting information in a particular order is required in many reports. It is also common to produce the same report using a variety of different sorts or groups.

Sort and Group Explained

This section describes how to sort and group information for your reports.

- ✓ Sort to organize detail lines in a specific order. The lines can be organized in ascending or descending order. For more information, see "To specify ascending/descending order" on page 4-44.
- ✓ Group to organize a set of related detail lines into its own section of the report. You specify a data item upon which the detail lines are grouped. When a change is encountered in this data item's value, the current group is ended and a new group is started (this is called a *group break*).

For example, you could specify **Cars Make** as the group identifier. *Foxfire!* sorts the output primarily on **Cars Make**. After displaying all Audi cars, there is a group break. The report prints subtotals in the group footer and then generates a new group header for the next group, BMW's. Numeric data items can be subtotaled and other calculations can be applied at group breaks. For more information, see "Working with Group Options" on page 4-46.

Sorting and grouping are accomplished in the Sort + Group Selector, which can be opened by choosing Sort + Group from the Request Editor.

not by this data item. Switch on and off by choosing the "Ungroup": button.

	Sort + Group for Request INV_ORG - Inv	entory on hand	×
Doubled- – headed arrow changes position of the data item in the sort order Arrow signifies –	Available Cars Stock Number Cars Mileage Cars Color Cars Transmission Cars Purchase Price Cars Purchased From ID	Sort of Cars Make 1 Cars Model	Group
descending or ascending order. Switch by choosing the "Descending" button	Display Data Itens: ⓒ In Request C <u>A</u> ll	Descending	Ungroup Options
	Help Dictionary		OK Cancel
Figure 4-19	Sort + Group Selector	Group indictor specifie records will be groupe	es if

Sorting

The order in which "sort by" data items are selected controls the sorting sequence. The first item in the list specifies the primary or major sort; the second specifies the secondary or intermediate sort, and so on. The last sort is called the minor sort.

Example: If the first item in the Selected list is Last Name and the second is First Name, then these choices make the initial sort on last names and the secondary sort on first names. This is a "phone book" sort where Adams comes before Baker. If there are several Bakers in the report, Frank Baker will come before Gail Baker.

>To choose data items for sorting

On the left is the list of data items available to be used as sorting criteria.

1. *Foxfire!* automatically displays only data items you specified for the Request.

In some cases, you may want to sort a Request based on a data item that doesn't appear in the Request. In such cases, choose All . To switch back to only the Request's data items, choose In Request.

2. Choose the data item you want to sort on.

Note that the data item moves to the **Selected** list and no longer appears on the **Available** list.

- 3. Repeat for each data item you want to include in the sort instructions.
- **Note:** If you want to reorder the data items to change the sort order, see the procedure "To change the sort order (precedence)" below.

≻To remove data items form sorting

Choose the Selected data item to remove it from the Selected list.

The data item "returns" to the Available list and no longer appears on the Selected list.

>To change the sort order (precedence)

- 1. In the **Selected** list, highlight the data item you want to move.
- 2. Drag the data item up or down into position.

The sort data item moves to the new position in the Selected list

Note: Dragging sort criteria around can completely change the nature of output if you specify Group Breaks. See "Group Breaks" below. If you are unsure how to coordinate sorts and breaks, experiment with a copy of the report first before modifying the original.

>To specify ascending/descending order

Each item in the sort criteria can be sorted in ascending or descending order. A single-headed arrow appears tot he left of each Selected data item name.

- ✓ An upward pointing arrow indicates that the data item will be sorted in ascending order (A to Z or 0-9).
- ✓ A downward pointing arrow indicates that the data item will be sorted in descending order (Z to A or 9 0).

Ascending is the default sort order for Selected data items.

You can switch the sort order button back and forth from ascending to descending for each item.

To switch the sort sequence to and from descending order, highlight the data item whose order you want to change in the **Selected** list and choose **Descend** (located below the **Selected** list).

Group Breaks

A group break (also known as a *control break*) occurs in a *report* when the value of a certain data item changes.

Example: You want to list cars in inventory by make. At the end of the records for each make, you want a subtotal of the purchase price. You would specify a group break on **Cars Make**.

In report output, a group break triggers the following actions:

- \checkmark A horizontal line is printed under each numeric data item.
- ✓ A subtotal is printed for each numeric item that is identified in the Data Dictionary as Sub-total on Group Break. (Other types of calculations may also be specified in the data dictionary).
- \checkmark A blank line is inserted.
- ✓ A group ID heading is printed to identify each new group. (Note that the group usually has a new group ID heading printed before the first detail line of that group).
- \checkmark A final blank line is inserted.

≻To create a group break

- 1. Place the data item you want to group on in the Selected list.
- 2. Choose Group, Located below the Selected list.

The "grouped" indicator appears to the right of the data item's name.

≻To cancel a group break

3. In the Sort + Group dialog, highlight the grouped data item you want to "ungroup" in the Selected list.

The "grouped" indicator appears to the right of the data item's name.

4. Choose Ungroup, Located below the Selected list.

The "grouped" indicator no longer appears to the right of the data item's name.

Note: Group breaks can only appear in reports. *Foxfire!* ignores group settings for labels, browse, and file exports.
Creating a Derivative Request by Varying the Sort Order

Sometimes it's useful to use the current Request to create one or more derivative Requests based on the current one, but with a different sort order. This helps you view the data in the Request in a number of ways. To do this, in the Request Editor choose Save As and assign a new name and description to the Request. Then choose Sort + Group and vary your choices as described above.

Working with Group Options

Foxfire! automatically generates summary calculations when a group break occurs. You can also specify other calculation options (average data, count items in a large group, or perform statistical analysis), as well as formatting (for example, a new page with each group change or printing a group header on each subsequent page if the group continues for more than one page).

Summary calculations can be placed:

- \checkmark in a group footer (group summary)
- \checkmark at the conclusion of the report (summarizing all detail lines in the report)
- \checkmark to a single specified group break
- \checkmark to all breaks (including the grand totals)

Option Types

In the Option Types section, you can choose form the following types of group options:

- ✓ Calculations adds custom calculations to group footers
- ✓ Formatting adds formatting to the group breaks
- ✓ Show All Sections displays both Calculations and Formatting options you've established in the Selected list.

	H Group Options for Request SAMPLE1 - Inventory On Hand
	Oction Types @ Odoublicins C Formating C Show AT Solothons
The type of options you specify here	Cars Price Cars Price Cars Price Cars Price Cars Price Cars Price
controls what options are available here	Sun <u>Kvei</u> Jount <u>A' Aves</u> Nr Max Std Dev Varianse J4 Cance

The group options you selected are added to the group break levels shown here. The groups are listed from innermost to outermost, just as they are on the report's summary area.

Group Calculation Options

When you choose the option type **Calculations**, the **Available** section lists the numeric data items in the Request and the command buttons for summary calculations become active:

Option Types Calculations	— Choose Calculations to view the options for
Show Data Items:	summary calculations
O All Cars Mileage	Choose the source of the Available numeric data items
Cars Purchase Price	 Highlight the source of Available numeric data items
Sum Avg Count W-Avg	Choose the

Figure 4-20 Group Summary Calculations

Show Data Items

The Available list defaults to In Request and displays only the numeric data items that were included in the Request.

To display all numeric data items in the dictionary choose All.

Calculation Buttons

Foxfire! allows you to add the following calculations to group footers:

For the overall Request:

 \checkmark Count – The number of rows contained within the group.

For *numeric data items* only:

- ✓ Sum
- ✓ Average
- ✓ Weighted Average
- ✓ Minimum
- ✓ Maximum
- ✓ Standard Deviation
- ✓ Variance
- **Note:** You may add as many calculations as you want. Each occupies one line in each group break (or in the report summary area). You can rearrange the order of appearance of the summary calculations here, or place them anywhere you wish in the corresponding group by and of the **Report Layout Editor**. See "Edit" on page Editing Requests that Generate Customized Reports4-71 for more information on editing a report layout.

>Adding a calculation to a group break

Ordinarily *Foxfire!* sums numeric data items down to the grand total. You can also add counts for non-numeric data items or other statistics for numeric items.

Summary calculations can be placed:

- ✓ In a group footer (group summary)
- ✓ At the conclusion of the report (summarizing all detail lines in the report)
- 1. Highlight the Request SAMPLE1 and choose **Sort** on the navigation bar.

Note the data items in the Request and the Sort + Group data items.

- 2. Choose Options from the Sort + Group Selector to specify group options.
- 3. In the Option Types section, choose Calculations to add custom calculations to group footers.
- 4. When you choose the option type Calculations, the Available section lists the numeric data items in the Request and the command buttons for summary calculations become active.
- 5. The Available list defaults to In Request and displays only the numeric data items that were included in the Request.
- 6. Highlight the group break band Cars Make Summary in the Selected list.
- 7. Highlight the data item Cars Purchase Price in the Available list.
- 8. Choose the command button Avg.
- 9. The summary item Avg of Cars Purchase Price appears below the Cars Make Summary group break band in the Selected list. Now the average price paid for the cars in each group will be listed in the group break.

≻To remove a summary calculation

From the **Selected** list, choose the summarized data item you want to remove. The item is removed.

Group Formatting Options

When you choose the Formatting option type in the Group Options window, the Available section lists the formatting options for group breaks.

Option Types	• Ear Choose Formatting to
Formattine Uplions: O in Request O All	options for group breaks
New page Roset page # Ho group header No group fonter Repeat hdr if grp continues New pg if < # lines for grp	Highlight the desired formatting option
5	Calculation buttons are

Figure 4-21 Group Formatting Options

Formatting options include:

- ✓ New Page inserts a page break after each group break.
- ✓ Reset Page # resets the page number to 1 (one) for the following page, after each group break.
- \checkmark No group header suppresses the group header.
- \checkmark No group footer suppresses the group footer.
- ✓ Repeat hdr if grp continues repeats the group header if the group continues to another page.

✓ New page if < # lines for group — displays a dialog for defining the minimum number of lines which must be available to follow the group header or else a new page will be started for the group</p>

>To add a formatting option to a group break

- 1. Select Formatting from the Group Options dialog.
- 2. Highlight the group break band Cars Make Summary in the Selected list.
- 3. Choose the formatting option New page in the Available list.
- 4. The formatting option appears in the Selected list beneath Cars Make Summary group break band.

Note: The only formatting feature available for the Grand Total band is New Page.

≻To remove a formatting option

From the **Selected** list, choose the formatting option you want to remove. The item is removed.

Specifying Output Options

Foxfire! offers you enormous flexibility in the variety of Request outputs, and your ability to process and customize them. These options are specified in the Output Selector and it's related windows and dialogs.

пра. Туре		Master/Detail-Page H	cadingo	
	Auto Forma: from Template	2		
	Style .	Quste	omization	
	Default (Presentation)	•	<u>C</u> cit	Qhoose
	Options		Save as	Auto Eormat
nd Tr				
Printer	2		*	Selup
) Serech) Tile				Options
ecial Proce	essing Cplions			

Figure 4-22 Output Selector

Report Output Types

Foxfire! offers four (4) standard output format for Output Types which are Reports. These different Report Output Types can also be used to modify the layout of the report so that more data can be displayed without having to use the 'Fit to Page' option discussed above.

This section describes each of these different output formats and provides examples using the Sample report you created in Chapter 2.

✓ Column Output Format

In this output type, each page of the report shows the current page number, the column headings associated with each selected data item.

For each group identified on the request, the group heading and value is displayed followed by each record in that group. The selected data items are displayed in **columns** under each data item header. At the end of the group, the group footer is displayed including any calculated group items. This pattern is repeated for each group on the report. Note that even though the group information is shown at the top and bottom of the group, it also appears with the other selected data items.



✓ Form Output Format

In this output type, only the page numbers are displayed at the top of each report. No group information is displayed. The selected data item "column headings" are displayed to the left of each data item, and the data for each record which appears on the report is displayed vertically on the page with a single blank line between each record. Note that all selected data items appear vertically down the page, even those selected as group fields.



✓ Master/Detail – Group Headings Format

In this output type, each page contains the page number at the top of the page. For each group that appears on the report, the group header is followed by the column headings for the selected data item. The records for that group are then displayed. Each record contains data for all of the selected data items except for the group by items (since this data was just displayed in the group header). At the end of the group, the group footer information is displayed. This request output type is good to use when you have more data items selected then you can display on a printed report, since the group by items are pulled out of the widest part of the request. Note that the group data does Column Headings not appear in the with the appear at the top of column data each group Request SAMPLE1 Inventory On Hand Page 1 Make AUDI Model Price Paid Trans Stock# Mileage Color Purc 2448 5000 110291 SILVER \$ 1,500 3 Speed MLM 20'8 5000S BLUE \$ 1,500 5 Speed SLCP 92836 2387 5000S 129127 GREY \$ 2,000 5 Speed MLM 73767 \$ 5,000 Automatic AEL 2389 5000S Total sfor Make: AUDI Avg. 101505 \$ 10,000 BMW Make: Color Model Price Paid Trans Stock# Mileage Purc 2251 3201 91623 \$ 2,000 4 Speed RMS Totalsfor Make: BMW Avg. 91623 \$ 2,000

✓ Master/Detail – Page Headings Format

In this output type, each page contains the page number and selected data item column headings at the top of the page.

For each group that appears on the report, the group header is immediately followed by the records for that group. Each record contains data for all of the selected data items except for the group by items (since this data was just displayed in the group header).

At the end of the group, the group footer information is displayed.

This request output type is good to use when you have more data items selected then you can display on a printed report, since the group by items are pulled out of the widest part of the request. It is less cluttered than the Master/Detail – Group Headings output type, because the column headings only appear at the top of the page, rather than at the top of each group.

Request (Inventory	SAMPLE1 On Hand		– Column I	-leadings a	opear at			
Page 1			the top o	f the page of	only			
Stock#	Model		Mileage	Color	Pric	e Paid	Trans	Purc
Make:	AUDI							
2448	5000		110291	SILVER	\$	1,500	3 Speed	MLM
2018	5000S		92836	BLUE	\$	1,500	5 Speed	SUCP
2387	5000S		129127	GREY	\$	2,000	5 Speed	MLM
2389	5000S		73767		\$	5,000	Automatic	ABI
Total sfor	Make:	AUDI			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
			Avg.					
			101505		\$	10,000		
Make:	BMW							
2251	3201		91623		\$	2,000	4 Speed	RMS
Total sfor	Make:	BMW						
			Avg.					
			91623		\$	2,000		

Other Output Types and Formats

In addition to the standard Report Output Type, *Foxfire!* also offers many other extensible Output Types and formats. These other Output Types make it simple to integrate your reporting data into executive level presentations, financial models, and other client deliverables. While these

Output Types and formats are available with any Request Type, they are most commonly used in conjunction with a detail request type.

Output Type	Output Format	Comments
Report	Columns	See above
	Form	See above
	Master/Detail – Group Headings	See above
	Master/Detail – Page Headings	See above
Browse	Data is displayed on the screen in a grid format	ORANGE HUN BERGER Control And State and Sta
Labels	Choose type of label from standard list based on labels across Alternately, you can use the Label Request Type	11 bbd Type
Graph	Generic GenGraph	
	Excel – 3D	Pie, Column, Bar, or Line
	Excel regular	Pie, Column, Bar, or Line
Spreadsheet	Excel (XLS) – File Only	* ¹ Excel XLS formatted file
	Excel (XLS) – Launch	* Just launch Excel and show the data
	Excel (XLS) – Launch Pivot Table	Launch Excel and create a pivot table

The table below summarizes each of the different Output Types and Formats that are available.

¹ Note that items marked with an (*) will automatically generate a file in the *Foxfire*! OUT subdirectory. This file will be named the same thing as the Request and have an Output Format specific file extension.

Output Type	Output Format	Comments
	Lotus WKS	* Lotus WKS formatted file
	Lotus WK1	* Lotus WK1
Mail Merge	Microsoft Word	* Creates a mail merge
	WordPerfect 5.x	used in each word processor
	Generic WordProcessor	as a data source
ASCII	SDF (fixed length)	* SDF extension. Standard Delimited Format file (each row is the same length and fields are right blanked padded)
	Delimited (standard)	* ASC extension. Character values are surrounded in quotations and fields are comma separated.

Output Type	Output Format	Comments
Data	DBF/Foxpro	* DBF extension. Current version of Foxpro format.
	DBF/Foxbase+ (dBase4)	* DBF extension. dBase 4 or Foxbase + format
	DBF/Fox(2x)	* DBF extension. Foxpro 2.x format.
	Cursor	Creates an internal temporary table to be used by programmers
	Array	Creates an internal structure to be used by programmers

≻Working With MS Office

MS Excel

Foxfire! can send query results directory to Microsoft. Thus *Foxfire!* can dynamically create Excel spreadsheets, charts, or pivot tables. Running a Request with any of these three output types will automatically launch Excel (if it's not already running), create the specified Excel spreadsheet, and place the user in Excel with the generated sheet active.

Excel Charts There are eight different chart types available: Pie, Bar, Column, Line, 3D Pie, 3D Bar, 3D Column, and 3D Line. *Foxfire!* generates the selected chart type at runtime then launches Excel with the chart displayed for viewing or editing. At this point the user can use Excel's Chart Editor to make any desired changes to the chart. Consult the Excel documentation for chart formatting options.

As you experiment with charting your query results in Excel, you will find that not all queries make sensible charts. Or to put it another way, not all chart types can sensibly be used for any given query. Be careful when charting detail Requests. Detail Requests with non-numeric data in the result set usually do not make sense as charts. This is because each row in the query's result set generates an X axis label in the chart. For example, if you attempt to chart the sample Request "Inventory on Hand" using no filter, Excel will attempt to chart over 900 different car makes on the X-

axis of the chart. The resulting chart is barely readable and obviously does not provide a useful picture of the data. Generally the only Requests that produce useful charts are those that contain columns of numeric-only data. Line charts are useful for this type of data. An example of this type of chart using the sample data set would be to plot the price received vs. the expense repair amount. A line chart could perhaps illustrate any correlation between car price and repair expense.

Summary and Cross-tab Requests are usually best for charting when there are non-numeric result columns because grouping is forced in these types of Requests. However, you still must be careful that the total number of rows in the result set is minimal. Particularly, summary Requests can generate many rows if there are many different columns of character or date data that are unique. For example, the Request "Inventory on Hand" would be better suited for a chart as a summary Request; however, you still would probably want to eliminate all columns that do not lend themselves to aggregation, such as the Stock No data item. Also, since there are many different combinations of Makes and Models you will want to eliminate the Model column, or filter the Makes to one or two different types. It is usually best to output your report to screen and check the size of the result set before attempting to chart. Finally, the order of the data items as selected in the Request Editor greatly influences the chart output. Keep the non-numeric data items separated from the numeric data items in the selected list, and list them before the numeric data items.

Excel Pivot Tables A pivot table is one of Excel's great data analysis tools that allows users to display and analyze summary information as a relation between row and column variables. *Foxfire!* can automatically send query results into an Excel pivot table. A pivot table is much like a cross-tab report, but you can specify multiple row, column, or calculation field variables, with groups and subgroups. Pivot tables also allow a wide variety of subtotal calculations such as sum, average, minimum, and percentage. It is called a pivot table because you can interactively rearrange row and column variables around the core data area to generate different views of your data. As with Excel's charting capabilities, there are many options available, so please consult your Excel documentation for a complete explanation of this feature.

Detail, summary, or cross-tab Request output can be sent to a pivot table. Since no interface is provided with this release as to where each result column is to be placed in the pivot table, some assumptions are made when creating the pivot table. If you output a cross-tab or a summary Request to a pivot table, you get a one-to-one mapping of rows in the result table to rows in the pivot table since the *Foxfire!* SQL query puts the results into summary rows with numeric columns aggregated entirely within Excel. All character and date data items in detail or summary Requests are initially placed as rows in the pivot table, and all numeric columns are initially placed as data fields. Once the pivot table has been generated, the user can change the positions of any of the variables using Excel's powerful interactive pivot table interface.

MS WORD

Foxfire! can send query results to a MS Word mail merge .DOC file. This file can then be used within Word for merging into another Word document that has the merge placeholders for the records produced by *Foxfire!*. Word has an easy-to-use mail merge tool for merging properly delimited query result files into parent mail merge documents. Actually, Word recognizes a wide variety of file types so you can just as easily specify your output to a FoxPro DBF and let Word's mail merge tool use the DBF file.

Layout

If you choose an output type of **Report** or **Label**, you can use the options in the **Layout** section to further refine the appearance of your Request's output. For **Report**, you can choose a **Layout** Style and define additional Options. For **Label**, you can choose a **Layout** Style.

Layout Style

The Layout Style determines the way the report is physically formatted and what fonts it uses (see "Layout Styles" on page 4-9).

If you are using a graphical version of *Foxfire!* You can choose from Presentation, Executive, and Ledger in addition to Character and Character-Web Page.

World Wide Web Browseable Output - By selecting the layout style Character-Web Page, *Foxfire!* processes the result data through a special character layout template to a file, then post-processes the file to remove carriage return characters. The result is an ASCII file with HTML directives in it allowing it to be viewed in Web browser software. While the layout is "bare-bones" you can enhance the template to fit your specific requirements.

	en Uutput for	Request INVENTRY - Invento	ory on hand		
	Output Type	Report Layout < Auto Format from Template >	Columns		<u> </u>
		Style) a	ustomization	
		Default (Presentation)		<u>E</u> dit	Choose
	Send To	Default (Presentation) Presentation Executive	- \ [Save <u>a</u> s	Auto Eormat
ayout styles	C Printer © Screen	Ledger Character New Character		<u> </u>	Setup
	C File	Character-Web Page			Options
	Special Proc	essing Options			
	<u>H</u> elp			0	K Cancel

Figure 4-23

≻To choose a different layout style

- 1. Choose Auto Format (if it is not dimmed).
- 2. Choose a layout style from the Style drop-down list.
- **Note:** If you have customized the report layout, you must choose Auto Format to apply the new style. This causes *Foxfire!* to create a new layout which overwrites you customizations. You then must reapply them. (For more information, see "Editing Requests that Generate Customized Reports" on page 4-71.)

>Layout Options

Foxfire! has additional options for designing reports. Choose Options to open the Layout Options dialog:

Show filter conditions on report	Formatting
• None	Always Prompt for Header
C All	🗖 Suppress detail lines
C Ask-at-Runtime conditions only	Fit to page
Detail Line Spacing	Summers renest values
Use Line(s) per Detail Line	
Column Supplier	
1 🚖 Spaces between Columns	
	Capaci

Figure 4-24 Layout Options dialog

Show filter conditions on report To help you see at a glance how the report was filtered, you can print the filter conditions for each run in the report header.

These are the choices:

- \checkmark None Does not print filter conditions in the report header.
- ✓ All The full filter condition prints in the header of the report every time the Request is executed.
- ✓ Ask-at-Runtime conditions only This report may have a combination of filters. Some of these filters are "built-in" to the Request, while others are based on the Ask At Runtime option. If you enable this feature, reports display just the filter condition that you fill in at the time you run the Request. (For more information, see "Ask at Runtime" on page 4-22.)

Formatting You can choose one or more of these formatting options:

✓ Always Prompt for header – Foxfire! asks the user for a report header every time the Request is executed. If disabled, the user is prompted only if there are Ask at Runtime filter conditions.

- ✓ Suppress Detail Lines Suppresses the detail lines and produces only the group and summary sections of the report.
- ✓ Suppress Zeros in Cells Cross-tab Requests only. Suppresses cells whose values is zero (displays as blank).
- ✓ Fit to Page (graphical only) *Foxfire!* places all the report objects on the layout within the page boundaries. This entails reducing the type size, and/or shortening the individual objects.
- **Note:** You may have to adjust the layout manually to avoid truncating data in some fields.

Detail Line Spacing Use this option to control the spacing for each line of detail in the Request. You can set the spacing in increments of $1/10^{\text{th}}$ of a line. (In DOS: whole lines only) You cannot choose a spacing of less than 1 line per detail line.

Suppress Repeat Values Suppresses repeat values by columns. Indicate in how many columns (the rightmost being the first column) this feature should appear. Leave it at zero if you do not want to implement this feature.

Column Spacing *Foxfire!* automatically inserts one space between columns on a report. With this feature, you can format your report to increase the distance between columns. Choose the number of spaces to insert between columns.

► Layout Customization

Edit Choose Edit when you want to modify the layout. This opens FoxPro's report Layout Editor (or Label Editor, if your Request is of the Label type). See Chapter 6 "Customizing Report Layouts" for assistance in using the Layout Editor.

When you save your changes, *Foxfire!* saves the report layout in a file with the same name as the Request. If an .FRX already exists with that name, *Foxfire!* prompts you to enter a name for the layout. The name is displayed in the box immediately above the command buttons in the Layout section of the Output Selector(see Figure 4-25).

	Output Type	Report C	olumns		•
When a Request is using a custom	(Layout < Auto Format from Template >			
report layout, the .FRX is listed		Style Default (Presentation)	•	Customization Edit	Choose
here		Options		Save <u>a</u> s	Auto Eormat

Figure 4-25 Name of .FRX Indicates Custom Report Layout in Use

For information on working with customized report layouts, see "Tips for Customized Report Layouts" on page 4-70.

Save As Choose Save As to save the report layout (.FRX; .LBX for labels) under another name. A Save As dialog opens for entry of the new name. This allows you to copy a report layout for later editing and as a quick start in creating a new report from an existing Request.

Choose The **Choose** button allows you to select a layout from a list of report layouts previously created and saved. The report layout file name (.FRX) appears in the box immediately above the command buttons in the Layout section.

Auto Format The Auto Format button is enabled only if the Request is using a customized (modified) report layout. Choose Auto Format when you wish to regenerate the report layout. *Foxfire!* regenerates the report layout based on your choices in the Data Items Selector, Filter Builder, etc. When you select Auto Format, you have the choice of saving the existing modified report layout or deleting it. For more information on using Auto Format, see "Editing Requests that Generate Customized Reports" on page 4-71.

≻Output Destinations

From the Output Selector you can choose to send a Request's results to one of three destination types.

end To		
O Printer	F	Setup
• Screen		Options

Figure 4-26 Output Destinations

The destination types available are:

- ✓ Printer
- ✓ Screen
- ✓ File

Output to Printer

Select Printer to display a list of defined printers. Default (printer name specified in the active Preference Set) is displayed unless a printer has previously been associated with this Request. You may either accept the default or choose another printer from the drop-down list.

If you select a different printer, that printer is then associated with the Request. Every time you run that Request, the output is directed to the printer you selected until you specify a different printer.

To specify a new printer configuration, choose **Setup** and enter the printer parameters.

To change instructions for the currently selected printer, choose Options (below Setup

Note: On a network, *all* users running the Request will be directing it to the specified printer. *Be sure to specify a network printer*.

Output to Screen

Choose Screen to preview results on the screen.

When you run a Request with Screen as the destination, *Foxfire!* displays the result in a window.

See "Preview" on page 4-66..

Output to File

When you want to store the results of a Request to disk, choose File. A dialog box opens, prompting you for a file name for the Request output. The default file name uses the same name as the Request. (If the Request is called INVENTRY, the default file name is INVENTRY.RPT.) Type a file name or leave the default name, and choose Save.

Note: If you have directory access privileges, the dialog box allows you to select drive and directory designations. If not, your output is restricted to *Foxfire!'s* default output directory.

➤Special Processing Options

The Special Processing Options at the bottom of the Output Selector is an advanced feature which requires some knowledge of programming. For more information, consult the *Foxfire!* Reference Manual.

Preview

The Preview window allows you to view a Request's output on screen before printing. The window can take different forms, depending on the type of report you create. (See "Layout Styles" on page 4-52.)

Windows Preview

Foxfire! provides you with the following options for creating:

- ✓ Character reports of plain—ASCII output (i.e. without printer control codes) are created when you select Character from the Report Style list.
- ✓ Graphical reports are created when you select Presentation, Executive, or Ledger from the Report Style list. You can also create a graphical report by placing a picture on it or by specifying fonts and font sizes.

The Output Choices Window

When you close the Preview window, this window opens:

Request		13 Records Selected
SAMPLE1	Inventory On Hand	
Output		
Request Typ	e Detail	
Columnar Re	port To Screen	
Layout Style	: Presentation	
Next Action?		
Next Action?		

Figure 4-27 Output Choices dialog

- ✓ Print Displays the Print dialog in preparation for directing the results to the printer.
- ✓ Edit Layout Opens the FoxPro report (or label) layout editor. For more information on changing report layouts, see Chapter 6 "Customizing Report Layouts" and "Tips for Customized Layouts" on page 4-70.
- \checkmark Preview Displays the output on the screen again.
- ✓ Show SQL Opens a dialog box that displays the SQL statement. You can edit the SQL by pressing F6. Save any edits by closing the window with the mouse or pressing CTRL + W.
- ✓ Close closes the Output Choices dialog to return to the Request Manager.

The ability to run the Preview repeatedly without re-running the query is especially helpful when "fine-tuning" a customized layout. You can make changes to the layout and see the results immediately, without a need to wait for the query to run each time.

These buttons appear when you preview a *character* report:

- ✓ Zoom Presents a Zoom Request Output dialog box. Choose a point size (7, 9, 14, or 16 pt) to scale the report up or down.
- ✓ Print Displays the Print Settings dialog.
- ✓ Edit Allows you to view or edit the report. The display window becomes active, allowing you to scroll around the Report to view or edit it. The standard FoxPro window controls are available for mouse users, or you can use the cursor control keys to help you move around the Report. If you make changes to the report, press CTRL +W to save them or press ESC to abandon them. This is plain ASCII text. *Changing the result does not alter the Request that created the results.*

If the Request is read-only, the button text says Scroll.

- ✓ Copy to Disk Presents a Save As dialog box. Specify a file name to hold the ASCII result file.
- ✓ Edit Layout Opens a character version of FoxPro report layout editor (not available on Macintosh).
- **Note:** Loading a full copy of the FoxPro character-oriented report writer takes a considerable period of time. Depending on your computer's processing speed, hard disk speed, and memory configuration, *it can take a minute or more before report writer window opens*. Due to disk swapping, you may find that your computer operates more slowly than usual while the character report writer is in use.
- Warning: Any customizations you make to the report layout can be lost if you make subsequent changes to the Request. Once you understand the precautions explained in "Tips for Customized Report Layouts" on page 4-70, you will be able to maintain your custom reports.
- \checkmark Close Closes the Preview window.

You can always change the report layout style after first creating the Request, see "Layout Styles" on page 4-9.

Visual FoxPro Preview

The Preview in Visual FoxPro is similar to Windows except you choose the options from a toolbar.



Preview the output, using options from the toolbar:



Figure 4-28 Print Preview Toolbar

The Visual FoxPro "Print Preview" toolbar can be customized from the VFP command window to include an option for printing directly from the Preview window.

When you choose to exit the preview, the Output Choices dialog box opens (see "The Output Choices Window" on page 4-66).

Tips for Customized Report Layouts

Foxfire! automatically generates reports in formats that fit most reporting needs. However, some applications require customized layouts, so you will have to modify report layouts.

When you modify a report layout, the generated layout is saved as an .FRX file and the name of this .FRX file is stored in the Request. Every time the Request is run thereafter, the .FRX file is used as the layout.

Note: If you add a data item to a custom report, make sure the added data item exists in the Data Items table and has been selected for the Request. You can verify these by inspecting the Available and Selected lists in the Request Editor.

Editing Requests that Generate Customized Reports

If you customize a report layout and then edit the associated Request, *Foxfire!* cannot reflect your editing of the Request in the customized report layout. See Chapter 6 for a complete explanation of how to create custom layouts).

There are two ways to include new data items in a customized report:

- \checkmark Auto Format and reapply the customization
 - 1. Edit the Request
 - 2. Regenerate the report layout with Auto Format.
 - 3. Re-apply the desired customizations.
- -- OR –
- ✓ Add/change the layout manually

Use the **Report Layout Editor** to manually add or subtract fields, change groups, and so on to the existing layout.

Note: If you don't want to lose a custom report layout when you choose Auto Format, *Foxfire!* gives you the opportunity to save it before regenerating.

≻To modify a Request which has minor custom layout changes

If you need to make changes to a Request that has a minimally customized layout already, use the Auto Format option and reapply the customization:

- 3. Add the data items using the Data Items Selector.
- 4. Go to the Output Selector and choose Auto Format, or select Auto Format from the alert dialog displayed when exiting the Data Items Selector.
- 5. This regenerates the layout from the Request specifications (including the new data items).

- 6. Edit the layout to reapply the minor changes.
- 7. Save the Request.

The minor layout changes that existed before adding the new data items will be available for future reference if you chose not to delete the custom layout at the time of regeneration.

➢ To modify a Request which has extensive custom layout changes

- 1. Go to the Output Selector.
- 2. Choose Edit.
- 3. Modify the generated report to manually add or delete data items to match the Request.

If you use the Expression Editor while placing fields, the data items from the current Request appear for selection in the picklist on the lower left.

- 4. Save the report.
- **Note:** When you manually customize reports, all fields must refer only to data items that appear in the *Foxfire!* data dictionary for the current Preference Set.
- **Note:** A correspondence must be maintained between the layout and the selected data items of a particular Request. Otherwise an error message appears when you run the Request.

This means if you add items to the layout, you must also add them to the Request. Similarly, if you add data items to the Request, you must also add corresponding fields to the report layout. Do *not* specify any table aliases, use only the output field names.

Creating A Summary Request

Sometimes, you may want a *summary* Request that provides a single line summarizing selected information for each group, as opposed to providing all of the details.

For example, you might want a report that shows how much total business you have done with each dealer as opposed to seeing all of the details of each dealer sale. This type of request is a perfect application of the Summary Request type. Except for the selection of data items, and one new type of filter condition, the steps of creating a summary Request are very similar to creating a detail Request.

There are two types of columns in a summary report: *group identity and summary data*.



See Creating A Summary Request on page 3-38 for a detailed description of how to create a Summary Request.

>Specifying Summary Data Items

Data item selection is different for a summary Request than for a detail Request. For those items being summarized, you must specify the type of summarization (for example, a count) in addition to the data item itself.

- **Note:** If you select an item and do not indicate a summary function for it, the item becomes part of the group identity information. *Foxfire!* knows, based on the data type of the data item being selected, what type of summary functions are applicable.
- For example: if you select a character based data item, only the Min and Max functions are available since you cannot calculate an Average or Sum of a character field.

Group Filters (HAVING Clause)

When you are building a summary Request, an additional feature appears in the Filter Builder — the Available data items list for filtering includes all calculated items selected for this Request in the Data Items Selector, in addition to the data items available for detail Requests. These special items, at the top of the Data Item list, actually let you filter the result based on the results of the summarization performed on the summary Request. It is just as easy to build this type of filter condition as any other.

Example: Our summary request consists of the data item, Purchased From Name. This means that the result contains one row for each uniquely named dealer we've sold a car to. Currently, we are showing summary sales information for every dealer who we've ever sold a car to.

The business specification (see page 3-38) indicates that we want to only see information *for cars sold in the last three months with a total profit of more than \$1,000.*

The following steps show you how to accomplish this task.

First, we want to restrict which sales we count and calculate.

- 1. Choose Filter.
- 2. Choose Add.
- 3. Note that the list of available filter items starts with 'Group Filters'.
- 4. These are filter items that are based on the summary data being shown on the report after all the calculations have been done. *Foxfire!'s* Filter Builder keeps track of these special group filters and places them at the top of the filter list.
- 5. At runtime, group filters are turned into a SQL HAVING clause.

avg of Cars Age at Sale Group filters avg of Cars Age at Sale avg of Cars Days in Inventory	ers	e	í	Cars	~ £	
Group filters ug of Cars Age at Sale ug of Cars Days in Inventory	ers				UT	нуд
ivg of Cars Age at Sale ivg of Cars Days in Inventory			٢o	— Gr		r
vg of Cars Days in Inventory	ale	2	A	Cars	of	Avg
	Inventory	/s	C	Cars	of	Avg
um of Cars Sale Price	ce	le	S	Cars	of	Sum
vg of Cars Sale Price	ce	le	S	Cars	of	Avg

- 6. Scroll down to the 'Detail Filters' section and pick Cars Date of Sale.
- 7. Then specify that the rest of the filter conditions should be Is On or After an Ask At Runtime value.
- 8. Choose OK.
- 9. Next we want to only show dealers who we've made a significant profit on.
- 10. Choose Add.
- 11. Choose Sum of Gross Profit
- 12. Then specify that the rest of the filter conditions should be Is More or Equal To \$1,000.00.
- 13. Choose OK
- 14. The Filter Builder should now look like this

	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		16 ((Not)	Relationship		Valua(c)	
Cars I Sun	of Gross P	sle Offit	Ls Graup Es	Qn or Alt Filters - More or -	er (ask to 1	at runtile	•)
dH	Eb <u>A</u>	્વ)	Delete	Union	Top N

- 15. Choose OK to return to the Request Editor
- 16. Choose Preview

- 17. When prompted to Enter a Sale Date enter 01/01/2000.
- 18. Also note that when the Request runs, you get far fewer records than we did before you specified any Filter Conditions.

Purque of DLRSALES							
Cans Sold to Dealers							
Page 1 Rillera Considere Of	Sale Isún or Afo	r 11 49/2000					
Soldin Dealer	tierre Count	Surpat Price Revid	Aug of Price Revel	Sumat FraiN	Zeng cil Patrik	rwg nt Car Age	Aug of Reys in Inventory
AU O WUST HONEY	1	1 1400	1 / 650	01,000.00	0 (200)		150.0.
BAY DEES AUTO ALCTION	410	\$1,0-,400	\$ 256	C3.092, 15	5 520.97	7	150.00
DOM: SAVER 2410 COLD THE		1. 1.1.14	1. 1.1%	1.1,00 0	1111.000	1	1500
CARL CHEVROLET DEO	3	5 20,700	\$ 5.900	9,600.00	5 633 33		150.00
CENTRES CHEVEN VIA	:	> 41,324	2 13/5	51,70 0	5 41101	- Û	1510
COURTESY'S IEVROLET	c	5 53,000	1 3932	1 2,000.00	5 455 67	1	130 03
DOE NOR MILLER		> 1 5 ml	2 1 500	51, and 11	51	2	1510
CUDU: DICA		\$ 3000	1 3000	00.000, 0	31 003.00	4	1.33.03
MACH ISSEN BUICH	4	5 57,200	\$ 387	\$ 2,460 00	5 F12 51	1	151.07
SAINT CLARE CADILLAC	2	0 33,300	C 10,170	C ,30C.30	C C C D 0 D	÷ 1	13003
SUNKASE LINCOLN SERC	5	5 5 .90	\$ 7.37	\$ 2,400 m	5 670.00	e	1510
TOYOLS ALC AL O	2	£ 11.2×C	1 /15	C17-C.U	6 24.53	1	1500.
GRAND TOTALS:							
2000-0001 - 0.00 0000-	4.00	\$4.000 ADD	e	440.474.08	C 000 08		-

- 19. Apart from the special group filters and the fact that there are two types data items (group identity items and summary items), summary Requests operate similarly to detail Requests
- 20. Choose the Open Door
- 21. Choose Close to return to the Request Editor
- 22. Choose Close to return to the Request Manager

Cross tab Requests Creating a Cross-Tab Request

A cross-tab report is a matrix that shows a relationship between two variables for all records meeting the filter criteria. The results appear at the intersection of each row and column.

Creating a cross tab request

See Creating a Cross-Tab Request on page 3-41 for a detailed example of creating a cross tab request.

Business Specification:

We are trying to decide what kinds of cars to purchase for resale. The decision on what kind cars to purchase will be based on the average profit we made for each year and make of car we sold. We are only interested in cars made between 1992 and 1999. Car makes should be displayed vertically (down the rows) while year of manufacture should be displayed horizontally (across the columns).

Name	Description					
AVPROF	T Average Prcfit of N	Nakes from 1992	to 1999			
	Calculation Method	uí Gruss Pruíi	L		sort →	
	Cars Make	Cars Year	1995	1996	AZZA	-
Sort	CHEVROLET					— I Row Summaries
2 Z	FORD					_
A	PONTIAC					
F	ilter	I	I Col Surrmarie	es utout		
			Report Layout	to Screen Style: Default (F	resentation)	
			1.12			

Figure 4-29 Cross tab Request Editor

Request: AVPROFT Avenue: Profil of Makestrom 1992 to 1999.

Make by Year Sbip 1 Page 1 Year 1992 1990 1994 1995 1997 1996 199 ACHEA 3 276.00 3,310.00 F 1:500 ANC 2001 94,500.00 14,000 1 42 01 as an w 1-2,000.00 EMM \$ -177.50 \$ 55.00 \$ 117.50 \$ 470.00 \$ 782.00 \$ 400.75 \$ 129.17 FILLOS £ 1m 25 1 -781 21 £ 142.00 1 140.00 3 -177 50 CADILLAC AL HUD 1-.,000 1 (4).30 CHEVROLET 5 381 58 3 362.73 \$.273 % 3136.67 \$ 24.7 CHRYS_ER £ 485.00 £ 4557.85 \$,303 % \$1365.00 \$ 6,300.00 \$ 543.33 1 687.50 LATS I. FORD \$ 107.25 \$ 283.44 2000 \$ 3.W \$ \$71.11 1 -290.22 1 465.00 14,002.01 \$1,557.25 9 29.00 3 (.45 \$-4,501.57 \$-650.00 \$ 22 21 31 3:1.48 esic For£.▲ \$ 730.00 \$ -521.25 -11,-IMM \$ 10 67 5 7.9 51 5 -387 50 \$ 50.00 I YUNDAI ISLA 1 402.90 \$ J/1 0/ \$ 300 00 \$ 800.00 \$ 880.00 \$ 5,005.00 JEED \$-3.25 57 3+ 745 m \$4,538m \$ 33.12 \$4.302.00 LINCOLN a way and 0.300 % \$ 490.00 1 45.00 NATA 1 4:00.00 \$4.025 X 14.00.20 MERCEDES MERCIPH £ 2,390.00 £ 790.00 £1,9100 3 /2300 \$ 500 00 \$ 1 900 m f (m)) 14,2 nm \$ 510.83 3-1 ¥5 m

CrossTab Average of GrossProfit for

Figure 4-30 Cross tab request example output

The following characteristics distinguish cross tab requests from other requests:

- ✓ The Request Editor differs in appearance. You work in a grid that visually resembles the final result. As you fill in the grid, you specify which data items constitute the horizontal and vertical components of the grid.
- ✓ You specify the calculation method used to produce the numerical data that fills the grid.

- ✓ It is possible to summarize the columns and the rows, using the same calculation method chosen for the cross-tab values. To summarize columns, mark the check box Col Summaries. To summarize the rows, mark the check box Row Summaries.
- **Note:** When computing Row or Column Summaries using the Average aggregating function, *Foxfire!* calculates the *true average* for the Row and column data groups, rather than the averages of averages which could be mathematically misleading.



Figure 4-31 Cross tab with row and column summaries

Label Request

The procedure for creating a label is similar to that of creating a report Request. You specify the data items to be included, filter conditions, sorting and grouping criteria, and the output type.

But labels have different output options than reports. Labels can be printed in columns and are formatted to fit a specific type of label. Data items for city, state, and zip usually need to appear in the same line.

To deal with special label formats, *Foxfire!* provides a special Data Items Selector window for labels. It allows you to select from many commonly used label formats, including Avery forms. As you select data items, you

31/2" x 15/16" x 1 Indent O Cars Age at S Cars Color Cars Date Of Cars Date Pai Cars Date Pue Cars Date Pue Cars Cars Color Cars Date Pue Cars Date Pue Cars Cars Color Cars Date Pue Cars Cars Color Cars Cars Color Cars	Sale Of Sale Paid Purchase n Inven Date of Se Nunbe	e e ased ventory of Salo nber	
ndent I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	Sale Di Sale Daid Vurchasen Inven Sato of S Se Nunbe	e le ased ventory of Salo nber	-
Selected Select		2 2 -	
Selected Remove	, .		Space
			Text
			1 1 1 E
	0000		000
	$\mathbf{x} \times \mathbf{x}$		\cdot \cdot \cdot
	23		

specify their location on each line of the label, adding punctuation if necessary.

Figure 4-32 Label Request Data Items Selector

In this example, we want to create mailing labels for letters we are going to send to dealers who we've purchased cars from in the last two months that have still not sold. We will be sending these dealers a letter indicating that until these cars sell, we will be unable to purchase additional cars from them.

≻To create a label Request

See Creating Label Request on page 3-32 for detailed instructions on creating a label request.

Label Types

The first step in creating labels is to indicate the label type. To specify the Label Type select Choose from the Data Items Selector. The Label Type dialog opens:

A MERCENTER OF		Heigh	t	vVidth	
3 1/2" × 15/16" × 1	5	Lines	35	Characters	E
3" x 5 Rolodex	14	Lines	50	Characters	
4" × 1 7/16" × 1	8	Lines	40	Characters	
4" x 2 1/4 Rolodex	10	Lines	40	Characters	-
6 1/2" x 3 5/8 Envelop	e 14	Lines	65	Characters	
9 7/8" x 7 1/8 Envelop	e 17	Lines	78	Characters	
Avery #4145	15/	16"	3-1	L/2"	
Avery #4146	1-7	/16"	4"		
Avery #4160	2-7	/16"	3-1	L/2"	
Avery #4161	2-1	5/16"	4"		
Sort list by (• Na		Height an	d Widt	h	

Figure 4-33 Label Type dialog

The Label Type dialog offers a list of available label types. The list changes with how many *labels across* you select (1,2,3, or 4 columns) and whether your label paper is measured in inches or millimeters. The list of label types includes the standard Avery® label forms. If you choose 1 label across and are measuring in inches, the list also includes rolodex and envelope forms. You can choose to sort the list of available label formats by Name or by Height and Width for easier selection.

Indentation

You can specify how far from the label margin to indent the text by indicating the number of character to indent in the Indent field.

Table and Data Item Selection

The Available list is comprised of two "sub-lists". The first is a dropdown list of available tables. From this list you choose the source for the data items you wish to use. The source table determines which data items appear in the second list, the list of available data items.

When you choose a data item, you are choosing not only *what* you want on the label, but also *where* you want the item on the label. You control this placement, or positioning, by first highlighting the desired line in the **Selected** list. This becomes the *active* line. Then chose the data items for that line in the order in which you want them appear. As an item is selected it appears on the active line of the **Selected** list. If an item is already on the active line, the item you choose is placed after that item. Use the sample label as a reference for double-checking your placement of data items.

Punctuation and Text

Use the punctuation buttons to add or insert a comma, period, colon, dash, or space between data items. This is especially useful when city, state, and zip codes are separate data items rather than combined in a single data item.

Use the Text button to add or insert text into a line of the label such as "Attn" or "c/o".

Filtering, Sorting and Grouping in Labels

Note that all of the Filter, Sort + Group, and Output features available in a detail request are also available for a Label.

Filing Requests in the Request Manager

Now let's file this new Request in the Sales Reports folder of the Request Manager.

- 1. Make sure the DLRSALES request is highlighted
- 2. Choose Tools, then Move Request, then Request, then Sales Reports from the menu

OR

Right Click on the request and choose Move Request then Requests then Sales Reports
Request M	anagei - Requests Root						
Ele View	Tools						
- I Run	Piele er de Bels Edit Data Temo	FE	X Delete	[] ♦ Evi.	Dictionary	Rey Tres	V N
Request Tree	Eatch Builder	A R	Reques	ts Roct			
🖄 Reduests R.	Move Request		R≘	quesia 🕨)) This Foldsr		
Example	Show SCL		ES	Care S	<u>1</u> Examples of B	pecial Fealu	es
SSIBS Ra	Count		3	nvento	2 Bales Flecoits	()	
	Abou. <u>F</u> oofnell :		EM IK	Langev Lic⊧ú	🛓 rivertary Kap	porta	
	Comments	12	ы	Protir analy	sis by dealer		Ppł
	Evetern Administrator	049	:10 17	Bales Repo	ort (Original) Full Name Exampl	c	P.pt Hot

Notice how the Request seems to disappear from the Request Manager.

3. Click on the Sales Reports folder in the Request Manager tree.

Notice how the Request now appears in this folder.

>To create a new Request Manager Folder

- 1. Click on the folder pane of the Request Manager
- 2. Right Click or Choose Create Folder from the File menu.
- 3. The New Folder dialog appears



4. Enter the Name of the new folder and choose the folder under which you want to create the new folder.

For example: If you wanted to create a subfolder of Sales Reports to hold "Monthly Sales Reports" you would highlight and select "Sales Reports".

5. Choose OK

Renaming a Request Manager folder

You can change the name of a Request Manager folder by selecting in the Request Manager folder tree and then choosing Rename Folder from the File menu. You can also right click on the folder name and choose Rename Folder.

When prompted for the new folder name, enter it and select OK.

>Deleting a Request Manager folder

You can delete a Request Manager folder (and all the requests and subfolders in it) by selecting in the Request Manager folder tree and then choosing Delete Folder from the File menu. You can also right click on the folder name and choose Delete Folder.

Exporting a Request and Data Items

Foxfire! has the capability to export Request definitions (including associated data dictionary items and custom layouts [see page 4-71]). The export file created can then be subsequently imported back into *Foxfire!* using the Import option (see page 4-84).

This feature is useful if you have multiple copies of *Foxfire!* which are installed on separate computers but share the same data dictionary or if you are developing requests for someone else. You may also want to use this feature to create text based backups of your important requests to help mitigate the risk of someone editing an important request.

➢ To export a Request, Data Items, and Custom Report Layout

- 1. Choose Export from the Request Manager File menu.
- 2. The Request Exporter dialog appears:

Move one request		Request Fap	nater			×
from the Available list		Avaiable Rec	questa			
to the Export List		Name	Cesiciption	Las Mudifier	Hser	
	1.	NV_ORG	Inventory on hanc	1L/2E/2000	SYSTEM	
	-	JALOFICS	Example of filter only data item	10/17/2000	SYSTEM	100
	, <u> </u>	I RGEVIPEN	Largest expense for each par	12/01/1999	SYSTEM	
		MAL_LBL	Mailing Lakels for Dealers	12/01/1999	SYSTEM	
Move <u>all</u> requests to	_	MULTJON	Joins four different tables	12/01/1000	SYSTEM	
the Export List		PSOT_ANI	Profit enalysis by cealer	12/24/2000	SYSTEM	
		QUARTILE	Quartle rank (proff.)	12/01/1999	SYSTEM	
		RUNTIME	Newest restures of Wak at Huntime	J1/11/2000	SYSTEM	
		SAMPLE2	Inventory on hans	10/20/2000	SYSTEM	
Move all requests back to the Available list		Found Resource	Move one req to the Availabl	uest back le list		N
		I▼ Export Re: I▼ Export Cu	ques: Dala Heins stom Reques: Lavouts		Ex¢cort	Cancel

Figure 4-34 Request Exporter dialog

3. Select one or more requests to export by highlighting them in the Available list.

To also export the data dictionary data item definitions used in the request by checking the Export Request Data Items checkbox.

If the selected request(s) also have custom report layouts, export them by checking the Export Custom Request Layouts checkbox.

- 4. After selecting the request(s) to export, choose Export to create the export file.
- 5. When prompted, enter the name of the export file.

By default, the export file will be created in the *Foxfire*! OUT \land directory and have an XML extension.

Importing a Request and Data Items

After having exported a request using the *Foxfire!* Export function (see Exporting a Request and Data Items on page 4-83) you can then import the Request, Data Items, and Custom Report layout back into the same or a different version of *Foxfire!*

>Importing a Request, Data Items, and Custom Report Layout

1. Choose Import from the Request Manager File menu.

2. The Request Exporter dialog appears:



3. Choose a file to import by clicking the ... button

By default, the file picker will look for the import files in the *Foxfire!* OUT\ directory.

4. Select one or more requests from the import file to import.

Use the Current Requests in Foxfire! tab to see which requests you already have in your currently selected preference set.

- **Note:** if you import a Request that already exists in your preference set, you will be prompted before the Request is overwritten.
- 5. Choose Import to begin the import process.
- 6. After the import process has completed, you will be shown a summary of what was actually completed.

The *Foxfire*! Menus

When the **Request Manager** is visible, the options shown in the following illustration may be available from the File menu.

Note items marked with an asterisk (*) can also be accessed from the Request Manager Toolbar



Figure 4-35 Request Manager File Menu

The following options can be found on the **Request Manager** Tools menu.

Note that some of these options may be inaccessible based on your security rating as setup in the *Foxfire!* User Manager.



Figure 4-36 Request Manager Tools menu

Choosing a Preference Set

The Preference Set is the main organizational structure in *Foxfire!* and provides control of an entire *Foxfire!* session. The Preference Set table contains one or more Preference Sets. The choice of a Preference Set determines the availability to the user of:

- ✓ Privileges and product features
- ✓ Requests
- ✓ Subsets of data files and data
- \checkmark File relationships that link the data
- ✓ Available Report Layout Styles

You can change the current Preference Set by choosing Preference Sets from the Tools menu. The Preference Set Picker dialog opens:

Preference Set	User	Department	
Demo Use of Views Sample Data Set	ENDUSER	Micromega Micromega	*Startup

Figure 4-37 Preference Set Picker

Use the features in this dialog box to do the following:

✓ Change the current Preference Set

You can change the Preference Set that appears in the Request Manager highlighting the desired Preference Set in the list and choosing OK. Depending on how *Foxfire!* is set up on you system, some users might not be granted access to change Preference Sets.

✓ Set the default Preference Set

You can designate one Preference Set as the default to be activated when *Foxfire!* is started. Do this by highlighting the Preference Set and choosing Use at Startup.

✓ Edit a Preference Set

Choose Edit to open the Preference Set Editor.

Note: Editing or creating a new Preference Set is an advanced customization task. Preference Sets control the features of *Foxfire!* You can create multiple Preference Sets to display different data sets or to change what users can access.

System Administration Utilities

This option offers a set of operations to define and configure your *Foxfire!* environment. These utilities are restricted to only users with System Administration permissions and should be used with extreme caution.

Access these utilities by selecting System Administration from the Tools menu.

Setup Wizard Edit Preference Sets	1
Edit Data Items Import Data Items	
Edit File Relationship Info Import File Relationships from Environment	
Edit Report Template Edit Label Template	
Reindex Foxfire! System Files Adjust Data Items to Match Indexes Refresh Sample Values in Data Items Show Configuration Info View Query Log	
User Account Manager User License Monitor	

Figure 4-38 System Adminstration Utilities

These utilities appear in the list:

- ✓ Setup Wizard An automated method of achieving a basic *Foxfire!* configuration for your data set.
- ✓ Edit Preference Sets Creates and identifies characteristics of Preference Sets. Determines which data set will appear in the Request Manager at startup. See page 4-87.
- ✓ Edit Data Items Controls descriptions and behaviors of the data items that will appear in *Foxfire*!
- ✓ Import Data Items From File Automatically loads information form data fields into *Foxfire!* Data Dictionary.
- ✓ Edit File Relationship Info Set up how *Foxfire!* matches data from separate tables which are used in a request. Data is shown in a tree view. Also known as the Join Editor.
- ✓ Import File Relationships from Environment Automatically loads SET RELATIONS from FoxPro's current environment into the File Relationship Editor.

- ✓ Edit Report Template When *Foxfire!* creates a new report layout, it starts by copying from a *template*, which specifies the basic arrangement of the layout. Each layout style may have a different template. This option lets you use the FoxPro Report Layout Editor to modify templates. For example, if you want every report produced to include your company name or logo at the top, you may use this feature to add it to the template. For details on editing of reports, see the FoxPro documentation or Chapter 6.
- ✓ Edit Label Template Works the same way as the report template (see above). If you want to adjust the way your labels are created, selecting this option lets use the Foxpro Label Editor to make and save changes to the template. For details on editing of labels, see the FoxPro documentation.
- ✓ Reindex Foxfire! System Files Causes the *Foxfire*! support files (as specified in the currently selected Preference Set) to be packed (old records removed) and reindexed. (Note if using a Network; Reindexing requires require exclusive access to the files, so if others are using *Foxfire*!, it may not be possible to reindex).
- ✓ Adjust Data Items to Match Indexes If you have changed any index tags on your application's data set, this option re-synchronizes *Foxfire!'s* data item "where expressions" to the tags, insuring optimization.
- Refresh Sample Values in Data Items Replaces the "Sample Data" field for each data item with an actual value drawn from the source table. The first non-empty/non-zero value found in the source table is used.
- Show Configuration Info Creates a text file listing a wide range of information about your computer's configuration, the settings being used by FoxPro, and the current values of many memory values.
 Please do not submit listing to technical support unless asked to.
- ✓ View Query Log *Foxfire!* can record information about every request (query) that is run including: the request name, description, # of records returned, how long the query took, what date and time the query was run on and which user ran the Request. This utility provides you with a way to view and sort this information (including the actual SQL statement that was run). Additionally, this utility can be used to clear the query log.
- ✓ User Account Manager Setup and maintain user account information for all users who will be accessing *Foxfire!* This

information includes username, password, security access, and preference overrides.

✓ User License Monitor – (Enterprise Edition only) Every time a user logs into *Foxfire!* Enterprise addition Request Manager, they use a license. If so some reason, they exit *Foxfire!* abnormally, their license remains in use. Use this utility to monitor and accurately reflect the number of users currently in the product.

The Batch Builder

Requests may be batched to streamline the process of running them, for example if you run the same group of Requests periodically (daily, weekly, monthly, etc.).

To create, edit, or run a batch of Requests, choose Batch Builder from the Tools menu:

Vailabla Ram	arto		Deterrinanie.	Тонглеа
Vame	Description	Outpu	ut Type	Requests in Batch
AVPROFT	Average profit of makes from 1992	Rpt	Cross-Tab	
DLRSALES	Cars Sold To Dealers	Rpt	Summary	
INVENTRY	Inventory on hand	Rpt	Detail	
JALOPI ES	Example of 'filter only' data ite	Rpl	Detail	
LRGEXPEN	Largest expense for each car	Rpt	Detail	
MAIL_LBL	Mailing Labels for Dealers	Lab	Labels	
MULTJOIN	Joins four different tables	Rpt	Detail	
MYLABELS	Labels for Dealers We Purchased F	Lab	Labels	
PROF_ANL	Profit analysis by dealer	Rpt	Detail	
QUARTILE	Quartile rank (profit)	Rpt	Detail	
RUNTIME	Newest features of Ask-at-Runtime	Rpt	Detail	
SAMPLE1	Inventory On Hand	Rpt	Detail	
SAMPLE2	AUDI's and BMW's	Rpt	Detail	
SAMPLE3	AUDI's and BMW's	Rpt	Detail	
SOMULEX	Ked Cars On Hand	Kpt	Vetail 🔄	

Figure 4-39 Batch Builder

Note: Be careful to choose Requests that are suitable for running automatically. You should avoid Requests with Ask at Runtime filters, for example, which would cause the batch printing process to halt while waiting for the Ask at Runtime input.

Other settings to watch out for are Requests whose default output destination is Screen, and Requests with the Prompt for Print Options at Runtime options enabled.

≻To create a batch

1. Choose Requests from the Available Requests list.

The chosen Requests appear in the Requests in Batch list.

2. Choose Save Batch. The Save As dialog opens.

Save As				?	×
Save in: 🔄 OUT	- 🗈		Ċ		
Save Batch to:				<u>S</u> ave	
Save as type: Table/DBF (*.dbf)		-		Cancel	8
		_	1	Help	
			Coc	le Page	

3. Enter a name for the batch. Note that the batch information is contained in a table (DBF).

By default, the batch table will be stored in the *Foxfire*! OUT \land subdirectory.

≻To edit a batch

- 1. Choose Open Batch
- 2. Select a previously saved batch table.

By default, *Foxfire!* looks in the OUT\ subdirectory for batch files.

3. Change your selection of Requests by adding Requests from the Available list or removing Requests from the Request in Batch list.

4. Choose Save Batch.

≻To run a batch

- 1. Choose Open Batch. The Open dialog opens:
- 2. Choose the desired batch.
- 3. Choose Run Batch. The Requests will run in the order in which they appear in the Requests in Batch list.

≻To edit a Request while in the Batch Builder

- 1. Choose the desired Request (in either the Available list or the Requests in Batch list). Since a Request is highlighted in each list, the *active* Request can be identified by the dotted line around it.
- 2. Choose Edit to open the Request Editor for the active Request. After making your changes and saving them, *Foxfire!* returns you to the Batch Builder.

Foxfire! Fit to Page

When the data items you have selected for your request are too wide to fit on the report, *Foxfire*?'s Fit to Page feature tries to fit your print output to the dimensions available when you run the Request. You will be prompted with the following dialog box:

Try to squeeze as much as you can on the page by shortening some of the longer fields and using a smaller font

Report layo	out is not wide enough for a	ll the selected Data Items.	
	Options for finishing this	run now:	
	Fit to Page	Run As Is	Cancel
	Explain techniques for a	djusting the layout later:	
	Fit to Page	Master Detail Lavout	Other Suggestions

Figure 4-40 Fit to Page dialog

In character styles if you pick Fit to Page, *Foxfire!* will automatically shift the font of your request to compressed print, and a landscape orientation, if these are supported by your printer.

In graphical styles, if you select the Fit to Page option, it will reduce the font size, and if the output still won't fit, narrow fields individually. This may cause word wrapping that you can adjust by modifying the layout.

Additionally, you can using the **Sort + Group** feature and pick a different **Layout Style** (see page 4-61) to move fields out of the detail band thus narrowing the request width.

When you need to arrange a large number of fields on a layout, it is easiest if you let *Foxfire!* place them all. Use Fit to Page, then adjust by hand, rather than trying to place by hand every field that doesn't fit at standard sizes (see Chapter 5 for information on how to create a custom layout).

When you choose to edit the layout of your report, *Foxfire!* opens the Layout Editor (in Visual FoxPro it is labeled the Report Designer). This chapter shows you how to use the Layout Editor to customize a report layout to enhance its appearance.

With the Layout Editor, you can make such common enhancements as:

- ✓ Adjusting vertical spacing
- ✓ Moving data items and text
- \checkmark Adjusting the appearance of data items and text
- ✓ Adding lines and boxes
- ✓ Adding custom calculations

A report layout is make up of the following types of objects (see Figure 5-1 Layout Editor on page 5-3):

\checkmark	Report bands	These bands contain text, data items, and custom
		calculations which appear on the final report. There
		are seven kinds of bands:

- *Title* Prints once per report at the top of the report
- Page Header Prints once per page
- Group Header Prints at the start of a new group of information. Groups are setup in the Sort + Group Selector. There is one of these bands for each data item marked as Group By. Detail Prints for each record selected in the query. Group Footer Prints at the end of each group (as soon as a new group is detected) There is one of these bands for each data item marked as Group By. Prints at the bottom of each page of the report. Page Footer Summary Prints once at the end of the report. ✓ Data Items These are the fields that you selected in the data
- ✓ Text item selector
 ✓ Text These are labels that have been extracted from the Data Dictionary, built by *Foxfire!* for group summary data, or placed there by you.
- ✓ Lines/Boxes Based upon the Layout Style you've chosen, these

items can add a polished look to your request.

Copying a Request

In order to preserve the original Request, we will make a copy and customize this copy.

≻To copy a Request

- 1. In the Request Manager, highlight Sample1, then choose Edit.
- 2. Choose Save As.
- 3. Name the new request INV_CUST.
- 4. Choose OK, then Close to return to the Request Manager.

Steps For Customizing a Layout

Figure 5-1 shows the Layout Editor's report layout window. You access the Layout Editor from the Output Choices window.

>To start the Layout Editor from within *Foxfire*!

- 1. Preview the Request INV_CUST.
- 2. When the report displays in the Output Choices window, choose Edit Layout.
- 3. The Layout Editor opens, displaying your report layout

	% Fonlinet Report Winter Ets Est Espoit Window Hids View Figmat		
at the top of the report	Ist former 10,	koj, ku, ku , ku , oluj, ku , k	n circles are called
Items here appear once at - the top of each page	Implementation Impleme	Report	Bands
Items here appear each - time a new Cars Make is printed	Make: Mains Mileage Coinr Stock# Mores Mileage Coinr	Price Prict Trans PriceELECT PRTEARSPURCHO	-
Items here appear just before a new Cars Make is printed	Contains for the set of the set	PURCIPR	Items here appear for each record
Items here appear once at - the end of the report		MIKCIMK	selected in the query
Figure 5-1 Lay	out Editor	Items here appear the bottom of eac	r once at h page

- 4. Referring to the instructions in the section "Layout Editor Features and Terminology" that begins on page 5-6, customize the layout as follows.
- 5. **Move an object:** In the Summary band, locate the object Grand Totals: Select it and move it so that it is aligned horizontally with the data items MILEAGE and PURCHPR in the same band.
- 6. **Delete an object:** In the Group Footer band (1:Make), choose the text object "Make" and delete it.
- 7. **Move a group of objects:** In the Group Footer band (1:Make), choose the objects "Totals for" and the adjacent data item object MAKE and move them as a group to the left so that they are aligned on the Left Hand Margin. Then select all of the items in the group band and move them up to the center of the bad, leaving the "Totals for" object still aligned on the left hand side.
- 8. Add a text object: In the Group Footer band (1:Make), next to the text object Avg, add the text Sum of Price Paid and center align it with the PURCHPR object.
- 9. Change the appearance of an object: In the Group Footer band (1:Make), select the text objects Avg and Sum of Price Paid change the font to Bold Italic.
- 10. Adjust the height of the band: In the Group Footer band (1:Make), drag the band indicator up, close to the bottom of the text object Totals For, to reduce the amount of empty space.

11. Your report layout should now look like this:

📓 fourepoi	t.	as in			o a	Auto at	10 A	1
- linkow	NI	9.0 24	n ₁ , an ₁ , ,	0.01 4.0 1	450	Ball Kill	Fal /II	(a)
⁰ rpt_nome	n							
- pt head								
💻 Title								
⁰ .IIF(m.gbs	tah AH IFL_Pag IFC_page	nn = 1, ffr_diaj	ol ay, "")				j	
💻 Fage	leater							
⁰ Make:	FAANC							
Sluck/	Madel	Mileage	Culu	Price Paid	Trans	Pure		
🔺 Group	Header 1:MAKE							
0 STOCKED	WODLL	MLLAG	0000	FUNCTION	115893	PUISTID		
🔺 Dələi								
0		Arrq.		Sum at Price Pr	ud			
- Lotais Ior	MARL	MILLAGE.		PURCTIPR_				
🔔 Uraip	Locter 1:MARL							
0 inpt_date.	rpt_time							
💻 i age	cote-							
0 :								
-		ANG.						
GRAHD T	OTALS:	MILEAGE.		PURCHPR				
5								
agi tally	at .							
A Summ	ar,							
1								

- 12. Preview the report layout frequently from inside the Layout Editor as you make changes to see how they affect the layout. This shortens your learning curve. To preview your layout from the Layout Editor (even if you haven't saved your layout changes yet), choose Preview from the View menu. After previewing, click the Open Door toolbar icon to return to the Layout Editor.
- 13. When your changes are complete, save the modified layout (see "To save the customized layout" below). You can then see the enhanced report on screen:

≻To Save The Customized Layout

1. Click on the Close Box in the upper left-hand corner of the Layout Editor window.

You are asked if you want to save your changes.

-OR-

2. Choose Close from the File menu.

You are asked if you want to save your changes.

-OR -

3. Press Ctrl-W to save your changes and close the Layout Editor. (Press Ctrl-Q to close the Layout Editor without saving your changes.)

Making Changes after Customization

Customized reports must be kept in sync manually if you change certain aspects of a Request later. When appropriate, *Foxfire!* will notify you and offer to recreate (Auto Format) the layout. If you proceed, your customizations will be overwritten and will have to be reapplied. If you don't regenerate, you must update the layout manually to match the Request.

Specifically, changes to the following aspects of a Request cause any previous layout customization to be lost:

- ✓ The list of Selected data items in a detail or summary Request or data items included in a cross-tab Request
- ✓ Sorting or grouping specifications
- ✓ Group break calculations or layout options
- ✓ Calculations in a summary Request

Loss of customization occurs because *Foxfire!* must recreate the entire layout to accommodate any of the above changes and overwrites the old customized layout with the new one. This loss of previous customization cannot be prevented so the best strategy for using *Foxfire!* is to wait until you are satisfied with the other aspects of the report before customizing the layout.

When making any of the above mentioned changes, you will be warned before you begin your editing



When you return to the **Request Editor** after having made your changes, you will be given the opportunity to preserve the layout (forcing you to manually edit the FRX to show the changes you have just made) or to have *Foxfire!* re-generate the FRX (forcing you to manually make ALL of your changes again).



Figure 5-2 Auto-Format warning

Layout Editor Features and Terminology

Figure 5-3 shows the Layout Editor. The call-outs show several of the control and status indicators.

- ✓ Bands Bands define sections of the layout. Band types include:
 - \checkmark Title prints once at the beginning of the report,
 - ✓ Page Header prints at the top of each page,
 - ✓ Column Header prints once at the top of each column for labels,
 - ✓ Group Header prints just after a group value changes,
 - ✓ Detail prints for each selected record,
 - ✓ Group Footer prints just before a group value changes,
 - ✓ Page Footer prints at the bottom of each page,
 - ✓ Summary prints once at the end of a report

The name of the band is displayed in the band separator bar directly below it.

The objects that are printed in each band are found just above the band separator. A new layout has three bands: page header, detail and page

footer. Additional bands appear if you include such features as groups, title page, etc. in the Request. Each band can contain text, data items, calculated fields, lines and rectangles.

✓ Toolbars — This is a set of buttons that can be moved to any place on the Layout Editor design surface. These tools allow you to create report and label objects and provide quick access to some of the more common formatting features (such as left, right, center justify).

For the **Report Controls toolbar**, choose the desired tool and move the mouse pointer to the desired location in the layout, then click to place that type of object at that specific location.

For the Layout Controls toolbar, select the item(s) to which you want to apply the format, and then click the appropriate toolbar button.

✓ Ruler —Shows where the cursor is currently positioned by displaying horizontal and vertical lines.

Foxficiel Deport Writer le Edi: Deport Window Help	View Formet			
	• <u>Barnu</u> se		Report Cojects	and Layout Toolbar
8 footepout				
0 50	0 1 20 251 300	1 20 HCO	10 1 020 1 000	661 700 1. 700
rpi name				
rpl desc			-	
∳rµt_head		Layout and Band Rule	(
▲ Tile				
IIF(m.gisrah AN IIF(_Page IIF(_	pagenn = 1, fil_diaplay, '')			
A Dana Haadar				
a i ale nease				
Make: MAKE	Text object	Data Item Object		1
Stock# Modet	Mileage Color	/ Price Paid Trans	Parc	3
A Gunu Hearen " Mok F				i.
STOCKNO MODE	NIESGE DO DE	D ROADS TRANS	EL ROHD	l
a listal	I meeter locase	Theory Three	1 record	1
				1
and the second	Avg.	Barrer Pare Pare Ba	and Separator Ear	Sepurit Band
Contro Energy 1444/1E	KILLHOL	PORCEPR		
a monthe fright strates of				
rpl date_ rpt tame_				
A Pajreccia				
	2000			
Fanor	AUG	Inuncuon I		
CODAUD TATAL O.	MILCHOC	PURATER		
GRAND TOTALS: Valiable				
GRAND TOTALS: Variable	Galer du	r lleri		
sqitallyist	Calcinh	e lli m		

Figure 5-3 Layout Editor Controls

The report layout window displays the objects that make up the physical appearance of the report. These objects include:

✓ Text objects — Text is treated as an object which can be selected, edited, moved or deleted. These objects originate from the Data Dictionary and Calculation Types.

- ✓ Data item (field) objects Data item objects display the data from a table, from a calculated value, or from a UDF.
- ✓ Graphic objects Lines, rectangles and pictures are available for use in reports and enhance the readability of a report.

The Layout Editor provides menu options and control buttons to add, delete and manipulate these objects.



Figure 5-4 Layout Editor View Menu



Figure 5-5 Layout Editor Report Menu



Customizing The Layout

≻To adjust the height of a band

- 1. Drag the band's separator bar to the desired position.
- 2. To set a precise band height, double click the band's separator bar.
- 3. In the Height dialog that opens, enter a value for the height.

>To adjust the height of an object

To make a specific object taller or shorter, first insure that the band is tall enough to accommodate the change.

- 1. Drag the object to where you want its top to be positioned
- 2. "Stretch" or "shrink" it by dragging the lower border of the object until it is the desired height.
- 3. The height is adjusted in whole line increments if Snap to Grid is set on or increased in direct proportion to the adjustment if Snap to Grid is not set on.

>To adjust vertical spacing (spaces between lines)

- 1. To adjust the number of blank lines between detail lines, drag the Detail band to the desired height.
- 2. To adjust the spacing between groups, drag either the upper or lower Group band to the desired height.

Note: Vertical spacing adjustments are made in whole line increments if Snap to Grid is set on or in direct proportion to the adjustment if Snap to Grid is not set on.

Moving Objects

≻To move a single object

Simply click and drag the object to the desired location.

≻To move a group of objects

1. Point the mouse cursor above the desired objects, then holding down on the mouse button, mark a circle (or rectangle) around the objects. A dotted line appears around them. When you release the mouse, the dotted line disappears, and the objects are selected.

OR

- 2. Hold down the Shift key as you choose each object you wish to include in the group.
- 3. Drag the group to the desired location.
- 4. A group created this way is temporary and is released as soon as you click outside the group. However, you can make a group permanent, so that its objects always move together until you explicitly "ungroup" them by using the Group (or Ungroup option on the Format menu).

Changing the Appearance of an Object

>To format a data item or text object

- 1. Choose the data item or text object you want to format.
- 2. Choose either Font or Text Alignment from the Format menu, depending on the customization you are applying (other style or formatting options are shown in the Format Menu).



Figure 5-7 Layout Editor Format Menu and Toolbar

3. If you choose Font, the Font dialog opens (you should recognize this dialog from other standard Windows packages):

ont:	Font style:	<u>S</u> ize:	141
Arial 💼	Regular	8	OK
🗣 Arial 🕂 Arial Black	Regular Italic	8	Cancel
Prial Narrow Arial Narrow Book Antiqua Bookman Old Style Calisto MT Century Gothic	Bold Bold Italic	10 11 12 14 16	Help
Effects	Sample		
☐ Stri <u>k</u> eout			
□ <u>U</u> nderline	Д Аавру	γZZ	
<u>C</u> olor:	1		
Black 💽	Se <u>r</u> ipt:		
	335	*	

Figure 5-8 Layout Editor Font Dialog

≻To change an object's width

Click and drag on the bottom right hand corner of a data item to adjust its width.

In Windows, sometimes, it is hard to see if an item's defined width is sufficient to accommodate the data. To assess this, move the cursor just below the item and type the characters, CW, (in the same font, style and size) repeatedly until you have typed an equivalent number of characters to accommodate the data. In this way, you will be able to gauge the fit and if necessary, stretch the item to the required width by dragging its rightmost border.

Adding Objects

≻To add text

- 1. Choose the Text tool (A).
- 2. Click at the desired location, and type the text.

≻To add a line

- 1. Choose the Line tool (+).
- 2. Position the cursor where you want the line to start, then drag to size the line.
- 3. Note: For a double line, draw two lines and place one on top of the other. Turn Align To Grid off (first).

≻To add a rectangle

- 1. Choose the Rectangle (**D**) or RoundedRectangle (**D**) tool.
- 2. If you are adding a rounded rectangle, double click on the rounded rectangle to open the Rounded Rectangle dialog. Use the options to set the corner style.

Creating Custom Totals and Calculations

Foxfire! automatically calculates most of the summary information you need. While you can insert a custom calculation here, generally, it is preferable to create calculations using the Group Options features

Creating Expressions

Part of creating database reports and documents is manipulating the contents of the data to make the more presentable. Much of the time you will be able to use data items as they come straight from the database. But in the case of mailing labels, you usually have to create a custom data item.

Foxfire! uses Xbase expressions to permit you to create combinations of smaller data items and to modify the contents of data items. When you combine data items, or transform one or more in some way, you are creating an *expression*. Here is a *very brief* look at Xbase expressions. For further information consult the FoxPro user manuals or obtain a good book on FoxPro and Xbase concepts.

Concatenating Strings

One of the most common *expressions* you will have to create is "pasting" together two character data items (for example: First name and Last name to form a single expression that is the Full name). To "paste" together two data items and make a new expression, you use a plus sign. The technical term for putting two character data items together is *concatenation*. The following expression concatenates two data items.

You could have typed this concatenated expression in the Expression input field to create a single data item which represented the salesman's full name (last name then first name):

Sales.LName + Sales.Fname

The result would look something like this when *Foxfire*! creates a document:

Smith

John

This is not very presentable. There is a large gap between the last name and the first name and you probably want a comma and a space separating the two.

Here's how to concatenate a comma into the expression:

Sales.LName + ", " + Sales.Fname

By placing a comma and space between quotes, you are indicating that you want those quoted items appear in between the other data items. The result would look like this:

Smith , John

The reason for the gap is that Foxpro stores fields with a fixed width. The data item Salesman Last Name is 25 characters wide. Even if you only use 5 characters for the last name (i.e. Smith has 5 characters), *Foxfire!* saves 30 characters on the output, filling the unused characters with spaces.

Functions

Xbase provides useful tools to manipulate data items and to transform them. These are called functions. Function can turn dates into words, lower case characters into upper case characters, decimal numbers into integers and much more.

There is a function that *trims* off spaces from both the front and back of data items. Here's how to use it in the last name, first name custom data item we created above.

ALLTRIM(Sales.Lname) + ", " + Sales.Fname

The result will look like this:

Smith, John

Expression Builder

If you are a power user, you can open the Expression Builder to assist you with creating an expression. This dialog is available in the Data Dictionary by choosing Expression Builder from the Data Item Editor we showed in the last section.

You can also get to the Expression Builder from the Filter Builder by choosing Build Expression for the Filter Value.

When you make either of these choices, the Expression Builder dialog is displayed:

R Expression	on Bui	lder				
Enter filter va	lue					
ļ					*	OK
						Cancel
Functions – String:			<u>M</u> a	th:		⊻erify
"text"		•			•	Options
Logical:		Dal	Date:			
0		-	{d	ate}		
Eields:				Va <u>r</u> iables:		
stockno	С	6		ff_exit	C 🖪	
year	C	4		ffvarread	С	
make		12		_jexitkey		
model color		12		ctry i		
vin		8		loff_bome		
YU1	101	- 01	<u> </u>	licnosplash		
From <u>t</u> able:	Cars		-	loffstalk	C -I	

The Expression Builder shows you all of the available Foxpro commands as well as all of the available fields and variables in the current environment.

All of the commands are organized by the kind of data they work on (i.e. String functions work on Character based data, Date functions work on Date based data). When you select a command from one of the dropdowns, the syntax for that command is provided in the Enter a Filter Value box. Replace the syntax placeholders with the actual field name or variables that you want to use.

The following sections are organized by function type and describe the most commonly used Foxpro commands.

Common String Commands

These commands can be combined to apply several different formatting options to one or more character based fields.

If you want to	Use this function	
Concatenate two character fields		
together and leave the trailing spaces	+	
Concatenate two character fields		
together and trim the trailing spaces from	-	
the first field and the leading spaces from		
the second		
Remove leading and trailing blanks from		
character expressions	ALL I KIIVI()	
Remove leading blanks	LTRIM()	
Remove trailing blanks	RTRIM()	
Add specified characters to the left, right,	PADL(), PADR(),	
or both sides of a string	PADC()	
Work with parts of a character string for		
comparisons ()		
Use a specified number of characters		
starting with the left of a string		
Use a specified number of characters		
starting from the right of a string		
Change uppercase to lowercase, or	UPPER(),	
lowercase to uppercase	LOWER()	
Convert a string to initial capitals	PROPER()	
Have a numeric field interpreted as a		
character string	SIR() UI VAL()	

Common Date Commands

If you want to	Use this function

If you want to	Use this function
Use a specific hard coded date	{^yyyy/mm/dd hh:mm:ss}
Get number of days between two dates (note that both fields used must be Dates and not DateTime)	Date1 – Date2
Calculate a new date by adding (or subtracting) a specific number of days to a date (note that Days may be positive or negative)	Date1 + Days
Return the name of the Day of the Week represented by a specific date (i.e. Monday, Tuesday)	CDOW()
Return the number of the Day of the Week represented by a specific date (Sunday = 1 and Saturday = 7)	DOW()
Return the name of the Month of the Year represented by a specific date (i.e. January, February)	CMONTH()
Return the Month of the Year as a number (i.e. 1-12) for a specific date	MONTH()
Return the Day of the Month as a number (i.e. 1-31) for a specific date	DAY()
Return the Year as a number (i.e. 2000) for a specific date	YEAR()
Returns a number representing the week of the year from a Date field. If you omit the optional nFirstWeek and nFirstDayOfWeek arguments, uses Sunday as the first day of the week.	WEEK()
Return a character field in day-month- year format (for example, 31 May 1998)	DMY()
Return the specified date field in month- day-year format with the name of the month spelled out (for example, February 16, 1998)	MDY()
Convert a character value (formatted as yyyy/mm/dd) into a date value	CTOD()
Convert a date value into a character value (formatted as mm/dd/yyyy)	DTOC()
Convert a character value into a date value	CTOD()
Convert a date value into a character value (formatted as yyyymmdd). Use this for sorting values by date	DTOS()

If you want to	Use this function
Get the current date at the time the	DATE()
Request is run	DATE()
Get the current time at the time the	
Request is run	DATETIME()
Returns the current system time in 24-	
hour, eight-character string (hh:mm:ss)	TIME()
format.	
Return a date that is a specific number of	
months before (if negative) or after (if	
positive) a given Date value. Note that all	
leap year and maximum days in a month	GOMONTH()
rules apply. For example:	
GOMONTH({2000-01-31}, 1) returns	
{2000-02-29}.	

Common Math Commands

If you want to	Use this function
Get the Absolute Value for a numeric field	ABS()
Return the next highest integer that is greater than or equal to the specified numeric field.	CEILING()
Return the next lowest integer that is greater than or equal to the specified numeric field.	FLOOR()
Return the integer portion of a numeric field.	INT()
Return the minimum value from a comma delimited list of numeric fields or values	MIN()
Return the maximum value from a comma delimited list of numeric fields or values	MAX()

Common Other Commands

These commands will return Yes or No as an answer and can be used in the IIF() command discussed below.

If you want to	Use this function	
Determine if a specific field value is		
between two other values (or fields). Note		
that the data type of all three fields		
specified in this command must be the	BETWEEN()	
same. For character fields, Yes is		
returned if the first field is <u>alphabetically</u>		
between the second and third values.		
Return Yes if the passed field is empty.		
All data types are supported.		
Return Yes if the first field passed is		
found in the comma delimited list		
specified in the following parameters.	INLIST()	
Note that the data type of all fields		
specified in the command must be the		
same.		

IIF() - IF...THEN...ELSE Support

Foxpro has a command that will return one of two values based on the result of a Yes/No expression. The Yes/No expression can be made up of any series of Foxpro commands that return a Yes/No result.

The syntax for this command is:

IIF(logical expression, return result 1, return result 2)

If the logical expression returns Yes, then the return value specified first is returned. If the logical expression returns No, then the return value specified second is return.

Note that these IIF() commands can be nested within each other to create a structure demonstrated below:

IF condition 1

THEN

IF condition 1a

THEN

RETURN result 1A

ELSE

RETURN result 1

ELSE

RETURN result 2

We can use this example when creating a data item that is the salesman's full name including middle initial (i.e. John R. Smith). We do not want to include the period and space after the middle initial if the middle initial was not specified (i.e. EMPTY). In other words, if the salesman had a middle initial, then we want to concatenate a space, the middle initial, a period, and another space to the first name. Otherwise, we only wanted to concatenate a space to the first name.

The data item expression would look like this:

```
ALLTRIM(SALES.fname) + ;
IIF( NOT EMPTY(SALES.middle), ;
    " " + SALES.middle + ". ", " ") + ;
SALES.lname
```

Note the **bolded** expression. This is the part of the expression which knows how to handle the case where the salesman does not have a middle initial.



The IIF() command is just one of the very powerful functions available to you in Foxpro.

Indexing Explained

Indexing is a technique that speeds up retrieval of database records. They are particularly helpful for shortening the time required to run a query or report. Therefore, indexes are nearly always used with tables that are important enough to be included in a query or report.

Indexing is accomplished by creating a second, smaller index file with one index record, corresponding to each record in the table. During retrieval, the index records can be quickly searched to locate the corresponding database records, instead of having to search through the larger table.

Unlike database records which are added to the table sequentially, index records are located in the index file according to a very clever and precise formula that, for a specific data value, always results in the same record address (location).

The database record might be located anywhere in the table, but the index record is precisely placed so it can be retrieved very quickly. Run the formula when you create the data record and its index record is stored in a precise location; run it again to retrieve the index record in a flash. Since the index record contains the address of the database record, the database record can now be retrieved almost instantly too.

The principle underlying indexing is similar to the card catalog at the library – by looking for a reference to an Author, Subject, or Title you can find a particular book directly using a location coding scheme ("book address") without having to search through the entire library.

Indexing Files Speeds Up Filtering

An indexed search significantly cuts retrieval time for a single database record, but the timesavings are far more impressive when retrieving groups of records. You have already seen how a filter functions when you worked with the sample Requests. When a Request is run, the records in the table are compared to the filter conditions and are included in the results if the filter conditions are met. Because indexing saves such a significant amount of retrieval time, you should use it liberally on all of your tables.

Rushmore Optimization Explained

Rushmore Optimization (*Rushmore*) is a proprietary method for speeding up index record retrieval. Rushmore matches all filter (query) criteria you have specified to the index available in your database, and creates a custom sequence of processing steps for retrieving the matching records in the most efficient manner possible. For example:

- ✓ If <u>every</u> criterion you've specified in a filter contains indexed data items, Rushmore can pull all of the database pointers into memory at the same time and create, at very high speed, a consolidated list of records that meet all the criteria. This processing sequence is called *full Rushmore Optimization*.
- ✓ If only <u>some</u> of the criteria involve indexed data items, Rushmore performs the consolidation process on those, resulting in subset of records is then passed sequentially (rather than passing the entire file sequentially). This is called *partial Rushmore Optimization*. Though not fully optimized, it is still significantly faster than ordinary retrieval of records with multiple indexing criteria.

Foxfire! automatically takes advantage of Rushmore whenever it can. With Rushmore, a large file that might take hours to filter can be filtered in minutes or sometimes even seconds! Therefore, it's helpful to incorporate fields that support Rushmore Optimization in your filters wherever possible (they have an (R) to the right of the data item name in the list displayed when you build a filter condition in the Filter Builder).

The principle Rushmore follows is: for each criterion where a usable index can be identified, use that index in the consolidated indexing process to filter (narrow) the search, then run the results through the sequential search to complete the filtering.
Rushmore Can Be Accidentally Cancelled

While Rushmore can produce results in an astonishingly short time, it has one major weakness that causes FoxPro to revert to a much slower search method under certain circumstances.

This happens when the format of the comparison value does not <u>exactly</u> match the format of an index expression in an open index file for that table. If there is not an exact match to an index expression, FoxPro instead searches sequentially for the records that meet the filter conditions, resulting in a far slower search.

Rushmore can be cancelled under a variety of circumstances that are rarely caught by a casual user: Two examples are:

- ✓ If you build an index on a street name as it typically appears in an address (first letter upper case, remaining letters lower case), and you check "Upper=Lower" in FoxPro's RQBE screen, the index format will not match the SQL SELECT command created by RQBE and Rushmore will not use the index for that item.
- ✓ If you specifically a partial key value as a search criterion when the actual index expression is a concatenated field (or compound index), indexing is not used with for that criterion.

Here's an example from *Foxfire*!'s sample database:

An index tag, called Make+Model, exists for the Cars file. Although from a logical standpoint, the two expressions are identical, when FoxPro evaluates them as filter criteria to determine whether it can employ optimized retrieval:

- \checkmark The expression Make = "FORD", is not optimized.
- ✓ The expression Make+Model = "FORD", is optimized.

Insuring Rushmore Retrieval

The need to properly format each filter criterion is therefore obvious. *Foxfire!* can be customized to automatically insure that its SQL SELECT command will always include an optimizable expression.

To see one example of how this can be accomplished follow these steps:

- 1. Using the sample database, open the Data Item Editor.
- 2. Choose List and choose the data item Cars Make from the list.
- 3. Choose Filter to open the Filter Options dialog.
- 4. Examine the Filter Value Processing section. Two fields in this section control the processes that insure that Rushmore won't be accidentally cancelled by an improper entry:

<u>The "@!</u>" in the Input Picture field causes any characters typed into the Value field of the Filter Editor to be converted to upper case, insuring a match on character format.

The "VALTABLE ("CARMAKE", .T.) in the Validation field causes any string of characters typed into the Value field of the Filter Builder to be matched against a validation second table (a second table for the purpose of storing the valid values for a particular data item) insuring a match on content of the value.

Index

A

About Foxfire · 2-4 Foxfire! Navigation Map · 3-5 About *Foxfire!* · 4-3 Adding a calculation to a group break · 4-49 Adding custom calculations · 5-1 Adding lines and boxes · 5-1 Adjusting the appearance of data items and text · 5-1 Adjusting vertical spacing · 5-1 Aggregate data item · 3-66 Always Prompt for Header · 3-64, 4-62 ASCII · 3-65 delimited · 4-57 HTML output · 4-60 output type \cdot 3-65, 4-11 previewing character reports · 4-66 SDF defined · 4-57 Ask at Runtime \cdot 4-22, 4-62 ask at runtime options \cdot 4-22 default value specified · 4-22 dialogs, using at runtime · 4-29 making optional · 4-22 no value specified · 4-22 options $\cdot 4-24$ Ask at Runtime Filter advanced options, see 4-28 · 3-59 creating · 3-59 Ask at Runtime Options · 4-22, 4-24 add prompt · 4-25 add/delete conditions at runtime · 4-27 edit entire filter · 4-25, 4-26, 4-29 effects of · 4-26 enter filter values only · 4-26, 4-29 help text · 4-25 runtime help \cdot 4-28 runtime prompt · 4-28 specifying options · 4-25 user may edit · 4-27 Auto Format · 4-61, 4-64, 5-5, 5-6 Automatic Saving · 3-32 Average · 3-42, 4-48 Avery labels \cdot 3-35, 4-80

B

Batch Builder · 4-91 creating a batch · 4-92 editing a batch · 4-92 editing a request from a batch · 4-93 running a batch · 4-93 Browse · 3-4, 3-24, 4-11, 4-45, 4-56 Build Expression · 4-23 Building Filter Conditions · 4-34 Filter Builder · 3-7 Business Specification · 3-10

Cross tab Request, AVPROFT · 3-41, 4-76 Label Request, DEALLAB · 3-33 OR Connector, SAMPLE3 · 4-37 Outer Join.SAMPLEOJ · 3-48 Renamed Request, SAMPLEX · 3-28 Sample Inventory Report, INV ORG · 3-10 Sample Inventory Report, SAMPLE1 · 3-16 Summary Request, DLRSALES · 3-38 Top N, PROFTOP3 · 3-52 Button cross tab sorting · 3-44 print preview open door · 3-11 **Buttons** defined · 1-7 group · 3-23 $help \cdot 4-3$ Map of *Foxfire!* · 3-5 moveable list items · 1-11 mover · 3-19 new request · 3-17 option buttons \cdot 1-12 preview · 3-26 request editor · 3-12 request editor, copying · 3-26 request editor, list · 4-11 request editor, list of \cdot 3-26 request editor, preview · 3-26 request editor, run \cdot 3-26 request editor, save · 3-26 request editor, save as \cdot 3-26 request manager $\cdot 4-5$ $run \cdot 3-26$ save · 3-26 save as · 3-26 ungroup · 3-23

С

Calculated Data Items · 4-14 Calculations adding custom · 5-1 Cancelling Changes · 4-11 Changing order of selected fields · 4-14 Character Style · 3-63 Chart · 3-65 Check Boxes · 1-13 Choosing Data Items · 3-18, 4-13 Column Output Format · 3-54, 4-52 Column Spacing · 4-63 Column Summaries · 4-78 Command Buttons in the Request Manager · 4-5 Commands common functions · 6-6 for dates · 6-4 for strings · 6-4 IIF() · 6-7 math · 6-6 Comment Editor · 4-8

Comments · 4-8 adding · 4-8 editing \cdot 4-8 viewing $\cdot 4-8$ Common Date Commands · 6-4 Common Math Commands · 6-6 Common Other Commands · 6-6 Common String Commands · 6-4 Concatenating Strings · 6-1 Constants using in filter conditions · 4-19 Context Sensitive Help · 4-2 Count · 3-42 in a group break · 3-40 Counting number of records in Request · 4-11 Creating a Cross-Tab Request · 3-41, 4-76 Creating a Detail Request · 3-16 Creating a Filter · 3-19 Creating a Request · 4-6 Creating an Ask at Runtime Filter · 3-59 Creating Label Request · 3-32 Cross tab · 4-59, 4-76 calculation method · 3-42, 4-77 column summaries · 4-78 creating · 3-41, 4-76 filter builder \cdot 3-45 filtering · 3-45 other options · 3-47 output type \cdot 3-46 previewing · 3-46 request editor · 3-42 row summaries · 4-78 rows and columns · 3-43 saving · 3-46 sorting within · 3-44 specifying column values · 3-44 specifying data items · 3-43 specifying row values · 3-43 summarizing column values · 3-45 summarizing row values · 3-45 what to report on \cdot 3-43 Current Requests in Foxfire! · 4-85 Customizing a Layout · 5-2

D

Data files · *See* tables Data Item Editor filter options · 7-4 Data Item in a Filter Condition · 4-17 data items available · 3-18 choosing · 3-18 hiding · 4-14 removing from selected list · 3-19 repositioning · 3-19 selected · 3-18 specifying · 3-18 Data items

removing from selected list · 3-49 Data Items Selector · 2-5, 3-7, 3-17, 3-18, 3-32, 3-33, 3-35, 3-39, 3-40, 4-10, 4-13, 4-14, 4-64, 4-71, 4-74, 4-78 available list · 3-40, 4-13 changing order of selected fields · 4-14 hiding items \cdot 4-14 removing items from selected list · 4-14 selected \cdot 3-40 selected list · 4-14 showing hidden data items · 4-14 Database · 3-50, 7-1 E-R diagram · 2-3 files and tables \cdot 1-4 Inner and Outer Joins · 2-5 Relations · 2-2 relationships · 3-50 tables · 3-50 Tables, Records, and Fields · 2-2 The Sample Database $\cdot 2-2$ What is it? \cdot 2-1 $DBF \cdot 1-4$ dBase4 · 4-58 Foxbase+ · 4-58 Foxpro · 4-58 Deleting a Request · 4-7 Detail Line Spacing · 4-63 Dialogs defined · 1-7 Directing Output to a File · 3-65 Directing Output to a Graph · 3-65 Directing Output to a Pivot Table · 3-68 DLRSALES · 3-39, 4-81

E

Edit Entire Filter · 4-26 Editing add custom calculations · 5-1 add lines and boxes · 5-1 add text · 5-3 adjust appearance of data items and text \cdot 5-1, 5-3 adjust vertical spacing · 5-1 adjusting the height of each band \cdot 5-3 deleting data items and text · 5-3 move data items and text \cdot 5-1, 5-3 move more than one item \cdot 5-3 requests · 4-7 End User Work Plan · 1-1 Enter Filter Values Only · 4-26 envelope · 4-80 E-R diagram · 2-3 displaying in Foxfire! · 2-4 for Sample database · 2-3 Exactly Like · 4-41 Excel · 4-56 charts · 4-58 pivot tables · 4-59 Executive Style · 3-62 Request Manager · 4-8

Exit Foxfire! · 4-5 Exiting *Foxfire*! · 4-8 Exporting data items · 4-83 request definition · 4-83 request layout definition · 4-83 Expression Builder · 4-20, 4-23, 4-24, 6-3 verify expression · 4-24 expressions · 4-14

F

Files defined · 1-4 outputting to · 3-65 Filter Creating an Ask at Runtime Filter · 3-59 example · 4-15 group filters · 4-74 group filters, specifying · 4-74 Filter Builder · 3-7, 3-19, 3-21, 3-22, 3-30, 3-31, 3-45, 3-59, 3-66, 3-68, 4-10, 4-15, 4-16, 4-21, 4-24, 4-25, 4-27, 4-31, 4-38, 4-39, 4-64, 4-74, 4-75, 6-3, 7-2.7-4 add button · 4-16 adding · 3-45, 3-59 adding a filter condition · 3-30 adding conditions · 3-20 AND connector · 4-34, 4-37 ask at runtime · 3-59, 4-22, 4-24 ask at runtime option · 4-19 ask at runtime options · 4-16 between operator · 3-59 build expression · 4-23 building Foxpro Expression · 4-20 choosing a relationship · 4-19 command buttons · 4-16 filter condition values · 4-20, 4-22 comparing against NULL values · 4-19 connectors · 4-34 filter condition values · 4-19 creating conditions · 4-34 delete button · 4-16 deleting a filter · 3-30 edit button \cdot 4-16 filter condition values; comparing against another data item \cdot 4-22 Top N Values · 4-32 filter condition · 4-15 filter condition parts of · 4-15 filter condition relationships · 4-18 filter condition values · 4-19 In the List · 4-39 In the list relationship \cdot 4-36 Is (Not) Operator · 4-17 omitting duplicate records · 4-17 OR button · 4-16 OR connector · 4-35 OR connector with more than two conditions · 4-37 parentheses buttons · 4-16, 4-38, 4-39

relationships · 3-20 selecting only blank, empty or zero values · 4-20, 4 - 21show list of values · 4-21 special filter options · 4-31 tips $\cdot 4-34$ Top N values · 3-52 Top N Values · 4-31 Union · 4-33 using data items in filter conditions · 4-17 Filter Condition values · 4-19 Filter Condition Relationships · 4-18 exactly like · 4-41 In the List · 4-36, 4-39 like · 4-41 Filter Conditions creating · 3-19 defined · 3-3 Is(Not) operator · 3-20, 3-21 Filter Options · 7-4 Filtering Requests · 4-15 Filtering Tips · 4-34 Fit to Page · 3-31, 3-54, 4-52, 4-63, 4-93, 4-94 footer · 4-50 Form Output Format · 3-55, 4-53 formatting \cdot 4-50 Foxfire! installed on a network · 4-6 organization of · 3-5 starting · 3-8 using Rushmore · 7-2 FoxPro · 1-2, 2-1, 3-1, 3-20, 3-65, 4-17, 4-19, 4-20, 4-22, 4-23, 4-24, 4-41, 4-60, 4-63, 4-67, 4-68, 4-70, 4-89, 4-90, 5-1, 6-1, 6-7, 7-3 FRX · 4-63, 4-64, 4-70, 5-5

G

Getting Help · 4-2 Graph · 4-56 formatting · 4-50 Group Break · 3-22, 4-42, 4-44, 4-50 adding calculations · 4-49 adding formatting · 4-51 calculation options · 4-47 calculations · 4-46 cancelling · 4-45 creating \cdot 4-45 formatting · 4-46 removing calculations · 4-50 removing formatting · 4-51 Group calculations Average · 3-40 $Avg \cdot 3-40$ Count of records · 3-40 $Max \cdot 3-40$ $Min \cdot 3-40$ Sum · 3-40 Group Calculations options · 4-47

Group footer \cdot 4-50 Group Formatting Options \cdot 4-50 group header \cdot 4-46 header \cdot 4-50 Group Break \cdot 4-46 group identity \cdot 3-38, 4-73 Group Options \cdot 4-46 Group totals \cdot 3-22

Η

HAVING clause · 4-74 Help · 4-2 About *Foxfire!* · 4-3 button · 4-3 Context Sensitive · 4-2 Help button · 4-3 On-line Help Messages · 4-2 hide data items · 4-14 HTML · 3-60

I

IF...THEN...ELSE support · 6-7 IIF function · 6-7 Importing data items · 4-84 request layout definition · 4-84 Importing request definition · 4-83, 4-84 In the List · 4-36, 4-39 indexed search · 7-1 indexes · 7-1 Indexing · 7-1 explained · 7-1 indexed search · 7-1 Indexing and Rushmore · 7-1 Inner and Outer Joins · 2-5 example · 2-5 inner join defined · 2-5 outer join defined · 2-5 INV_CUST · 5-2 Is (Not) Operator · 4-17

J

Join Builder · 3-51, 4-10 dialog · 3-50 Join Editor · 4-10 Joins inner join, defined · 2-5 join builder · 3-50 modifying default joins · 3-7 outer join · 3-48 outer join, defined · 2-5 overriding default · 3-50

L

Label Editor · 4-63 Label Request · 4-78 Label Request adding multiple items to single line · 3-36 available data items · 3-35 creating · 3-32, 3-33 data item selector \cdot 3-32, 3-33 output options · 3-32 selected data items · 3-35 Label Request label type · 4-79 Label Request sort types by name \cdot 4-80 Label Request sort types by height and width \cdot 4-80 Label Request specifying indentation · 4-80 Label Request table selection \cdot 4-80 Label Request data item selection \cdot 4-80 Label Request punctuation and text · 4-81 Label Type · 4-79 Labels · 4-56 Layout · 4-60 customizing \cdot 5-2 other options · 3-63 show filter · 3-64 Layout Controls toolbar · 5-7 Layout Customization · 4-14, 4-63 auto format · 4-64 choose layout · 4-64 save as \cdot 4-64 Layout Editor · 4-48, 4-63, 4-71, 4-90, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, 5-4, 5-6, 5-7, 5-8 adding custom calculations · 5-12 adding custom totals · 5-12 adding formatting a data item · 5-10 adding lines · 5-12 adding rectangles \cdot 5-12 adding text · 5-12 adjusting height of band · 5-9 adjusting objects height · 5-9 adjusting vertical spacing · 5-9 changing object's width · 5-11 features · 5-6 font dialog · 5-11 format menu · 5-11 format toolbar · 5-11 formatting text objects · 5-10 layout controls toolbar · 5-7 making changes after customization · 5-5 moving a group of objects · 5-10 moving a single object \cdot 5-10 report bands · 5-1, 5-6 report controls toolbar · 5-7, 5-9 report menu · 5-8 ruler · 5-7

saving · 5-4 toolbars · 5-7 types of objects · 5-1 view menu · 5-8 Layout Options · 4-29, 4-31, 4-61 formatting · 4-62 column spacing · 4-63 detail line spacing \cdot 4-63 formatting · 4-63 formatting options · 4-62 showing filter conditions \cdot 4-62 formatting · 4-63 suppress repeat values · 4-63 formatting · 4-63 Layout Style · 3-60, 4-9, 4-60 auto format · 4-61 changing · 3-60 character style \cdot 3-63, 4-60 character web page style · 4-60 character-web page · 3-60 choosing one · 4-61 defined · 4-60 examples · 4-9 executive style \cdot 3-62 executive type \cdot 4-60 layout options · 4-61 ledger style · 3-63, 4-60 presentation style · 3-62 presentation type \cdot 4-60 LBX · 4-64 Ledger Style · 3-63 Like $\cdot 4-41$ Limiting a Request to the Top N Values \cdot 3-52 Lists defined \cdot 1-9 Drop-down Lists · 1-10 Dual Lists · 1-11 Movable List Items · 1-11 Lock · 4-13 Lotus · 4-57

M

Mail Merge · 4-57 Master/Detail - Group Headings Format · 3-56, 4-53 Master/Detail - Page Headings Format · 3-25, 3-57, 4-54 Maximum · 3-42, 4-48 Menus · 1-13, 4-85 File menu · 4-86 Foxfire! Pulldown Menu · 1-14 view \cdot 5-8 report layout report · 5-8 System Menu · 1-14 Tools menu · 4-86 Merge with Other Query Results · See Union Microsoft Excel · 3-65 Microsoft Word · 4-57, 4-60 mail merge · 4-60 Minimum · 3-42, 4-48

Movable List Items \cdot 4-14 Moving data items and text \cdot 5-1 MS Excel \cdot 4-58 MS Office \cdot 4-58 Excel \cdot 4-58 Excel charts \cdot 4-58 Excel pivot tables \cdot 4-59 Word mail merge \cdot 4-60 working with \cdot 4-58

N

New Page \cdot 4-50 New page if not enough lines for group \cdot 4-51 New Request - Type and Style \cdot 3-17, 3-33, 3-39, 3-42 New Request - Type and Style \cdot 4-6 No group footer \cdot 4-50 No group header \cdot 4-50 NULL \cdot 4-19

0

Omit all duplicates · 4-33 On-line Help Messages · 4-2 Open Door · 3-11, 3-32, 3-41, 3-52, 4-76, 5-4 Option Buttons · 1-12 OR Connector · 4-38 Outer joins · 3-48 Output graph format · 3-65 graph, example · 3-67 graph, reminders · 3-67 pivot table · 3-68 pivot table, example · 3-69 Output Choices · 3-11, 3-27, 3-32, 3-41, 3-52, 3-54, 4-66, 4-67, 4-70, 5-2 close · 4-67 edit layout · 4-67 preview · 4-67 print · 4-67 show SQL · 4-67 Output Destinations · 4-64 output to file · 4-65 output to printer · 4-65 output to screen · 4-65 Output file name · 4-13 output information output destination \cdot 3-4 output type \cdot 3-4 Output Options · 3-64 always prompt for header · 3-64 specifying · 4-51 Output Options dialog · 3-64 Output Selector · 3-7, 3-24, 3-26, 3-60, 3-65, 3-66, 3-68, 4-9, 4-11, 4-29, 4-31, 4-51, 4-52, 4-64, 4-66, 4-71, 4-72 layout customization · 4-63 layout options · 4-63 output destinations · 4-64

output types \cdot 3-25 special processing options \cdot 4-66 Output Type ASCII \cdot 3-65 chart \cdot 3-65 pivot table \cdot 3-65 report \cdot 3-25 report output formats \cdot 3-25 spreadsheet \cdot 3-65 table \cdot 3-65 Output Types \cdot 3-25 Output Types and Formats examples \cdot 4-55

Р

page 3-80 · See page 3-54 Parentheses using · 4-38 Pivot tables changing layout · 3-69 working with in Excel · 3-69 Pivot Tables · 3-65 Power User Work Plan · 1-2 Practical User/End User Work Plan · 1-1 Preference Set · 3-8, 3-9, 3-10, 3-71, 4-5, 4-65, 4-72, 4-87, 4-88, 4-90 changing default · 4-87 editing · 4-88 Picker · 4-87 restoring · 3-71 selecting \cdot 3-8 Selecting · 3-9 setting default · 4-88 Presentation Style · 3-62 Preview · 4-66, 4-67 a Request · 4-6 button \cdot 3-26 character report options · 4-67 close · 4-68 output choices · 4-66 print preview toolbar · 3-27 toolbar options · 4-70 window · 4-66 Print Preview Toolbar · 3-27

Q

query data items · 3-3 defined · 3-3 filter conditions · 3-3 sort order · 3-3

R

relationships · 3-50 removing data items · 3-19

Repeating header if group continues · 4-50 Report bands · 5-1, 5-6 column header · 5-6 detail · 5-1, 5-6 group footer \cdot 5-1, 5-6 group header \cdot 5-1, 5-6 page footer \cdot 5-1, 5-6 page header \cdot 5-1, 5-6 summary · 5-1, 5-6 title · 5-1, 5-6 Report Controls toolbar · 5-7 Report Designer · See Layout Editor Report heading · 3-52, 4-24, 4-30, 4-62 Report Layout customizing · 4-70 editing customized reports · 4-71 Report Output Formats · 3-25, 4-52 Column Output Format · 3-54, 4-52 Form Output Format · 3-55, 4-53 Master/Detail - Group Headings Format · 3-56, 4-53 Master/Detail - Page Headings Format · 3-25, 4-54 Master/Detail Page Headings Format · 3-57 repositioning data items · 3-19 Request Editor · 3-6, 3-7, 3-12, 3-13, 3-14, 3-17, 3-19, 3-22, 3-23, 3-24, 3-26, 3-27, 3-28, 3-29, 3-30, 3-31, 3-32, 3-33, 3-36, 3-39, 3-41, 3-42, 3-45, 3-46, 3-47, 3-48, 3-49, 3-50, 3-51, 3-52, 3-54, 3-59, 3-64, 3-65, 3-66, 3-68, 4-7, 4-9, 4-10, 4-11, 4-13, 4-37, 4-42, 4-46, 4-59, 4-70, 4-75, 4-76, 4-77, 4-93.5-5 buttons · 3-26 cancel button · 4-11 close button · 4-11 command buttons · 4-11 command buttons, list · 4-11 contents · 4-10 count button \cdot 4-11 data items selector · 4-13 Data Items Selector · 3-7 filter builder · 4-15 Filter Builder · 3-7 filter button · 4-15 joins button · 3-50 preview button · 3-26, 4-11, 4-66 run button · 3-26, 4-11 save as button · 3-26, 4-11, 4-12 save button \cdot 3-26, 4-11 Request Exporter · 4-83 Request List · 4-5 items displayed in · 4-5 Request Manager · 2-4, 3-5, 3-6, 3-8, 3-11, 3-12, 3-14, 3-16, 3-17, 3-27, 3-28, 3-32, 3-33, 3-39, 3-41, 3-48, 3-51, 3-52, 3-59, 3-60, 3-61, 3-64, 3-65, 3-71, 4-3, 4-4, 4-5, 4-8, 4-11, 4-67, 4-76, 4-81, 4-82, 4-83, 4-84, 4-85, 4-86, 4-87, 4-89, 4-91, 5-2 command buttons · 4-5 creating a new folder · 4-82 delete button · 4-7 deleting a folder · 4-83 edit button · 4-7 exit button · 4-5

filing requests · 4-81 new button · 4-6 preview button \cdot 4-6 renaming a folder · 4-83 request list · 4-5 run a request · 4-6 run button · 4-6 Request Types · 3-2, 4-9 cross tab, defined \cdot 3-3 Detail, defined · 3-2 label, defined \cdot 3-3 summary, defined \cdot 3-2 Requests adding comments to · 4-8 automatic saving \cdot 3-32 cancelling changes · 4-11 copying · 3-26 Creating a Detail Request · 3-16 cross tab · 3-41 Cross tab · 4-76 data item selector · 3-17 defined · 3-1 editing · 3-12 layout styles \cdot 4-9 handling too wide · 3-32 labels · 3-32, 4-78 layout styles · 4-9 limiting to Top N values · 3-52 making a copy of \cdot 3-28 omitting duplicate records · 4-17 output component \cdot 3-2 output information · 3-4 Output Selector · 3-24 parts of · 3-14 parts of, data items · 3-14 parts of, fields · 3-14 parts of, filter · 3-14 parts of, output · 3-14 parts of, sorting and grouping · 3-14 previewing · 3-27, 3-31, 4-11 query component \cdot 3-2, 3-3 query information · 3-3 relationship to report \cdot 3-15 request editor · 4-9 Request Types · 3-2 request types - see page 3-63 · 4-9 run as is · 3-32 running · 3-11, 4-11 save as \cdot 3-28 saving · 3-26, 4-11 saving a copy of \cdot 4-11, 4-12 sorting and grouping \cdot 3-22, 4-41 Specify Output Type · 3-24 specifying report header · 3-52, 4-24, 4-30, 4-62 summary · 3-38, 3-67, 4-73 Reset Page # · 4-50 Restoring Your Preference Set Setting · 3-71 rolodex \cdot 4-80 Row Summaries · 4-78 Ruler · 5-7 run as is · 3-32 Run Button · 3-26

Running a Request · 4-6 runtime help · 4-28 runtime prompt · 4-28 Rushmore · 3-20, 4-41, 7-1, 7-2 accidently cancelling · 7-3 example · 7-3 explained · 7-2 full optimization · 7-2 identifying data items · 4-17 identifying items in filter builder · 7-2 insuring retrieval · 7-4 partial optimization · 7-2

S

SAMPLE1 · 3-17, 3-28, 3-29, 4-8, 4-35, 4-49 SAMPLE2 · 3-48, 4-35, 4-36 SAMPLE3 · 4-36, 4-37 Save As · 3-28, 3-49, 3-52, 4-11, 4-12, 4-13, 4-35, 4-36, 4-46, 4-64, 4-68, 4-92, 5-2 lock option \cdot 4-13 output file name option · 4-13 Save As Button · 3-26 Save Button · 3-26 Scroll Bars defined · 1-8 Show · 4-14 Show filter · 3-64 show hidden data items · 4-14 Show list of Values · 4-21 Showing filter conditions on report · 4-62 Sort + Group Selector · 3-7, 3-23, 4-10, 4-42, 4-49 Sort order · 3-3 Sort/Group Criteria available list · 3-23 example · 3-22 group totals · 3-22 grouping · 3-23 grp indicator · 3-23 sort by list · 3-23 specifying · 3-22 un-grouping · 3-23 Sort+Group Selector · 4-32 Sorting and Grouping $\cdot\,4\text{-}41$ ascending/descending order · 4-44 available data items · 4-43 cancelling a group break \cdot 4-45 changing sort order · 4-44 choosing data items for sorting · 4-43 displaying all data items · 4-43 displaying only items in request · 4-43 example $\cdot 4-42$ explained · 4-41 group $\cdot 4-42$ group breaks · 4-44 group formatting options \cdot 4-50 group options · 4-46 how to $\cdot 4-43$ removing items from sort · 4-43 selected items · 4-43 sort $\cdot 4-42$

Special Filter Options · 4-31 Special Processing Options · 4-66 Specify Output Type · 3-24 Specifying Data Items · 3-18 Spreadsheet · 3-65, 4-56 SQL · 4-74 Standard Deviation · 4-48 Starting Foxfire! · 3-8 subordinate request · 4-33 Sum · 3-42, 4-48 Summary calculations · 4-46 summary data · 3-38, 4-73 Summary Request · 4-59, 4-72 aggregate data item · 3-66 creating · 3-38, 3-39, 3-67, 4-73 data item selector · 3-39 group identity items · 3-38, 4-73 request editor · 3-39 specifying data items · 3-40 summary data · 3-38, 4-73 Summary Requests selecting data items · 4-73 Suppress Detail Lines 4-63 Suppress Repeat Values · 4-63 Suppress Zeros in Cells · 4-63 System Administration Utilities · 4-88 adjust data items to match indexes · 4-90 edit data items · 4-89 edit file relationship info · 4-89 edit label template · 4-90 edit preference sets · 4-89 edit report template · 4-90 import data items from file · 4-89 join editor · 4-89 refresh sample values in data items · 4-90 reindex Foxfire! system files · 4-90 setup wizard · 4-89 show configuration info · 4-90 user account manager · 4-90 user license monitor \cdot 4-91 view query log · 4-90 System Menu · 1-14 Accessing · 1-6

T

table outputting to · 3-65 tables · 3-50, 7-1 defined · 1-4 The Sample Database · 2-2 Tips for Customized Report Layouts · 4-14 Top N Values · 3-52, 4-31, 4-32 Number of Data Item Values · 3-53 Use SQL Top N · 3-54, 4-33 Tutorial Advanced · 3-1 Basic · 3-1 Intermediate · 3-1 Learning Foxfire! · 3-1

U

Union \cdot 4-31, 4-33 omit all duplicates \cdot 4-33 subordinate request \cdot 4-33 User May Edit any part of condition \cdot 4-28 data value ignore and prompt \cdot 4-28 data value ignore if blank \cdot 4-27 data value required \cdot 4-27 nothing \cdot 4-28

V

Variance · 4-48 Verifying expressions · 4-24 viewing Comments · 4-8

W

Web browser · 3-60, 4-60 Web Page · 3-60 Weighted Average · 4-48 What is *Foxfire!* · 1-1 Wildcard Searches · 4-34 Windows defined · 1-7 Windows Explorer · 3-65 WordPerfect 5.x · 4-57

X

Xbase \cdot 1-3, 1-4, 4-20, 4-23, 6-1, 6-2 common date commands \cdot 6-4 common math commands \cdot 6-6 common other commands \cdot 6-6 common string commands \cdot 6-6 expressions, creating \cdot 6-1 expressions, string concatenation \cdot 6-1 functions \cdot 6-2 IIF() \cdot 6-7